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Chairman'’s Statement
FEHE

To Our Shareholders

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of
Chi Kan Holdings Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to present
the annual report of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2023 (the “FY2023").

We are a Hong Kong-based formwork contractor, mainly engaged
in the provision of (a) formwork services, comprising of: (i)
conventional formwork which is built on-site by mainly using timber
and plywood; and (ii) prefabricated formwork which is built out of
prefabricated modules by mainly using aluminium and steel; and
(b) other construction services. During the course of providing our
formwork services, we may also be requested by our customers, in
the form of variation orders, to provide other construction services,
including plastering, installing curtain wall and other miscellaneous
works on an ancillary basis.

Though we are faced with ever increasing competition among
contractors in tendering for new projects, we are mindful to
maintain our profit margin to safeguard our shareholders’ interests.
Nevertheless, we remain confident and are well-positioned in the
market as our operation model of subcontracting works allows us
flexibility to remain resilient to adverse impact. In FY2023, facing
strong competitions, we are still able to be awarded 8 new contracts
with an aggregate contract sum of approximately HK$611.3 million.
As at 31 March 2023, we had a total of 24 contracts (31 March
2022: 32 contracts) on hand and the amount of contract sum yet
to be recognised as at 31 March 2023 amounted to approximately
HK$812.3 million (31 March 2022: approximately HK$1,376.1 million).

The Group has engaged in E-Commerce business since March
2021. We are strategically positioned as a brand retailer in various
E-Commerce platforms, and provide brand commodities for our
customers. With continuously rapid development of online retail
business, we cooperated with various suppliers and offered 500
types of products in the E-=Commerce platforms. Our sustainable and
rapid development of online retail business would be achieved by
providing high quality and diversified products.
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Chairman’s Statement
FREHE

FY2023 was an unprecedentedly challenging year during which the
COVID-19 pandemic across the world has dampened the economic
situation. Although there are still many uncertainties on the road
to recovery, the Group is in the hope that the development of
COVID-19 vaccines and the recent launch of mass vaccination
around the world will begin to signal the end of this pandemic and
mark the beginning of economic recovery from which the Group
will benefit. Above all, with the leadership of our professional team
and the dedication of our united employees, we believe the Group
can overcome all difficulties and can thrive.

I would like to take this opportunity to express my sincere
gratitude to our shareholders, customers, subcontractors, suppliers
and business partners for their continuous support, and to our
management and staff members for their diligence, dedication and
contribution to the growth of the Group.

LO Hon Kwong
Chairman and Executive Director
Hong Kong, 26 June 2023
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B IR B am M AT

BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activities of the Group are (i) construction business
which included provision of formwork services and other
construction services; and (i) E-Commerce business.

Construction Business

The Group is a Hong Kong-based formwork contractor, mainly
engaged in the provision of (a) formwork services, comprising of: (i)
conventional formwork which is built on-site by mainly using timber
and plywood; and (ii) prefabricated formwork which is built out of
prefabricated modules by mainly using aluminum and steel; and (b)
other construction services.

Formwork is the temporary supporting structures and moulds used
in construction where concrete is poured in and to be moulded
into the required structural shape and size. When we undertake a
formwork project, we are generally responsible for project planning
and implementation, procurement of materials, quality control
and overall management of our direct labour and workers of
our engaged subcontractors in carrying out the implementation
of formwork services in accordance with the main contractors’
requirements and specifications.

During the course of providing our formwork services, we may also
be requested by our customers, in the form of variation orders, to
provide other construction services, including plastering, installing
curtain wall and other miscellaneous works on an ancillary basis.

During the FY2023, 8 new projects with an aggregate contract
value of approximately HK$611.3 million were awarded to the
Group. 16 existing projects were completed during the year. As at
31 March 2023, 24 projects with the outstanding contract sum of
approximately HK$812.3 million were all in progress.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BB wm M oA

E-Commerce Business

The Group has engaged in E-=Commerce business since March 2021
via Baiyin Chi Kan Technology Development Company Limited (“CK
Baiyin”), which is incorporated in People’s Republic of China (“PRC")
on 24 February 2021. The Group hold 51% equity interest in CK
Baiyin whereas an independent third party holds 49% equity interest
in CK Baiyin.

The Group is strategically positioned as a brand retailers in private
E-Commerce platforms. We have cooperated with three private
E-Commerce platforms to provide brand commodities that match
with the need of our customers. Specifically, the income of the
Group is generated from retailing in the private E-Commerce
platforms.

With the continuously rapid development of online retail business,
we have cooperated with various suppliers and brand merchants,
and committed to provide high quality and diversified products
in our best effort. Under our E-=Commerce business, we offer over
500 types of products, including agricultural products rich in
selenium, nutritional supplements, daily necessities, and cosmetic
and skin care products. Quality of products would be regarded
as our primary consideration in choosing products and products
and manufacturers would be strictly selected for the sake of better
products and quality, so as to achieve the sustainable development
of corporation.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

During the FY2023, the Group’s audited consolidated revenue
amounted to approximately HK$1,623.6 million (FY2022:
approximately HK$1,574.3 million). The increase were mainly due
to (i) 24 projects on hand as at 31 March 2023 (FY2022: 32) which
contributed approximately HK$1,373.7 million from construction
business (FY2022: approximately HK$1,133.2 million); and (ii)
revenue of approximately HK$249.8 million from E-Commerce
business.

During the FY2023, the gross profit amounted to approximately
HK$221.2 million (FY2022: approximately HK$322.4 million),
while the gross profit margin was approximately 13.6% (FY2022:
approximately 20.5%). Gross profit margin decreased by
approximately 6.9% from approximately 20.5% for FY2022 to
approximately 13.6% for FY2023 due to decrease in gross profit from
E-Commerce business from approximately HK$284.8 million for
FY2022 to approximately HK$170.8 million for FY2023.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B IR B am M AT

Other incomes primarily comprise government grant and other
income last year. Other incomes for the year increased by
HK$20.2 million from approximately HK$1.9 million for FY2022
to approximately HK$22.1 million for FY2023, which mainly due
to the combined effect of increase in government grant by
approximately HK$21.7 million and decrease in commission income
by approximately HK$1.9 million.

Selling and administrative expenses (the “S&A Expenses”) primarily
comprise selling commission, staff costs, business development
expenses, depreciation, consultancy fee and legal and professional
charges. The S&A Expenses for the year decreased by HK$77.8
million to approximately HK$167.7 million, compared with
approximately HK$245.5 million of last year, which mainly due to
decrease in operating expenses for E-Commerce business.

As a result, profit attributable to the owners of the Company for
the year increased to approximately HK$53.5 million, representing
a increase of 37.9% over approximately HK$38.8 million in last year.
Excluding the government subsidies, the adjusted profit for the year
attributable to owners of the Company amounted to approximately
HK$31.8 million, compared with approximately HK$38.8 million of
last year, representing an decrease of approximately 18.0%.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Failure to diversify our customer base

We derive a significant portion of our revenue from our five largest
customers, in particular our largest customer, Hip Hing Group;
and any decrease or failure to maintain business relationship with
whom could materially adversely affect our business operations and
financial performance;
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BB wm M oA

As our Group does not enter into any long-term written agreements
with our customers, and that our contracts are awarded by tender
on a project-by-project basis, there is no assurance that our Group
would be able to retain its major customers in the future. If we
are unable to secure new projects from our major customers or if
there is a significant decrease in the number of projects or size of
projects in terms of contract value awarded by our major customers
for whatever reasons, our business, results of operations and
financial performance would be materially and adversely affected
when we fail to secure suitable projects of comparable size and
quantity as replacement. Besides, if any of our major customers
encounter liquidity problems, it may result in delay or default in
settling progress payments with us, which in turn would have an
adverse impact on our cash flow and financial position. We cannot
guarantee that we will be able to diversify our customer base by
either securing new customers or securing significant number of
new projects from other customers on comparable terms in order to
partly or wholly offset the loss of revenue from our major customers,
in which case our business, results of operation, financial position
and future prospects may be materially and adversely affected. Even
if we manage to secure new customers, it would take time and
resources for us to develop the relationship with new customers
by adapting our systems and procedures to meet the project
requirements of new customers. If we are unable to secure new
customers, our business, results of operations, financial performance
and future prospects may be materially adversely affected.

Failure to obtain new projects

Our Group's revenue is non-recurring in nature and failure to
secure new projects would materially and adversely affect our
Group's business, results of operations, financial position and future
prospects;

There is no assurance that (i) our Group would be invited to or be
informed of the tendering or bidding process for new projects;
(i) the terms and conditions of potential new contracts would be
comparable to our existing contracts; (iii) our customers would
continue to include our Group in the tendering process; and (iv) our
tenders would be selected by our customers. If we are unable to
maintain our competitiveness in, among other things, standards of
management, industrial expertise, financial capability, reputation,
regulatory compliance and terms and conditions of our tenders, our
Group may be less likely to be selected as subcontractor for new
projects. If our customers cease to engage us to provide formwork
services and we fail to replace such customers in a timely manner,
our business, results of operations and financial position may be
materially and adversely affected.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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The outbreak of COVID-19 in Hong Kong

The outbreak of COVID-19 in Hong Kong may significantly and
adversely impact our business operation and financial performance.

In such event, the resultant unfavourable economic conditions
of Hong Kong, dampened market sentiment and decreased
purchasing power of the general public could be a disincentive for
property developers or other ultimate customers to commence
new construction projects, thus delaying or reducing the number
of new projects to be awarded to us. Health safety risks during
the occurrence of COVID-19 may also lead to labour shortage,
increase in wages of the workers and/or interruption of our business
operation, delaying the work progress of our projects as a result. In
case of any infection report of COVID-19 found in construction sites,
the Hong Kong government will likely suspend the operation of the
sites for health safety reasons and our workers may be prevented
from working on site, and thereby resulting in unexpected delay to
the progress of our projects. Such delay and suspension may affect
our ability to discharge the contractual obligations owed to our
customers, which may cause material and adverse impact to our
business operation and financial performance. Since a large portion
of formwork materials are supplied from the PRC, any temporary
closure of suppliers’ production facilities, transportation restrictions
and boundary control may lead to a disruption of our supply chain
and delay the progress of our ongoing projects. The above adverse
impacts, especially if they materialise and persist for a substantial
period, may significantly and adversely affect our business operation
and financial performance. Furthermore, if we cannot receive
the payments from our customers in a long term due to delay or
suspension of our projects under the outbreak of COVID-19, we may
not be able to undertake more projects in the near future because
our internal resources as well as our existing banking facilities
would not be sufficient to support our expansion plan, which may
adversely affect our financial position and future prospects.

Cash flow mismatch

Our Group may need to incur various upfront costs before receipt
of payments from customers, and such cash flow mismatch may
materially and adversely affect our liquidity and financial position.

In undertaking our project works, we may incur various upfront
costs, including (i) payment to our subcontractors; (ii) payment of
material costs; (iii) direct labour costs to our workers; and (iv) other
costs such as utilities and insurance, as required.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Our Group's cash inflows mainly comprise progress payments from
our customers. Our customers will pay progress payments after
our works has commenced and the value of the completed works
is confirmed and certified by our customers. Our customers will
generally retain a maximum amount of 5% of the total contract sum
as retention money, which will be released if no defects are found in
our works.

The greater the number of projects our Group is required to carry
out, the larger the upfront costs our Group will likely have to incur.
This may lead to a significant outflow of financial resources within
a short period of time, and our cash flows and financial position
may deteriorate due to the potential timing mismatch between
receipt of progress payments from our customers, and payments
to our suppliers and subcontractors. There is no assurance that
our customers will make progress payments on time or that the
retention money will be released in a timely manner or in full after
the inspection process of completed works, which may in turn give
rise to disputes. When there is delay in the inspection process or
when a dispute arises in respect of certification of works by our
customers, it may result in delay of progress payments. Furthermore,
in the course of project implementation, our customers may also
place orders to change the original design or specifications or
require additional works or reduce the scope of our works. However,
such additional works may not be fully covered under the scope
of variation orders set out in the original terms of contract. As
such, there may be occasions where additional fees cannot be
determined or generally agreed upon with our customers before the
commencement of such additional works, and we may only receive
part of the progress payments during the course of the project. Any
failure by our customers to make progress payments to us or release
the retention money may have a material adverse impact on our
liquidity and financial position.

There is also no assurance that we will not record negative operating
cash flows in the future. Net cash outflows from operating activities
may adversely affect our liquidity position, and reduce our financial
flexibility and our ability to obtain additional borrowings from banks,
which in turn may adversely affect the implementation of our future
plans.
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Discrepancy between estimated costs and actual costs

Our Group determines our price based on the estimated time and
costs required to complete the works, but the actual time and
costs incurred may exceed our estimation due to unexpected
circumstances, and such discrepancy may adversely affect our
business, results of operations and financial performance.

Our Group's pricing model depends on our estimation of the costs
to be incurred for each project plus a mark-up for the desired profit
margin. An accurate estimation of costs is therefore crucial for
maintaining our Group'’s business growth and profitability. However,
the actual time and costs involved in completing our projects
may be adversely affected by various factors that are beyond our
control, including but not limited to, shortage and cost escalation in
materials and direct labour, condition of the construction sites, on-
site project arrangement by our customers, inefficiency and delay
caused by errors, adverse weather conditions, disputes with our
customers or subcontractors, change in design by our customers,
worksite accidents and changes in governmental policies. In such an
event, our Group may have to bear additional costs for completing
and delivering the works within the requisite timeframe. We may
also be required to pay our customers liquidated damages for the
delay in completion of works. Any previous delay in the delivery of
our works may also be taken into consideration by our customers
during the course of the competitive tendering process, and thus
may have an adverse impact on our chances of winning future
tenders.

In particular, labour cost (including workers of our subcontractors
and us) is the major cost for our construction projects. If there is any
unexpected significant increase in labour cost, we may not be able
to shift the costs to our customers due to the competitive market
environment and/or contractual provisions with our customers,
which may result in adverse effect to the financial performance of
our Group.
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RELATIONSHIPS WITH CUSTOMERS, WORKING
PARTNERS AND EMPLOYEES

The Group maintains long-term relationships with its customers
and working partners (including subcontractors, suppliers and
consultants), some of which have established more than 10 years of
working relationship with the Group. The close working relationship
can also be demonstrated by the increasing number of project
portfolios and continuous cooperation with working partners which
may be engaged by the Group in one or more of its projects at the
same time. Building successful long-term relationships with them
is a key element of the Group’s business model, which is closely
interlinked with all the other elements of its model. Successful
long-term relationships are built on trust — a trust that the Group is
able to provide quality service and excellent customer experience.
To achieve this, the Group needs experienced people with the
right skills and capabilities as well as continuous supports from its
working partners.

The Group also maintains a very stable and experienced
management team and an amicable long-term relationship with
its employees. The Group's key management team comprises
executive Directors and senior management, their biographies
mentioned in the section headed “Biographies of Directors and
Senior Management” in this report. The Group's experienced
management team, coupled with a stable pool of skilled labour, is
one of its key drives in delivering high quality work to customers in
order to attain high customers’ satisfaction.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATION

The Directors confirmed that during FY2023 and up to the date
of this report, the Group had obtained all the registrations and
certifications required for its business and operations in Hong Kong,
and had complied with the applicable laws and regulations in Hong
Kong in all material respects.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to environmental protection and
sustainable development through promoting and adopting green
practices in its business activities. Initiatives within the Group
include, but are not limited to, encouraging employees to reduce
paper consumption by reuse of single-sided printed paper, to assess
the necessity of printing where appropriate and to use duplex
printing. The Environment, Social and Governance Report of the
Company prepared in accordance with Appendix 27 to the Listing
Rules are set out on pages 56 to 97.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The Group's overall funding and treasury activities are currently
managed and controlled by the Directors and senior management.
The Directors and senior management will closely monitor the
Group's liquidity position to ensure that the liquidity structure of
the Group's assets, liabilities, and other commitments can meet its
funding needs.

REBRREXRE

AEE+OERRARIAFSERR  RUtB#
BERREEREHTRIGEER - AEEEE

HER R B R B TR 2B & 8 5 8 B ERI 4%
R EARFGEINENBEN - URERER?T

BN B A RS o AR RIRE _E R BT &%
RBIZIRE L RERREIHN6ATITH o

RBEE  MBERRESERE

AEENMBEEEREFEDRBOHEELD
EEEAE\E.IE&? Hle-EENBEEEAER

DERAKENRBE DN - ABERAEKE
5? BEREMARNRDESRBRENEH

é{ﬁ%\/ o

As at As at

31 March 2023 31 March 2022
720234 20224
3H31H 3A31H

inE=ile iy
BERBHLE%)
BB B R%)?

Current ratio'
Gearing ratio (%)?
Debt to equity ratio (%)*

3.3 times {&
42%
N/A N3 A

2.8 times 1&
6.5%
N/A T iEF

Notes:

1. Current ratio is calculated based on the total current assets divided by
the total current liabilities as at the respective year end.

2. Gearing ratio is calculated based on the payables incurred not in
the ordinary course of business (being bank borrowings and lease
liabilities) divided by total equity as at the respective year end and
multiplied by 100%.

3. Debt to equity ratio is calculated based on the net debt (being bank
borrowings and lease liabilities net of cash and cash equivalents)
divided by the total equity as at the respective year end and
multiplied by 100%.
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Current ratio decreased from 3.3 as at 31 March 2022 to 2.8 as at 31
March 2023, mainly due to increase in trade payables. Gearing ratio
increased from 4.2% as at 31 March 2022 to 6.5% as at 31 March
2023, mainly due to increase in bank borrowings. Debt to equity
ratio is not applicable as at 31 March 2023 due to the cash and
cash equivalents larger than the total of bank borrowings and lease
liabilities at that date.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had cash and cash equivalents of
approximately HK$318.8 million (31 March 2022: approximately
HKS$217.9 million) and restricted cash of approximately HK$27.5
million (31 March 2022: HK$17.5 million). Such restricted bank
balances were held for the requirement of our general banking
facilities. The Group expected to fund the future cash flow needs
through internally generated cash flows from operations and bank
facilities.

The capital structure of the Group consisted of equity of
approximately HK$455.2 million and debts (lease liabilities and bank
borrowings) of approximately HK$29.5 million as at 31 March 2023.

The Group adopts a prudent approach in cash management. Apart
from certain debts including lease liabilities and bank borrowings,
the Group did not have any material outstanding debts as at 31
March 2023. Payment to settle trade payable represented the
significant part of the cash outflow of the Group. Taking into
account the light debt leverage, the Group is able to generate cash
and meet upcoming cash requirements. In any case, the Group
may utilise its banking facilities of HK$100.0 million, of which
the unutilised and unrestricted banking facilities amounted to
approximately HK$73.0 million.
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USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM LISTING

The net proceeds from the Listing involving the issue of 250,000,000
Shares of the Company amounted to approximately HK$97.0
million. The following table sets out the breakdown of the use of net
proceeds from the Listing and up to 31 March 2023:

LR ERIEFEMAR

TS FIE F B8 B 5 3517 250,000,000 % AN A A
A%1D - B{EE97,000,000/8 7T « FREHB EHE

2023493 A31 B EAMEFT

BRI FENREAA

Expected
Utilised Unutilised  timeline for
Intended amount amount utilizing
use of net (asat 31 March (asat 31 March  the unutilized
proceeds 2023) 2023)  net proceeds
PS5/IA (FR2023%F (FR2023F EBRARBA
ERREY 3A318) 3A318) FIiS3IA
sTEIRSE EBARIE ARNEAFIE FFER
HKS'million HKS'million HKS'million  FTEHARFRR
BEATT BEBT BEET
Financing the upfront BAEMEER 82.4 82.4 - Fully utilized
funding needs for our ENEeTE TEHA
projects
Expanding our workforce TR MR S T 4.9 49 - Fully utilized
TEHA
General working capital —REEED 9.7 9.7 - Fully utilized
TEEHA
97.0 97.0 -

EMPLOYEES

The Group had 605 employees as at 31 March 2023 (2022: 1,026).
The Group offers competitive remuneration package that is based
on overall market rates and employee performance, as well as
performance of the Group. Remuneration package is comprised
of salary, performance-based bonus, and other benefits including

training and provident funds.
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CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group had no capital commitments as at 31 March 2023 (2022:
Nil).

CHARGES ON GROUP ASSETS

As at 31 March 2023, bank deposits of HK$27.5 million were pledged
to secure the banking facilities granted to the Group (31 March 2022:
HK$17.5 million).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Save as disclosed in note 29 to the Financial Statements, the Group
had no other contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2023 (2022: Same).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and the PRC and is
exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency
exposures, primarily with respect to the HKS and Renminbi (RMB).
Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions
and recognised financial assets and liabilities denominated in
a currency that is not the respective functional currency of the
subsidiaries. Currently, the Group has not used derivative financial
instruments to hedge against its foreign currency risk. The Group
manages foreign currency risk by closely monitoring the proportion
of its non-Hong Kong dollars assets and liabilities.

MARKET RISK

Market risk is the risk that affects the Group's profitability or its ability
to meet business objectives.

The management of the Group manages and monitors these risks
like changes in government policies, changes in interest rate or
inflation to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED COMPANIES

There were no significant investments held, material acquisitions or
disposals of subsidiaries and affiliated companies during FY 2023.

SHARE OPTIONS

Written resolutions were passed on 17 July 2020 to adopt the share
option scheme (the “Scheme”). No share options have been granted,
exercised or cancelled under the Scheme since its adoption date
and up to the date of this annual report. The Scheme will remain in
force for a period of 10 years after the date of adoption.

PROSPECTS

Owing to outbreak of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (the “COVID-19")
in the past year, our E-Commence business was significantly
affected. With the end of the COVID-19, the Group expected our
E- Commence Business would pick up its growth in the coming
years.

In recent years, mobile internet was widely used in PRC, with the
sustainable growth in gross domestic product and the ongoing
impacts from the pandemic, all of these have profoundly altered the
consumption habits of citizens and driven their demand to online
consumption. It is expected that there will be room to achieve
sustainable growth in online retail market.

For our construction business in Hong Kong. The Group is facing
the challenging business environment and vigorous competition,
taking into account the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region’s policy in increasing land supply and
commitment to infrastructure investments, the Board is still
confident with the Group's future development in its scale of
operations due to its long established reputation, its listing status
and healthy financial position.

The Group strive to maintain our comprehensive advantages in face
of vigorous competition and complicated business environment,
addressing the unexpected global challenges, realising growth in
income and net profit continuously, and creating values for our
shareholders incessantly. We will stay true to ourselves, keep our
mission in mind, and take up social responsibility. We will lay solid
foundation to foster regional economic development; we will make
greater contribution to realise common prosperity in our country
and society.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management
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Our Board of Directors consists of six Directors, including two
executive Directors, one non-executive Director and three
independent non-executive Directors. Our Board of Directors
is responsible for and has general powers for the management
and conduct of our business. The following table sets forth the
information concerning our Directors:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lo Hon Kwong (&), aged 64, was appointed as an
executive Director and the chairman of our Board on 9 August 2019.
Mr. Lo is also the director in certain subsidiaries of the Company.
He is responsible for the overall strategic planning and business
development and overseeing the daily operation of our Group.

Mr. Lo attained his secondary school education in the PRC. Mr. Lo
has over 35 years of experience in the construction industry. Prior to
the incorporation of CK Engineering together with Mrs. Lo in March
1996, Mr. Lo worked as a foreman in Holly Woodworks Engineering
Limited, a construction company in Hong Kong, from 1981 to 1989,
where he was responsible for monitoring construction projects. He
started and carried out his own construction business under the
trade name of “Chi Kan” from 1989 to 1996.

Ms. Chan May Kiu (FR%£1%5), aged 57, was appointed as an
executive Director and the chief operations officer of our Group on
9 August 2019. She is responsible for overseeing the administration,
human resources and financial matters of our Group.

Mrs. Lo attained her secondary school education in Hong Kong.
From October 1986 to July 1989, Mrs. Lo worked as a sales clerk
in Hang Hing Steel Furniture Company, a Hong Kong company
engaged in the sales of furniture, where she was responsible for
the sales and accounting matters of the company. From 1989 to
1993, Mrs. Lo worked as an accounts clerk in Holly Woodworks
Engineering Limited, a construction company in Hong Kong, where
she was responsible for the accounting matters of the company.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Chen Zhongzhou (B & M), aged 53, was appointed as
non-executive Director on 30 November 2021. He graduated from
Capital Normal University with a bachelor’s degree in calligraphy in
July 2002. Mr. Chen is currently the curator of Chen Zhongzhou Art
Gallery* (B UMZAITEE). He is also the dean of the school of arts
of Qingdao Huanghai University (5 & & /8 2k &11788t) and the
school of fine arts of University of Jinan (% KX E2 /T E3FR).
Chen is also working as a vice curator and an executive vice d|rector
of China Zhigong Art Gallery* (FEBIZ{AZP3) and Zhongwai
Celebrities Culture Research Association* (FR9MNE A AL FE &)
respectively.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Sr. Dr. Leung Tony Ka Tung (RRRE LB = M), aged 73, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 17 July
2020.

Sr. Dr. Leung obtained his Bachelor’'s degree of Social Science
from the Chinese University of Hong Kong in December 1976.
In November 2002, he took up a distance-learning course and
graduated with a Doctorate’s degree of Philosophy in Business
Administration from Empresarial University, Costa Rica. In November
2004, he obtained his Master’s degree of Science in International
Real Estate from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University.

Sr. Dr. Leung was qualified as an estate agent in Hong Kong
in August 2001. He was admitted as a registered professional
surveyor in the General Practice Division in January 2006, and in the
Planning and Development Division and the Property and Facility
Management Division in April 2014. Sr. Dr. Leung is currently a fellow
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Real Estate Administrators, a
fellow of The Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors and a fellow of The
Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors.

* for identification purpose only
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Sr. Dr. Leung has over 40 years of experience in the surveying
industry and property market. He was previously employed by the
Lands Department of the Hong Kong government from January
1977 to June 1978, and from the 1980's onwards by various
property developers as well as a surveyor company in Hong Kong.
In February 1996, Sr. Dr. Leung also incorporated his own company,
New & Nice Limited (currently known as TL Properties Consultants
International Limited), which is engaged in the business of property
management and consultancy, and is currently the chairman of the
group responsible for supervising the overall project management
as well as formulating and implementing company policies and
strategies. He was an independent non-executive director of South
China Holdings Company Limited (formerly known as South China
(China) Limited), a company listed on the Main Board (stock code:
413) and South China Assets Holdings Limited (formerly known as
South China Land Limited), a company listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 8155) between December 2012 and June
2017. Since March 2016, Sr. Dr. Leung has been an independent
non-executive director of Wang On Properties Limited, a property
developer listed on the Main Board (stock code: 1243).
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Ms. Chan Sze Man (FRF ), aged 42, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 17 July 2020.

Ms. Chan obtained her Bachelor's degree of Business Administration
in Accounting from The Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology in November 2003. She has been a fellow of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since March 2016.

Ms. Chan has over 15 years of experience in the accounting and
auditing industry in Hong Kong. From September 2003 to April 2010,
Ms. Chan worked in Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, an international
accounting firm, with her last position as a manger. In June 2010,
she joined Tongda Group Holdings Limited, a company listed on
the Main Board (stock code: 698), which is engaged in the electronic
products business, as an account manager and was promoted to
the position of chief financial officer and company secretary in
January 2011, where she was responsible for the corporate finance,
accounts and company secretarial functions until August 2018,
when she has been appointed as a non-executive director of the
company. Ms. Chan acted as an independent non-executive director
of Sunrise (China) Technology Group Limited (currently known as
KOALA Financial Group Limited), a company listed on GEM of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 8226) from October 2012 to April 2015.
Ms. Chan also acted as an independent non- executive director
of Millennium Pacific Group Holdings Limited, a company listed
on GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8147) from June 2014
to July 2017. She has served as an independent non-executive
director of Future Development Holdings Limited (formerly known
as China Child Care Corporation Limited), a company listed on
the Main Board (stock code: 1259) since September 2016. From
September 2018 to November 2019, Ms. Chan worked in Transmit
Entertainment Limited, a company listed on the Main Board (stock
code: 1326), which is engaged in media and entertainment business
in Hong Kong and the PRC, as the chief financial officer where she
was responsible for finance, accounts and secretarial matters of the
company.
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In March 2012, two writs of summons were issued against Seamless
Green China (Holdings) Limited (“Seamless Green”), a company
listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8150), and its
directors including Ms. Chan. One of the claims alleged that the
directors of Seamless Green breached their fiduciary duties by
issuing a notice to convene a special general meeting in Dongguan,
Guangdong at an early hour of the day so as to discourage or
prevent shareholders from attending and voting at the special
general meeting. The other claim alleged that the directors of
Seamless Green breached their fiduciary duties by issuing warrants
and share options to others so as to dilute the then shareholders’
voting rights which might result in the relevant resolutions at the
special general meeting not being passed. The writs were issued
against Ms. Chan solely because she was then one of the directors of
Seamless Green and none of the claims was made against Ms. Chan
personally. Ms. Chan resigned from her position in November 2013.
The claims relating to Ms. Chan under the writs were dismissed in
April 2018

Save as disclosed herein, Ms. Chan has not been a director of
any public company the securities of which are listed on any
securities market in Hong Kong or overseas during the three years
immediately preceding the date of this annual report.

Mr. Jiang Jungan (£f££), aged 60, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 17 July 2020.

Mr. Jiang obtained his Bachelor's degree in mechanical engineering
from Yangzhou University in September 1998. He obtained the
qualifications for Senior Engineer and Constructor in the profession
of roads in the PRC in December 2003 and December 2005
respectively.

Mr. Jiang has over 35 years of experience in the engineering industry
in the PRC. From 1980s to 2008, he worked for the engineering
department of Yancheng City (B3 T1) under various positions.
Since 2008, he has worked in China City Construction Second
Engineering Bureau Group Company Limited* (FIkEE -T2
S£BEBR AR (currently known as China Overseas Construction
Group Company Limited* (FR/EINEREBEBRAR]))
engaged in the business of road engineering and construction, and

, which is

Mr. Jiang is the chief engineer in charge of the technological aspects
of the company.
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Mr. Tam Ping Cheong Jackson (Bff &), aged 66, is the project
manager of our Group. He joined our Group in July 2019 and has
been responsible for managing projects of our Group.

Mr. Tam obtained the Certificate in civil engineering and the Higher
Certificate in civil engineering from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
(currently known as the Hong Kong Polytechnic University) in
November 1981 and November 1984 respectively.

Mr. Tam has over 40 years of experience in the construction industry.
From 1976 to 2004, he worked for various construction companies
in Hong Kong. Mr. Tam incorporated Chi Kan Engineering Company
Limited (2 £) TF2H PR /A 7)) in Macau together with Mr. Lo in July
2004, and he was responsible for managing various construction
projects until the dissolution of the company in October 2013. From
April 2014 to March 2015, he worked as a site agent of Leighton
Contractors (Asia) Ltd., a construction company in Hong Kong,
where he was responsible for overseeing the site operations of the
company. From May 2015 to May 2019, he worked as a site manager
of VESTA Engineering and Consulting Limited, a construction
engineering company, and was in charge of several residential
construction projects.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Tsang Chun Kit (5 ##), aged 37, has more than 10 years of
experience in accounting and auditing matters. Prior to joining the
Group as a financial controller in January 2019, Mr. Tsang gained
experience in handling company secretarial matters and assisting in
corporate finance matters for various listed companies. Mr. Tsang is
a practising member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. He is also an associate member of The Chartered
Governance Institute and The Hong Kong Chartered Governance
Institute. He graduated from the Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology with a Bachelor of Science degree in Applied
Physics in 2009.
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The Board submits the annual report together with the audited
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023
(the “Financial Statements”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company
and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) are principally engaged in
the provision of formwork services and other construction services
in Hong Kong (the “Listing Business”), and E-=Commerce business in
PRC.

The activities and particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are
shown under note 27 to the Financial Statements.

GROUP REORGANISATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 16 April
2018 as an exempted company with limited liability under the
Company Law (as revised) of the Cayman Islands. In preparation
of the Listing, the Group underwent the reorganisation pursuant
to which the Company became the holding company of the
subsidiaries now comprising the Group. For details of the
Reorganisation, please refer to note 1 to the Financial Statements.

The Listing was completed on 14 August 2020.
BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group, with the description of the
principal risks and uncertainties, for the year ended 31 March 2023
and the likely future development, are included in the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report
on pages 6 to 18, which forms part of this report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023 are set
out in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on
pages 109 to 110 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2023.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

In order to establish entitlements to attend and vote at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to be held on
Friday, 25 August 2023, the register of members of the Company will
be closed from Tuesday, 22 August 2023 to Friday, 25 August 2023,
both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares of
the Company will be registered. Shareholders of the Company
are reminded to ensure that all completed share transfer forms
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
with the Company’s Branch Share Registrar (Branch Share Registrar)
in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East
Financial Centre, No.16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong not later than
4:30 p.m. on Monday, 21 August 2023.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There is no material subsequent event undertaken by the Company
or by the Group after 31 March 2023 and up to the date of this
annual report.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last four financial years are included in the
section headed “Financial Summary” in this annual report on page
224, which forms part of this report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the shares issued during the year ended 31 March 2023 are
set out in note 24 to the Financial Statements.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

The Company did not enter into any contract, other than the
contracts of service with the directors or any person engaged in the
full-time employment of the Company, whereby any individual, firm
or body corporate undertakes the management and administration
of the whole, or any substantial part of any business of the
Company.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2023, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to shareholders of the Company amounted to
approximately HK$309.2 million.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property and equipment of the Group
during the year ended 31 March 2023 are set out in note 14 to the
Financial Statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association and there was no restriction against such
rights under the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS, SUBCONTRACTORS AND
SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group's five largest
customers in aggregate accounted for approximately 86.9% (2022:
approximately 86.4%) of the Group's total construction revenue.
The largest customer accounted for approximately 30.1% (2022:
approximately 57.9%) of the Group's total revenue.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group's five largest
subcontractors in aggregate accounted for approximately 67.7%
(2022: approximately 65.6%) of the Group's total subcontracting fee.
The largest subcontractor accounted for approximately 33.5% (2022:
approximately 24.6%) of the Group's total subcontracting fee.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group's five largest
suppliers in aggregate accounted for approximately 59.6% (2022:
67.8%) of the Group’s total material costs. The largest supplier
accounted for approximately 23.5% (2022: approximately 39.7%) of
the Group's total material costs.

At no time during the year have directors, their associates or any
shareholder of the Company (which to knowledge of the directors
owns more than 5% of the number of issued shares of the Company)
had any interest in these major customers, subcontractors and
suppliers.

Annual Report 2023 3R

A 7 Tk

R2023F3H318 » AARAHEDIKFAR AR
B 4 5309,200,00058 7T ©

E IS S

AREBPEZE2023F3831H IEFENEREE
FEFIEEN Y IS RERME14 -

BRBEERE

R A HY 4R AR B AR AT R SR 5T BB B R GRS I B
SHEAPITESBRERNELRS - FIAAR
AR HIRIRBRR B ER R -

FTEEF - 2EBRMHER

HZE2023F3A3IBEFE AEEBRARF
AREAEBEREEIWEEH86.9%(2022F + 4
86.4%) o Fx NZ P AN & B 4 W 25 £930.1% (2022
& #957.9%) o

HE2023F3A3BLEEE  AEBRAADEHE
AREARSEDBERBRELN677%(2022F : 4
656%) c AN BEMASESBEBRETELD
33.5%(20224F : 4924.6%) °

HE2023F3A31BLEFE  AEBRAAEER
A HAEANE BB 2 K8 4959.6% (2022 F ¢
678%) c R AHEEMAEEM B KAETELD
23.59%(20224F : #J39.7%) °

RAFETMERMEES  FEIBEANE
MARFRRBESAM - BAARAE BT
A5RAEIRNZFETERF DEBRHERE
B (Ut o

Chi Kan Holdings Limited %5 &) #22 i85 R A &) 27



Directors'Report
EEEWE

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to
shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s shares.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Written resolutions were passed on 17 July 2020 to adopt the share
option scheme (the “Scheme”). No share options have been granted,
exercised or cancelled under the Scheme since its adoption date
and up to the date of this annual report. The Scheme will remain in
force for a period of 10 years after the date of adoption.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the financial year and up to this annual report
were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Lo Hon Kwong (Chairman)
Ms. Chan May Kiu

Non-executive Director
Mr. Chen Zhongzhou
Independent Non-executive Directors

Sr. Dr. Leung Tony Ka Tung
Ms. Chan Sze Man
Mr. Jiang Jungan

Pursuant to Article 108(a) of the Articles of Association, at each
annual general meeting, one third of the Directors for the time
being shall retire from office by rotation. However, if the number
of Directors is not a multiple of three, then the number nearest to
but not less than one third shall be the number of retiring Directors.
The Directors to retire in each year shall be those who have been
in office longest since their last re-election or appointment but, as
between persons who became or were last re-elected Directors
on the same day, those to retire shall (unless they otherwise agree
among themselves) be determined by lot.
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In accordance with Articles 108 of the Articles of Association, Ms.
Chan May Kiu and Sr. Dr. Leung Tony Ka Tung shall retire from office
at the 2023 annual general meeting (the 2023 AGM"). All of the
above retiring Directors, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-
election at the 2023 AGM.

Details of the Directors standing for re-election at the 2023 AGM are
set out in the circular to be despatched to the shareholders of the
Company together with this annual report.

The Company has received, from each of the independent
non-executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”). The
Company considers all of the independent non-executive Directors
to be independent.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of Directors and senior management are
set out in the section headed “Biographies of Directors and Senior
Management’on pages 19 to 24 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement
with the Company and each of the independent non-executive
Directors has signed an appointment letter with the Company. The
appointment of each of the Directors is for a period of three years
commencing from the Listing Date and shall continue thereafter
until it is terminated by either party by giving not less than three
months’ notice.

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the 2023
AGM has a service contract with any member of the Group which is
not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles of Association provide that every Director shall be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses and
liabilities incurred or sustained by him as a Director in the execution
of his duties or otherwise in relation thereto, provided that such
indemnity shall not extend to any matter in respect of fraud or
dishonesty which may attach to such Director. There is appropriate
directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors
and officers of the Group. Such provision was in force as of date of
this annual report and during the financial year ended 31 March
2023.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS THAT ARE SIGNIFICANT IN
RELATION TO THE GROUP’S BUSINESS

Save as disclosed in note 25 to the Financial Statements, no
transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to which the
Company, or any of its holding company, subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director had a material
interest, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
year.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 9 to the
Financial Statements.

30

Chi Kan Holdings Limited 23 #)#2 iR G R A 7] Annual Report 2023 3

BEFFNRERRRX

HEERMARTE  SRESERAERTHESE
ERE RN E b ETR BBV AR
KRBE ERARNREEEPRERRE HEX
BEREICHEE PR EENEGERTEHA
HHEEH ZEENAEEBEZFEENESK
BEETRE BHEBEALAFHRAGRES
20233 A31 B IEIT B FEERAERK ©

PR SR MI 2B E SN - RERLFREM
R ARE - HEERERAR B AR
FAEMBRARMEIBETNETREEA#S
WEMEARS - THREH) °

EEHM

EEHMABEENT B RARMEES -



Directors'Report
EERHE

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interest in Shares, Underlying
shares and Debentures of the Company or any associated
corporation

As at the 31 March 2023, the interests and short positions of the
directors of the Company (the “Directors”) and the chief executives
of the Company in the Shares, underlying shares or debentures of
the Company and its associated corporations, within the meaning
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQO"), which (a) were
required to be notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFO); or (b) were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to
recorded in the register referred to therein; or (c) were required to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
(the "Model Code") as set out in Appendix 10 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”),
were as follows:

EERIETBRAERAAFANEMEEEZEH
Bt - BB R ESFFER

R2023F3A31H  ARAIEE([EEE ) RARQR]
FETBABRARAR REEEEE(EEREH
MEAEIEHI ([ 3B 5 REEEN]) ) MG - 18R
B REFF - A QIBIEES &K BAEIEFIEXVED
FIRSDEEAME A RRIREARERIITAR
AR ([BRFT )i AR (BIEREES K
BIEOIMBBIEXHEE W EENE AN ER
MAKR)  sk(b)RIEE S R EEIEHI F 35216785
SRR ZIGFTIEM E R MARNER AR k(R
B AR TR B ([ £ AR B ) M &10F7E,
EMBTAZEZHETESFRHIZEST (122
SR DZAMS AN G RERFTHERS AR

(a) Long position/Short position in the Shares or Underlying (a) RERFRGEIGERGHIIFE KA :
shares of the Company:
Capacity/ Approximate
Name of Directors Nature of interest Total interests Percentage
EEgE 55, REEtE HEmBHE BB
Mr. Lo Hon Kwong (“Mr. Lo") (Note 1) Interest in a controlled 546,750,000(L) 54.6%
BENEE(ELRE]) (FIEET) operation
RELE R
100,000,000(S) 10.0%
(Note (3))
(MtEE@3))
Ms. Chan May Kiu (“Mrs. Lo") (Note 2) Interest of spouse 546,750,000(L) 54.6%
PREME L (TEAK]D) (FFE2) foiBiEss
100,000,000(S) 10.0%
(Note (3))
(MtEE3))
L: Long positions L: e
S: Short positions S: KA
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Notes:

Mr. Lo holds the entire issued share capital of Magnificent Faith
Limited (“Magnificent Faith”) and is deemed to be interested
in all the Shares held by Magnificent Faith for the purpose of
the SFO. Mrs. Lo is the spouse of Mr. Lo. Accordingly, Mrs. Lo is
deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by Mr. Lo under
the SFO.

Mrs. Lo is the spouse of Mr. Lo. Accordingly, Mrs. Lo is deemed
to be interested in all the Shares held by Mr. Lo under the SFO.

Magnificent Faith Limited and Zhongchuang Boli (Hong
Kong) Company Limited entered into an agreement on 24
February 2023 (the “Agreement”). Upon the completion of
disposal (the “Disposal”) stated in Announcement dated on
24 February 2023 (the “Announcement”) and Disclosure of
Interests form submitted on 14 March 2023, pursuant to which
Magnificent Faith Limited would disposal 100,000,000 shares
to Zhongchuang Boli (Hong Kong) Company Limited within
five business days upon fulfilment of the conditions precedent
under the Agreement or 90 days after the signing of this
Agreement (or such other date as the Purchaser requests and
performs in accordance with the terms of the Agreement).
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(b) Long position in the Shares of associated corporation of the

(b) RAREEHLERGIITE :

Company:

Capacity/ Number of Percentage of
Name of Directors Name of associated corporation Nature of interest shares held interest
] HEEEEE 5/ ERME HREE BEEDL
Mr. Lo (Note 1) Magnificent Faith Beneficial owner 1 100%
B (M) HE EnfAA
Note: s -

1. Mr. Lo holds the entire issued share capital of Magnificent
Faith and is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held
by Magnificent Faith for the purpose of the SFO. Mrs. Lo is
the spouse of Mr. Lo. Accordingly, Mrs. Lo is deemed to be
interested in all the Shares held by Mr. Lo under the SFO.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS/
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

So far as was known to the Directors, as at 31 March 2023, the
following persons (not being Directors or chief executive of the
Company) had, or were deemed to have, interests or short positions
in the Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed
to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or who were directly or
indirectly interested in 10% or more of the nominal value of any class
of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general
meetings of any member of the Group:

1 ERARARENRHESBIRA - BN
EERHEENTE - WRAREERE
B0 FT A B o0 5 M - A ABIR S
ORE - Btk - REREERAEES &
A KB 56 A 57 0 P R 19 o0
A -

FERRRAQARS RERKRADF
MR KA

BEERA > 72023538318 © FAIAE(IEIE
BEEYARFEBITHAS) R 8RR 1D
AR BHEAIREE S RS KFIEXVIEEE2
K35 BRI AR AN A R KB R P i BB Ay M 25 Bk
KB NEEIEEREENEEFRAIRFE BN
TEAREBEEMKERARKREAS IREMNEM
BRI A EE 10%3k A _F By RS ¢
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E% = S
Approximate
percentage of
Number of Shares interests in
Name Nature of interest (Note 1) our Company
RGH B LERNETEE £
[ LYt ERtE (M5E1) BRNEDL
Magnificent Faith Beneficial owner 546,750,000(L) 54.6%
&8 BEREAA
100,000,000(S) 10.0% (Note 6)
10.09% (P E6)
Mr. Lo (Note 2) Interest in a controlled 546,750,000(L) 54.6%
B e A (FisE2) corporation
SR NE 100,000,000(S) 10.0% (Note 6)
10.0%(Hi5E6)
Mrs. Lo (Note 3) Interest of spouse 546,750,000(L) 54.6%
EAK(KEE3) A B s
100,000,000(S) 10.0% (Note 6)
10.0%(Hi56)
CT Vision Strategic Company Limited Beneficial owner 140,310,000(L) 14.0%
("CT Vision”) BEnERA
RREERBERAR (TR RERE]D
Dr. Ho Chun Kit Gregory Interest in a controlled 140,310,000(L) 14.0%
(“Dr. Ho") (Note 4) corporation
fa] & A8 £ (TfartE £ 1) (i aE4) R EE R
Zhongchuang Boli (Hong Kong) Beneficial owner 100,000,000(L) 10.0% (Note 6)
Company Limited (“ZCB") EmEA A 10.0%(Fff5E6)
hEIER(FE)BRIF (T EIER )
Li Qiang (“Mr. Li") (Note 5) Interest in a controlled corporation 100,000,000(L) 10.0% (Note 6)

Fr((z=kAE ] (MaES) EREAE L Fo
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Notes:

The letter (L) denotes the person’s long position in our Shares or
underlying Shares; the letter (S) denotes the person’s short position in
our Shares or underlying Shares.

Magnificent Faith is a company incorporated in the BVI and is wholly-
owned by Mr. Lo. Mr. Lo is deemed to be interested in all the Shares
held by Magnificent Faith for the purpose of the SFO.

Mrs. Lo is the spouse of Mr. Lo. Accordingly, Mrs. Lo is deemed to be
interested in all the Shares held by Mr. Lo under the SFO.

CT Vision is a company incorporated in the BVI and is wholly-owned
by Dr. Ho. Dr. Ho is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by
CT Vision for the purpose of the SFO.

ZCB is a company incorporated in the BVl and is wholly owned by Mr.
Li. Mr Li is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by ZCB for
the purpose of the SFO.

Magnificent Faith Limited and Zhongchuang Boli (Hong Kong)
Company Limited entered into an agreement on 24 February
2023 (the “Agreement”). Upon the completion of disposal (the
“Disposal”) stated in Announcement dated on 24 February 2023
(the "Announcement”) and Disclosure of Interests form submitted
on 14 March 2023, pursuant to which Magnificent Faith Limited
would disposal 100,000,000 shares to Zhongchuang Boli (Hong
Kong) Company Limited within five business days upon fulfilment
of the conditions precedent under the Agreement or 90 days after
the signing of this agreement (or such other date as the Purchaser
requests and performs in accordance with the terms of the
Agreement).

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this annual report, the
Directors were not aware of any other person (other than the
Directors) who had, or was deemed to have, interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares which would fall to
be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or who was

directly or indirectly interested in 10% or more of the nominal

value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all

circumstances at general meetings of any member of the Group.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Apart from as disclosed under the paragraph headed “Directors’ and
Chief Executives’ Interest in Securities” above, at no time during the
year was the Company, its holding company, subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors of
the Company or their associates to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of Shares or debentures of the Company or any other
body corporate.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

No purchase, sale or redemption of the Company’s listed securities
was made by the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the year
ended 31 March 2023.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2023, there were no connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions of the Company
which require compliance with any of the reporting, announcement
or independent shareholders" approval requirements under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules from
the Listing Date and up to the date of this annual report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Principal corporate governance practices adopted by the Company
are set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 39 to 55.
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RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Group participates in the mandatory provident fund prescribed
by the Mandatory Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) and certain retirement benefit scheme under
the regulations in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). Save
as the aforesaid, the Group did not participate in any other pension
schemes during the year ended 31 March 2023.

COMPETING BUSINESS

For the FY2023, none of the Directors or the Controlling
Shareholders and their respective close associates had any interests
in any business, apart from the business of the Group, which
competes or likely to compete (either directly or indirectly) with the
business of the Group.

Non-Competition Undertaking by Controlling Shareholders

The Controlling Shareholders had entered into a deed of non-
competition on 17 July 2020 (the “Deed of Non-Competition”). The
Controlling Shareholders confirmed their compliance with all the
undertakings provided under the Deed of Non-Competition. The
independent non-executive Directors had reviewed the compliance
with the Deed of Non-Competition and are satisfied that the
Controlling Shareholders have complied with the terms of the Deed
of Non-Competition during FY2023.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of the Listed Issuers contained in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct of
dealings in securities of the Company by Directors. Upon specific
enquires of all the Directors, each of them confirmed that they have
complied with the required standards set out in the Model Code
during the year.
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SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OF CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS UNDER RULE 13.18 OF THE
LISTING RULES

As at 31 March 2023, the Company as guarantor, and Chi Kan
Woodworks Company Limited (an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company) as borrower, entered into facility agreements
relating to a HK$40 million (“Facility 1"), a HK$30 million (“Facility
2") and a HK$30 million (“Facility 3") general banking and term loan
facilities with licensed banks in Hong Kong as lenders.

According to the Facility 1, Facility 2 and Facility 3, the Company,
as guarantor, has undertaken to the lenders that not less than 40%,
30% and Nil operating sales proceeds to be credited to respective
accounts.

A breach of the above undertakings will constitute an event of
default, and the lenders may cancel or suspend the facilities and
demand repayment of any outstanding amounts under the facility
agreements together with interest accrued thereon.

The above undertakings contain covenants relating to specific
performance of the controlling shareholders of the Company which
are subject to disclosure under Rule 13.21 of the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

Moore Stephens CPA Limited were firstly appointed as
auditors of the Company in 2022 upon the retirement of
PricewaterhouseCoopers.

The Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2023 have
been audited by Moore Stephens CPA Limited, who will retire and
being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the 2023
AGM.

By order of the Board
Chi Kan Holdings Limited

Lo Hon Kwong
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 26 June 2023
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The Board is pleased to present this Corporate Governance Report of
the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company recognises the importance of maintaining a high
standard of corporate governance with an aim to protect the
interest of shareholders.

The Company has adopted the Corporate Governance Code
contained in Appendix 14 (the “CG Code") of the Listing Rules. Upon
the Listing and up to 31 March 2023, the Company complied with
all applicable provisions of the CG Code except for the deviation as
stated below:

Pursuant to C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separate and should not be performed by
the same individual. The Company does not officially have chief
executive. The role and function of chief executive have been
performed by all the executive Directors collectively. The Board
believes that the present arrangement is adequate to ensure
an effective management and control of the Group's business
operations. The Board will continue to review the effectiveness of
the Group's structure as business continues to grow and develop in
order to assess whether any changes, including the appointment of
chief executive officer, is necessary.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules upon the Listing. All
the Directors confirmed that they had complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code during FY2023 in response to
the specific enquiry made by the Company.

The Board has established written guidelines no less exacting than
the Model Code for relevant employees in respect of their dealings
in the securities of the company as required under the CG Code.
No incident of non-compliance of such guidelines by the relevant
employees was noted by the Company since the Listing.
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THE BOARD

The Board acts in good faith, with due diligence and care, to
discharge its duties concerning the best interests of the Company
and its shareholders. The primary role of the Board is to protect
and enhance long term shareholders’ value; it also oversees the
management, business, strategies and financial performance of
the Group to ensure that good corporate governance policies and
practices are implemented within the Group. The management is
responsible for the execution of the strategies in the Group’s daily
operations and the implementation of the risk management and
internal control systems.

The composition of the Board during the year and up to the date of
this annual report is set out below:

Executive Directors

Mr. Lo Hon Kwong (Chairman)
Ms. Chan May Kiu

Non-executive Director
Mr. Chen Zhongzhou
Independent Non-executive Directors

Sr. Dr. Leung Tony Ka Tung
Ms. Chan Sze Man
Mr. Jiang Jungan

The biographies of the Directors during the year and up to the date
of this annual report and the relationships among them are set
out in the “Biographies of the Directors and Senior Management”
section on pages 19 to 24 of this annual report. The executive
Directors bring a good balance of skills and experience to the
Company. The independent non-executive Directors provide their
independent judgement on the development, performance and risk
management of the Group. The Directors are fully aware that they
are individually and collectively accountable to shareholders.
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The executive Directors have entered into service contracts
with the Company and each of the independent non-executive
Directors have been appointed on a specific term of three years.
Notwithstanding the specific term of appointments, the articles of
association of the Company (the “Articles of Association”) provide
that every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at the
annual general meeting at least once every three years. At each
annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time
being shall retire shall retire from office by rotation and be eligible
for re-election by the shareholders.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES

The Board takes the responsibility to oversee all major matters of
the Company, including the formulation and approval of all policy
matters, overall strategies, internal control and risk management
systems, and monitor the performance of the senior executives. The
Directors have to make decisions objectively in the interests of the
Company.

Liability insurance for the Directors and senior management officers
of the Company was maintained by the Company with coverage for
any legal liabilities which may arise in the course of performing their
duties.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Since the Listing Date, the Board at all times met the requirements
of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three
independent non-executive Directors representing one-third of
the Board with one of whom possessing appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from
each of the independent non-executive Directors in respect of his
independence in accordance with the independence guidelines set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that
all independent non-executive Directors are independent.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The management, consisting of executive Directors along with
other senior executives, is delegated with responsibilities for
implementing the strategy and direction as adopted by the Board
from time to time, and conducting the day-to-day operations of the
Group.

Executive Directors and senior executives meet regularly to review
the performance of the businesses of the Group as a whole, co-
ordinate overall resources and make financial and operational
decisions. The Board also gives clear directions as to their powers of
management including circumstances where management should
report back, and will review the delegation arrangements on a
periodic basis to ensure that they remain appropriate to the needs
of the Group.

BOARD MEETINGS

The Board meets regularly to discuss and formulate the overall
strategy as well as the operation and financial performance of
the Group. Directors may participate either in person or through
electronic means of communication.

Pursuant to code provision C.5.1 of the CG Code, the Board should
meet regularly and board meetings should be held at least four
times a year.
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The attendance of the respective Directors to the Board Meeting RJREZH FMEAFHRAPHFESEee2015
since the Listing and up to the date of this annual report are setout Y& AT :
below:
Attendance/
Number of
meeting during
FY2023
120235
BBEENHE
KB BRRE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Lo Hon Kwong (Chairman) EENTE(FE) 4/4
Ms. Chan May Kiu PREB L+ 4/4
Non-executive Director FHTES
Mr. Chen Zhongzhou BeR M ST A 4/4
Independent Non-executive Directors BIFHITES
Sr. Dr. Leung Tony Ka Tung RRRIE RIS A0 4/4
Ms. Chan Sze Man PR T 4/4
Mr. Jiang Jungan =EekE 4/4

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
OF DIRECTORS

During the FY2023, all Directors confirmed to comply with the
provision of the CG Code in relation to continuous professional
development. In doing so, the Directors have undertaken various
forms of activities relevant to the Company'’s business, Directors’
duties and responsibilities. The Company held a training for all
Directors to provide them with knowledge on the duties and
responsibilities of the Directors before Listing.
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The record of continuous professional development relating to  BH2023FMBFEEEEAFRHEE  EFDER
director’s duties and regulatory and business development that HAEBEZEEHEUANEEREBEERNFERE
have been received by the Directors for the FY2023 up to the date of  ZEE SRS -

this annual report are summarised as follows:

Type of Training

(Note)
=5 Bl
(M3E)
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Lo Hon Kwong (Chairman) BEENEE(FE)
Ms. Chan May Kiu BRIEE AT
Non-executive Director FHITES
Mr. Chen Zhongzhou PR UM % A B
Independent Non-executive Directors BAKHITES
Sr. Dr. Leung Tony Ka Tung 2RI B TR ZRD B
Ms. Chan Sze Man PREFE T A B
Mr. Jiang Jungan ZRSEE B
Note: BT
Type of Training FIE R

A: Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, briefings, A : HFEEIRE  BEETERERS  fiz
seminars, conferences and workshops wIE R T EY

i3

B: Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines and B : BIEABNHEIRR  ®E - 87 - M NLEE
relevant publications AR
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established certain Board committees, namely
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee, to oversee specific aspects of the
Company'’s affairs. All Board committees of the Company are
established with specific written terms of reference which clearly
outline the committees’ authority and duties. The terms of reference
of the Board committees are posted on the Company’s website
and the Stock Exchange’s website and are available to shareholders
upon request.

The majority of the members of each Board committee are
independent non-executive Directors. The members of the Board
committees during the period from the Listing Date and up to the
date of this annual report are set out below:

Audit Committee

Ms. Chan Sze Man (Chairlady)
Sr. Dr. Leung Tony Ka Tung
Mr. Jiang Jungan

Remuneration Committee

Sr. Dr. Leung Tony Ka Tung (Chairman)
Ms. Chan Sze Man
Mr. Jiang Jungan

Nomination Committee

Mr. Lo Hon Kwong (Chairman)
Sr. Dr. Leung Tony Ka Tung
Ms. Chan Sze Man

Board committee are provided with sufficient resources to discharge
their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at
the Company’s expense.
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Audit Committee

The Company has set up the Audit Committee on 17 July 2020 with
written terms of reference of no less exacting terms than those set
out in the CG Code. The main duties of the Audit Committee are to
assist the Board in reviewing the financial information and reporting
process, internal control and risk management systems, scope of
audit and appointment of external auditors, and arrangements to
enable employees of the Company to raise concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or other matters
of the Company.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the Company’s financial
statements and the Group's consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 March 2023, including the accounting principles
and practices adopted by the Company and the Group.

The attendance of the respective members to the Audit Committee
Meeting since the Listing and up to the date of this annual report are
set out below:

FREEE

RARIER2020F7 17BN BIZEES » Wil
ETBERTCEEATINERNEABRESE -
EREZEeNTIEREAMDESERIVEE
BEBEBRERF - ASZEHIRRREERS B
S E RINERHEMEER - LANERATESA]
HARNEMERR - APIEH K EMER AT
BHRERIT AR TNZHE -

EREZE e EHEHE2023E3A31B ILEEARN
AIMBHRRRAEBAHUERE - BIEAQA
MAEEFTRAN SRR ER -

EREB EMUARMBERNFHRAMEEERE
BEggznBRaEsmT

Attendance/
Number of
meeting during
FY2023
20235
MRFENHE
e EERE

Ms. Chan Sze Man (Chairlady)
Sr. Dr. Leung Tony Ka Tung
Mr. Jiang Jungan

The Audit Committee also met the external auditors on 26 June
2023 without the presence of the executive Directors.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company has set up the Remuneration Committee on 17
July 2020 with written terms of reference of no less exacting
terms those set out in the CG Code. The primary functions of the
Remuneration Committee include determining/reviewing and
making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior management,
the remuneration policy and structure for all Directors and senior
management; and establishing transparent procedures for
developing such remuneration policy and structure to ensure that
no Director or any of his associates will participate in deciding his
own remuneration.

The Remuneration committee held two meetings to review and
make recommendation to the Board on the remuneration policy
and structure of the Company and the remuneration packages of
the executive Directors and senior management and other related
matters as well as review and make recommendation to the Board
on the remuneration of the new director appointed.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and senior
management are set out in the sections headed “Directors’
Remuneration” and “Remuneration of the Senior Management” in
this annual report.

FHESE

ARATIE 20207 B17BR HEE S - W3]
ETNBERTEEATINERNEABRESE -
FTHEZE eI ERECEET M ERNRITE
EREEEEABNTHGESE 2BREZRAE
ERABMFTMECR KRB LM EHAES
SRR - AR HIET b E B BUR R 2R
NEEREREFARRREE SR ETABEA
DEETEESH -

FIEZEERTTMAEHE AR BN
RRRBUNATEENREEREABNHMT
BEMBFRETERLAESTSRIEZR - K
MEZNMRAESTZHFMUAMRAESTSRLZ

A
A °

EELSEEEABNTMEBENAFRIES
FMIR [GEERABSMISE

Attendance/
Number of
meeting during
FY2023
20235

M FEENHE
R/ ERRE

Sr. Dr. Leung Tony Ka Tung (Chairman)
Ms. Chan Sze Man
Mr. Jiang Jungan
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Nomination Committee

The Company has set up the Nomination Committee on 17 July
2020 with written terms of reference of no less exacting terms than
those set out in the CG Code.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include
reviewing the Board composition, developing and formulating
relevant procedures for the nomination and appointment
of Directors, making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment and succession planning of Directors, and assessing
the independence of independent non-executive Directors.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination committee
would take into account various aspects as well as factors
concerning Board diversity as set out in the Company's board
diversity policy, including but not limited to skills, industry and
regional experience, background, race, gender and other qualities
etc. In forming its perspective on diversity, the Company will also
take into account factors based on its own business model and
specific needs from time to time. The Nomination Committee would
discuss and agree on measurable objectives for achieving diversity
on the Board, where necessary, and recommend them to the Board
for adoption.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships, the
Nomination Committee would consider the candidate’s character,
qualifications, experience, independence and other relevant criteria
necessary to complement the corporate strategy and achieve Board
diversity, where appropriate, before making recommendation to the
Board.

The Nomination Committee held two meetings to review
the composition of the Board and the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors, to consider the qualifications
of the retiring directors standing election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company to be held on 25 August 2023
as well as review and make recommendation to the Board on the
nomination of the new director appointed.
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The Nomination Committee considered an appropriate balance of
diversity perspectives of the Board is maintained.

REZEERREFEZ T FEENBAE -

Attendance/
Number of
meeting during

FY2023
120235
BBEENHE
B EERE
Mr. Lo Hon Kwong (Chairman) BEEN LA (EE) 2/2
Sr. Dr. Leung Tony Ka Tung R R BRI ZRD 2/2
Ms. Chan Sze Man FREF B+ 2/2
Corporate Governance Functions EERBAE
The Board is responsible for performing the functions set outin the EEE B BEHMITH N EE AT AISFRESCA 2.
code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code. BB B ©

During FY2023 to the date of this annual report, the Board had
reviewed the Company's corporate governance policies and
practices, training and continuous professional development of
Directors and senior management, the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, the
compliance of the Model Code by Directors and relevant employees,
and the Company's compliance with the CG Code and disclosures in
this Corporate Governance Report.

RABFEHBFERERNFRALY  EEGCRR
ARANEEERABRRELER EZRSEER
ABRBIINBSEERER ARRETERR
EERTHNBRREER EFMERREETR
ETRIBER - ARARBETEEEETAN
ERARALEE ARENHEAR
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for overseeing the
Group's the risk management and internal control systems and
reviewing their effectiveness at least annually through the Audit
Committee. The Audit Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its
oversight roles in the Group's financial, operational, compliance,
risk management and internal controls, while senior management
designs, implements and monitors the risk management and
internal control systems, and provides reports to the Board and
the Audit Committee on the effectiveness of these systems. Such
systems and internal controls are designed to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve the Group’s business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in
achieving the company’s strategic objectives, and establishing and
maintaining appropriate and effective risk management and internal
control systems.

The Company has established formal risk management policy and
risk assessment criteria for the Group. Senior management identify
risks that potentially impact the key processes of their operations on
an annual basis. Risks are scored and ranked by their impact on the
business and the likelihood of their occurrence. Senior management
and department heads assess the effectiveness of the existing
controls and formulate risk mitigating activities. Results of the
annual risk assessment are coordinated by the Company Secretary
and reported to the Audit Committee, including amongst other
things, significant risks of the Group and the appropriate control
activities to mitigate and/or transfer the identified risks.
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The Group has maintained internal control guidelines and
procedures on the Group’s operational cycles relating to revenue,
purchase and expenditure, and human resources etc., to ensure
proper accounting records are kept so that reliable financial
reporting can be provided, the effectiveness and efficiency of
operation can be achieved, and the compliance with applicable
laws and regulations and safeguarding of assets can be maintained.
These procedures, together with the Company’s compliance
manual, have also shaped the control environment in which
and how the Group operates, including the budgeting controls,
investment decision making, risk assessment and practices of
corporate governance.

The Company does not have a formal internal audit department,
however, the Board has put in place adequate measures to perform
the internal audit function at different aspects of the Group.

The Company has engaged an external consultant to conduct
a review on selected business processes of the Group’s internal
control system. Results of the review was communicated to the
Audit Committee. Issues identified are followed up for proper
implementation and the progress will be reported to the Audit
Committee periodically. The Audit Committee assists the Board to
conduct review of the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems on an ongoing basis and the directors
through the Audit Committees are kept informed of significant risks
that may impact on the Group’s performance. For the year ended 31
March 2023, the Board considered the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group to be effective and adequate.

The Audit Committee has reviewed and is satisfied with the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal audit
and financial reporting function.
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Regular meetings were held between the executive Directors
and senior management to review and monitor the business
and financial performance against the targets, the progress of
certification and contract receipts from the customers, the efficiency
in the use of the Group's resources in comparison to the budgets,
and the operational matters to ensure the Group has complied with
the regulations that have material impact to the Group’s business.
The aim is to enhance the communication and accountability of the
Directors and management so that significant strategic, financial,
operational and compliance risks or potential deviations are timely
identified and dealt with in proper manner, which significant issues
are reported back to the Board for their attention.

With respect to the monitoring and disclosure of inside information,
the Group has developed its disclosure policy which provides a
general guide to the Group's Directors, officers, senior management
and relevant employees in handling confidential information,
monitoring information disclosure and responding to enquires.
While any potential inside information will be escalated to the
executive meetings or the Board via the established reporting
channels, the Directors will assess and determine if the inside
information of the Group exist where timely disclosure is required
to be made by way of an announcement published on the Stock
Exchange website. Control procedures have been implemented to
ensure that unauthorized access and use of inside information are
strictly prohibited.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ emoluments are determined with reference to Directors’
duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the
Group. In addition, the Directors’ remuneration is reviewed by the
Remuneration Committee of the Company annually. Details of
the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 9 to the Financial
Statements.
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REMUNERATION OF THE SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the remuneration of senior
management is listed below by band:

B EE A S %M

Tt

REZE2023F3A31BHILFE - 5EEEABNH
BHEsE T T -

Number of Person

Band of remuneration s E A
HK$500,001 to HK$ 1,000,000 500,001/ 7T 2 1,000,000/ 7T 5

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2023, Moore Stephens CPA Limited
is appointed as the external auditor of the Company. The fee paid
and payable in respect of audit services and non-audit services
amounted to HK$1.2 million and HKSNil respectively.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy that, in recommending
or declaring dividends, the Company shall maintain adequate and
sufficient cash reserves for meeting its working capital requirements
and future growth as well as its shareholder value. The Board
has the full discretion to declare and distribute dividends to the
Shareholders, and any final dividend for a financial year will be
subject to Shareholders’ approval. In proposing any dividend
payout, the Board shall also take into account, among other things,
the Group's financial results, financial position, cash flow situation,
business conditions and strategies, expected future operations and
earnings, capital requirements and expenditure plans, interests of
Shareholders, any restrictions on payment of dividends and any
other factors the Board may consider relevant. Any payment of the
dividend by the Company is also subject to any restrictions under
the Companies Act, the Company’s bye-laws and all applicable laws
and regulations.
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation
of Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2023 which
give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group. In
preparing the Financial Statements which give a true and fair view, it
is fundamental that the appropriate accounting policies are selected
and applied consistently. The statement of the external auditor of
the Company about their reporting responsibilities on the Financial
Statements is set out in the “Independent Auditor’'s Report” on
pages 98 to 108 of this annual report. The Directors were not aware
of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions which
may cast significant doubt upon the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company’s company secretary, Mr. Tsang Chun Kit, coordinates
the supply of information to the Directors and is the primary contact
person within the Company for all matters relating to the duties and
responsibilities of the company secretary. All Directors have access
to company secretary to ensure that Board procedures and all
applicable laws, rules and regulations are followed. During the year
ended 31 March 2023, he had taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training as required under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

For details of his biography, please refer to the section headed
“Biographies of Directors and Senior Management” of this annual
report.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

We seriously take care of the shareholders’ interest to ensure that
they are treated fairly and are able to exercise their shareholders’
rights effectively. Shareholders are entitled by the Articles
of Association and are also encouraged to participate in the
Company’s general meetings or appoint proxies to attend meetings
may request the Board to convene an extraordinary general meeting
and put forward proposals. Such requisition should be made in
writing to the Board or the company secretary for such purpose and
should specify the objects of the meeting.
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The Board is not aware of any provisions allowing the shareholders
of the Company to put forward proposals at general meetings of
the Company under the Articles of Association and the Companies
Law of the Cayman Islands. Shareholders who wish to put forward
proposals at general meetings may refer to the preceding paragraph
to make written requisition to require the convening of an
extraordinary general meeting of the Company.

In case a shareholder wishes to nominate a person for election as
director in general meeting, the particulars of the candidate must
be stated in a nomination notice signed and deposited together
with a notice of willingness signed by the candidate to the company
secretary at the Company principal place of business (Rooms 1008
and 1009, 10 Floor, China Shipbuilding Tower, 650 Cheung Sha
Wan Road Kowloon, Hong Kong) or at the Hong Kong branch share
registrar and transfer office of the Company. The notice should be
given at least seven days prior to the date of such general meeting.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company is committed to maintaining effective and timely
dissemination of the Group’s information to its shareholders and
the market. The annual shareholders’ meetings of the Company
are the primary forum for communication by the Company
with its shareholders and for shareholder participation. At the
annual general meeting of the Company, the Directors (or their
delegates as appropriate) are available to meet shareholders
and answer their enquires. In addition, the Company’s website
(http://www.chikanck.com) contains extensive company
information which is easily accessible.

AMENDMENTS TO THE ARTICLES OF
ASSOCIATION

In order (i) to further improve the corporate governance of the
Company; and (i) to conform to the Core Standards for shareholder
protection (Appendix 3 to the Listing Rules), the Board resolved
to proposed to make amendments (the “Proposed Amendments”)
to certain provisions/articles in the articles of association of the
Company. The special resolution in relation to the Proposed
Amendments has been passed in the annual general meeting of
the Company on 9 September 2022 and the second amended and
restated articles of association has been adopted on 9 September
2022.

For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 20 July 2022 and 9 September 2022 and the circular of the
Company dated 22 July 2022.

ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

Enquiries may put to the Board through the Company’s principal
place of business in Hong Kong at Rooms 1008 and 1009, 10 Floor,
China Shipbuilding Tower, 650 Cheung Sha Wan Road Kowloon,
Hong Kong (email: info@chikanck.com).
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SCOPE OF THE REPORT

This Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the
“Report”) describes the environmental, social and governance
("ESG”") performance of Chi Kan Holdings Limited (the
“"Company”) and the subsidiaries (collectively known as the
"Group”).

Formwork service is the fundamental business segment of the
Group and the Group has engaged in E-Commerce business
since March 2021 via Baiyin Chi Kan Technology Development
Company Limited (“CK Baiyin”), which was incorporated in
the People’s Republic of China ("PRC") on 24 February 2021.
The Group holds 51% equity interest in CK Baiyin whereas
an independent third party holds 49% equity interest in CK
Baiyin. For the principle of materiality, this ESG report covers
construction business and E-commerce business during the
year ended 31 March 2023 (the “FY 2023" or the “Year”), for
disclosing the ESG performance of our offices in Hong Kong
and the construction sites where the Group was engaged as a
formwork subcontractor.

In the construction sites where the Group was engaged, the
overall operations were in charge by the main contractors of
the projects. Under this operational model at the construction
sites where the Group was engaged, the quantitative
environmental data of project sites, such as records related to
waste generation and energy consumption, etc., were directly
managed by the main contractors, and the Group could not
access the mentioned records for disclosure in this Report.
Therefore, for the operation sites covered by this Report,
the quantitative environmental performance contributed
by the Group would focus on the office management of
headquarters in Hong Kong and in PRC.

The Report is prepared in accordance with the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide as set out in
Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and according
to the actual situation of the Group. The Report is published
annually in each financial year together with the Annual
Report of the Company for the Year.
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REPORTING PRINCIPLES

Materiality: The Group regularly makes reference
to the industry sustainability standards at the local
and international level and strives to integrate with
them. At the same time, regular communication with
stakeholders of various aspects is used to identify the
most concerned and important sustainability topics
for the Group. Those sustainability topics will also be
incorporated into the Group's development policies
under the overall strategy of the Group’s operations.

Quantitative: The Group is committed to quantifying
and disclosing key performance indicators and data
within the environmental and social categories, and
whenever feasible, explaining the methods of data
collection and calculation to enhance transparency of
the data.

Balance: In order to maintain the balance of reporting
content, fair disclosure of sustainability performance
and challenges related to the Group and stakeholders is
provided with impartial information to the public.

Consistency: The Group adheres to the “Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide” of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited for disclosure,
which allows the Group to make meaningful annual
comparisons of past performance under the same
framework, and to disclose updated calculation
methods of relevant data when necessary.
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BOARD STATEMENT

The Group is committed to its stakeholders including
but not limited to employees, customers, suppliers,
creditors, regulators and the community for corporate
social responsibility. The Group believes in implementing
sound strategies and policies for environmental, social, and
governance would improve sustainability of the Group. Taking
a proactive approach to sustainability is an inherent part of
all aspects of the Group's corporate strategy, and also critical
to the Group’s business success. The Group is of a view that
sustainability is an integral element in maintaining our leading
position in the industry and contributing positively to the
development of the communities.

The Board is fully aware of the importance of risk management
for sustainable development. The Board has the overall
responsibility for our ESG strategies and reporting, as well as
overseeing and managing our ESG-related risks. The Group
has developed an effective and sufficient risk management
and internal control system.

The Board delegates its responsibilities in regard to board
oversight of ESG issues to ESG management team to execute
the Group's ESG policies, identify, evaluate, prioritise, manage
and mitigate material ESG-related issues that might adversely
affect our business. ESG management team formulates
effective strategies to balance the environmental and social
objectives with our business targets and compare our
outcomes with these targets.

The Board reviews material ESG issues at a strategic level,
ensures it is aligned with the business strategy, and assists the
ESG management team to progress against most significant
goals and targets.
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STAKEHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT

The Group convenes annual general meeting with
shareholders to provide an effective channel for the board
of directors to exchange opinions with shareholders. The
Group's overall business performance is reporting to all
investors every year through publishing in our annual report
and annual general meeting. For those customers, suppliers
and subcontractors in close connection with the Group, they
could be communicated through appropriate channels to
listen to their opinions and requests.

In addition, for assuring the regulatory compliance of business
operations, the Group would pay close attention to the
opinions of regulatory authorities, responds and follows up in
a timely manner.

The stakeholders include the shareholders, governments
and regulatory bodies, employees, customers, suppliers
and society and the public. The Group discusses with the
stakeholders through various channels for their expectations
and relevant feedback of the Group as below:

Stakeholders Expectation
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Communication and feedback

BENRRE

Shareholders/Investors

BR/ REE MIERA

o Corpo rate governance

TEER

+ Risk management
[\ B TR
Government and - Taxation compliance
regulatory bodies SEAMRT
B R EEHEE
BIEER

- Financial performance

- Regulatory compliance

« Annual general meetings/general
meetings
BREBFRE BERE

- Corporate reports and
announcements
ERERAE

- The Group's website

REE A h

- Policy announcement
BENE

- Regulatory communications
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Stakeholders

a¥RkE

Expectation

Communication and feedback

B E HE BERRE
Employees - Career development platform « Promotion mechanism
=] EXERTE EPAL 1l
- Salary and benefits - Competitive salary and employee
e DSE R benefits
BEF N0 EH MRS R
. Occupational health and safety - Providing trainings for employees and
BEEEET strengthen their safety awareness
%EE&( B RMNRREZ TS
=X
Customers - Delivery and quality of services « Phone conference, visits and
®F RUERBHBERREE R meetihgs
TR LR EE
- Customer information security
REZFER
- Customer rights and interests
protection
RIEE PR R
Suppliers - Integrity cooperation + Building a responsible supply chain
HIER BREHEERIER By (A8 E R HERE
- Business ethics and credibility - Press releases, financial and
EES: RS other data relating to supplier/
subcontractor’s business
BT - EEER S emEKE
28 9 B 75 I L At B
+ Regular meeting
EHgM|
Community - Community involvement « Charity and social investment
#HE ft 22 6 rERtgRE
- Social responsibilities - Putting into use of environmental
eEHME protection and energy saving

- Environmental protection
IRIR
- Employment opportunities

TiEe
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FEEDBACK

For details of the ESG performance, corporate governance
as well as financial performance, please visit the Company’s
website at http://www.chikanck.com and the annual reports.
The Group treasures the feedback and comments on its
sustainability performance, please send the feedback and
enquiries to chikan@chikanck.com.

MATERIALITY MATRIX

During the Year, the Group has evaluated a number of
environmental, social and operation related issues, and
assessed their importance to stakeholders and the Group
through various channels. This assessment helps to ensure the
Group's business development is in line with the expectations
and requirements of its stakeholders. The Group's and
its stakeholders’ matters of concern are presented in the
following materiality matrix:
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Importance to the Group

HEKEZERM
Low Medium High
& 5 ]

4+ Anti-discrimination

4 Protecting labour rights

> Customers' satisfaction Level

RURAE {ReES THEA EPmEKY
4 Staff training and promotion 4+ Staff compensation and welfare > Anti-corruption

opportunity policies RE)S

Importance to BIRIIREAKE EEEHMRER R

Stakeholders High > Product quality and safety

HEGEZ B EmEERZE
BEHR > Suppliers management
HEREE

Medium > Community involvement

i HtE2E

4 Occupational health and
workplace safety
BEZERIERERS

> Protecting customers’ privacy > Qperational compliance

REEPLE

2EAR

Low $> Non-hazardous wastes produced 4 Preventive measures for child and <> Use of raw materials

& ELZEEERY

forced labour

e R

BHETRRHS T2

< Environmental 4 Employee > Operation

& IRIE ¢ EE >

T
f
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The table underneath shows the aspects on the ESG Guide
to be assessed and those ESG issues were determined to be
material to the Group.

ESG Aspects as set forth in the ESG Reporting Guide Material ESG issues for the Group

62

ESGIE S| A& 5| ZESGEi i

HAKEMSBEKXZESGEE

(A) Environmental

(A)ERIR

A1 Emissions Emission from town gas and electricity consumed
A1 BERH) RIERERE S8 2 B 0 T B A 2 BERUD
A2 Use of Resources Use of energy and paper

A2 BIRfFH A BEIR M 45k

A3 Environment and Natural Resources

A3 ERERBAER

A4 Climate change

A4 EAREME,

(B) Social

(B) #&

B1 Employment and Labour Practices Labour practices

BIERRL T ER LTER

B2 Health and Safety Workplace health and safety

B2 ERHAL 2 R N;ZEHTIERER

B3 Development and Training Employee development and training
B3 B & K7 & B 3R LIE

B4 Labour Standards
4 BT R
B5 Supply Chain Management

Anti-child and forced labour
RET NiaH|& T

Supply chain management

BS ftrEsEE TR HrEEE R

B6 Product Responsibility Product responsibility

B6 EmmEIE EmAE

B7 Anti-corruption Anti-corruption, fraud prevention and anti-money
B7 RES laundering

B8 Community Involvement
B8 1t [ 22 E
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Environmental

It is the Group’s mission to be mindful for protection
of the environment by minimising the environmental
impact regarding our business activities, materials
and services engaged. Apart from complying with the
applicable environmental laws and regulations to which
the Group subscribes, we are committed to preventing
pollution, reducing waste, recycling and minimising
use of natural resources by continually improving our
environmental practices and measures, educating
our employees to adopt environmentally responsible
behaviour, and promoting environmental protection in
our supply chain and marketplace.

A1.1 Emissions Data from Gaseous Fuel Consumption

Compliance Measures

Based on the impacts of the Group's operations
on the environment, we have identified the
relevance but not limited to the following
environmental laws and regulations:

The “Air Pollution Control Ordinance” of Hong
Kong - controls the emission of air pollutants and
noxious odour from construction, industrial and
commercial activities and other polluting sources,
as well as controls the air pollutant emissions from
certain operations through the issue of licences
and permits.

The “Noise Control Ordinance” of Hong Kong
- regulates noise from construction activities,
including the use of powered mechanical
equipment (other than percussive piling) beyond
the regulated hours under normal situation (i.e.
without prior approval).

Annual Report 2023 3R

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
mmsr S A7 SO
RIF - g MEVRME

BiR

AEENEDEEBEE R ELM
MEBES - KRBT E RIRSAE
ERREFE  BORERE KT
BTERARASENRBEERER
i - AR BB T E SCE R PR IRE
EBRMERE  BRERMNE TRIY
RIARMNTR  RERFNHERE
MSH e £ RFERE - AL
Z - EOEY  BRABRERSER
BIRHER o

ALl EFERBEHMHELZHRYE I
BHIET

ERAEEREEHHRENT
& ZMEEERBENRLA
TRERRER

BN ZRITRERRG -5
BEE - TRHRAHREMITR
RENZER SRR ESREN
BEDR - AR BIE R I M IR e 5 A)
& DA B I L RIS H 2= RS R
BEDR

B[ REEHKRE ] -RER
KEBELNERS  BRELR
BT (BIARAEF ST/ ) BB
EREERE D EMRE(EE
ITHEHERIN)

Chi Kan Holdings Limited %5 &) #22 i85 R A &) 63



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

BIR - g MNEAWmE

64

The “Waste Disposal Ordinance” of Hong Kong
- controls the production, storage, collection,
treatment, recycling and disposal of wastes.
Whilst unlawful deposition of waste is prohibited,
import and export of waste into and from Hong
Kong is generally controlled through a permit

system.

The “Public Health and Municipal Services
Ordinance” of Hong Kong - regulates emission
of dust from building under construction or
demolition in such manner not considered as to

be a nuisance.

During the Year, the Group did not identify any
legal non-compliance or complaint regarding
emissions and other environmental issues.

Control Measures Against Pollution

For mitigation of pollution risks as mentioned in
the aforesaid compliance aspects, the Group is
striving to adopt the following measures at the

operation sites covered by this Report:

Water pollution

General wastewater should be discharged

to sink basin or toilet.
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Noise pollution

Great care is taken to minimize noise
generated when carrying out company
activities such as renovations work, formwork,
etc., and to comply with applicable laws
and other requirements of the venue or
workplace.

All renovation work that generates loud
noise has to be arranged after office hours,
in accordance with the rules set by property
management office and legal requirements.

Hearing protection approved by Labour
Department is available to the colleagues
who may be affected.

Air pollution

The staff should maintain office with good
ventilation, adjust the fan coil speed to medium or
high if appropriate.

Some items are known to emit volatile
organic chemicals (VOCs), which is irritating
or even harmful to health. Therefore,
when purchasing the following items like
furniture, paints & inks, glues & adhesives,
pesticides and air fresheners, attention
is paid to their specification and those at
low VOC emission values are preferred in
selection.

Road traffic is another well-known source
of air pollution in Hong Kong. When
selecting fuel for vehicle (company or not),
preference is given to use those emitting
lower level of air pollutants (e.g. SOx, NOx,
soot & dusts, etc.).
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Given old-model refrigerators or some air-
conditioner models may use greenhouse
gases or ozone depleting substances as
refrigerants, measures are taken to prevent
these gases from leaking when disposing
them.

Waste Management

Regarding the general operation of formwork
services, the Group would not generate
hazardous waste nor significant discharge
of sewage, and the waste generated by the
Group’s operation was mainly non-hazardous
construction wastes. As similar with other site
operations, all construction wastes generated
would be responsible and managed by the main
contractors for recording and handling. Therefore,
there was no record of such wastes generated in
FY2023 under the scope of the Group's operation.

For wastes generated from our headquarters
office, there was only a small amount of office
trash, such as paper wastes generated from
the scrap documents, which all belong to non-
hazardous wastes. The associated wastes would
then be handed over and centrally collected by
the property management office of the building
where the Group's office is located, this facilitates
the subsequent arrangement with the qualified
agencies for waste processing and disposal.
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Waste Reduction Measures in Office

Paper was the key source of solid wastes
generated from the office’s operation. The
Group's office has made good use of electronic
operation system, through which documents
were saved in electronic form and external
communication was readily proceeded via
e-mails. Use of paper was mainly for record
purpose and consequently no significant amount
of paper-based waste was generated during the
operations. In addition, the Group has adopted
administrative measures for reducing use of
paper, as described in section “Effective Utilisation
of Paper Resources” of this Report.

Control of Greenhouse Gases (GHG) Emission

The source of GHG incurred by our business
activities mainly originated in the form of energy
indirect emission, which was the consequence of
electricity consumed in the office operations. In
response to reducing these GHG emissions, the
Group adopted the measures for saving electricity
as mentioned in section “Energy Conservation
Measures” of this Report.

The following table identified the total
greenhouse gas emission in the Year and the
greenhouse gas emission intensity calculated on
the basis of the number of employees:

The Group did not have emissions released from
town fuel and town gas consumed. The Group
also did not have motor vehicles for operation at
project site during the Year.

Annual Report 2023 3R

YNEY 2P

MERENANEELEENEEE
%E’JIKX/J? AEERAE

DMAEFRIERG - XHFAE
—?ﬁﬁﬂ%ﬁ MRS FE MG
EITRM o FAKKREEIERRER
R At ERRTEES KR
EBHREEY - I EXRRE
[ B R B AR &R ] — & prat -
NER B B ERERTT BUE p R A A R
A -

i =R E (GHG ) BERCFE I

KM EREBELENGHGESR
RERAZRZEEFREE NATEH
REERBEEIEN - BRI IS
GHGHER » AEBBEHFEBARE
[BEREDAIFEIE | —RIFTILMA &
i

!E

Ti‘%ﬁlJHj$¢E/Miﬂﬁ“%Fﬁﬁl
ENZET ABGENRERE
BEEE

Ol Gl

k

7N 52 [ 1F 4 TR S R O S JE SRUIT
BELEZHRY » RAEEIER
THb{EF TH2E

Chi Kan Holdings Limited &5 £ i B[R A &) 67



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RE g hERTE

68

A1.2 Greenhouse Gas Emission

Greenhouse gas emissions are the main factors
contributing to global warming, leading to
climate changes and threatening the ecosystem
of the world. To continuously fulfill the duties as
an enterprise with corporate social responsibility,
the Group embraces in driving green practices in
day-to-day operations so as to reduce greenhouse
gas emissions in the business operations.

Al.2

Key Performance Index (“KP1")

BEREHK

BEREHRASZRE(CZER
E - RIRE ML - 2ERER

ERRIEE - RFERTHR
—HERLEHEREEILEN
BE  ASEBNRABELESR
MARKEER - WD XK EE
EEZREREHRE

RRENER
FY2023 Unit %
20235
B RE B %
Scope 1 Direct Emission HE— FEHRW - Kg AT 0%
Scope 2 Indirect Emission e EEERY 29,225 Kg 2T 82%
Scope 3 Other indirect Emission sE= HiEEERY 6,475 Kg 2T 18%
Total st 35,700 Kg AfF 100%
Scope 1. It mainly represents the towngas, HE—: IEiRHEERIE

liquefied petroleum gas and diesel oil
from consumption of motor vehicles.

Scope 2: It mainly represents the electricity
purchased from power suppliers.

Scope 3: It mainly represents the paper waste
disposed at landfills and water used.

During the Year, there was 35,700 (FY2022: 37,869)
kg of carbon dioxide equivalent greenhouse
gases emitted from the Group’s operation.

When considering the greenhouse gas emissions
intensity, the Group recorded approximately 551
(FY2022: 511) kg of greenhouse gas emissions
per number of full time staff during the Year. The
increase was because the Group engaged new
e-commerce operation during the Year.
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Al.3

The Group has previously set the targets to
less than 600 kg of greenhouse gas emissions
per number of full time staff. The target will be
reviewed in 2026. The Group has achieved the
target during the Year.

Compliance with Relevant Laws and Regulations

The Group is not aware of any material non-
compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact relating
to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges
into water and land, generation of hazardous
and non-hazardous wastes of the Group during
the Year. In addition, no significant fines or non-
monetary sanctions for non-compliance with
relevant laws and regulations had been reported
in the Year.

Hazardous Waste and Non-hazardous Waste

Hazardous Waste

The business operations of the Group produced
insignificant hazardous waste, including chemical
wastes and hazardous chemicals, during the Year.

Non-hazardous Waste

The major non-hazardous waste produced by the
Group was the paper waste during the Year. It
amounted to approximately 1.35 tonnes during
the Year, the Group strives to create a working
environment by reducing the waste.
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A2.1 Use of Resource

While resource consumption at project sites were
tracked by main contractors under the contracted
responsibility and the Group did not directly own
any vehicles for operation at the project sites, the
main resources consumed and tracked by the
Group were electricity and paper consumption
in office. Relatively, water consumption was not
significant.

The following table set forth the main resources
consumed by the Group at the headquarters

office in Hong Kong during the Year:

The summary of the resources consumed are set
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A2.1 BRERH
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EEBEANETETER M
BAREEYEFEESTMER
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BHAENEBEREFEE

REBBERE 2 ERBALT

out below:
KPI
RARENIEE
% increase/
FY2023 FY2022 Unit (decrease)
20234 20224 %3 N,
MREE MREE By (R 2)
Electricity consumed #MEE= 32,565 37,126  kWh T EBF (12%)
Paper 4K 1,349 1,321 Kg AT (2%)
The summary of the resources consumed per BEREREBEREZE R
million of revenue are set out below: T
KPI
BRENEE
% increase/
FY2023 FY2022 Unit (decrease)
20234 20224 %N,
MBEE MBEE = (R2)
No. of full-time staff 2HES A 65 74 Staff % (12%)
Electricity consumed HEERE 501 502 kWh/no. of (1%)
intensity full-time staff
FEE
2RIES A
Paper 4 21 18 Kg/no. of (17%)
full-time staff
A/
2HRIEES AH
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The Group has previously set the targets to 650
kWh of electricity per number of full-time staff,
which is closed to electricity consumed FY2021,
was consumed for the Year. The target will be
reviewed in 2026.The Group has achieved the
target during the Year.

Energy Conservation Measures

Understood electricity was the key type of energy
consumption, which also indirectly generated
greenhouse gases into the environment. The
Group has implemented various measures for
energy saving purpose through the direction
towards green office management:

(1) Lighting

turn off some lightings when the
occupancy is low, e.g. during lunch
and after office hours;

switch off unnecessary lighting in
public communal areas, such as
reception counters, corridors, etc.,
after normal office hours;

reduce the use of high-power
incandescent lamps.
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Air-conditioning

keep room temperature at appropriate
level, e.g. 25.5°C;

turn off some air-conditioning units
when the occupancy is low, e.g. during
lunch, after office hours;

switch on air-conditioning for pre-
cooling no earlier than a specified
period, e.g. 15 minutes before
conference rooms are to be occupied
and switch off once the room is
unoccupied;

dress lightly to minimize use of
air-conditioning in months of hot
weather;

lower window blinds or curtains
before leaving office to reduce direct
sunlight on the following day.

Computers

activate the standby mode or
hibernation mode features of personal
computers;

switch off the monitors during lunch
and when the staff is away from the
workplace for meeting, albeit a short
one;

switch off personal computers
(including both monitor and computer
processing unit) after office hours.
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(4)  Other Electric Appliance

Purchase electric appliance with
energy-efficient mode or energy
efficiency label.

Water Conservation Measures

All stages of formwork services engaged by the
Group, not taking account of the concreting
process undertaken by the subcontractors
engaged by main contractors before striking of
the formwork, generally would not consume
significant amount of water. On the other hand,
the amount of water consumption at the project
sites engaged by Group would be tracked and
managed by the main contractors under the
contracted responsibility. Therefore, there was no
record of water consumption by the Group at the
project sites during the Year.

Water consumption equipment in the office
areas of the Group was managed by the property
management offices responsible for those
areas. Despite water consumption is relatively
insignificant, the Group is still conveying message
on water conservation to enhance the relevant
awareness of employees.

Use of Materials

Within the Year, the site projects managed
by the Group were mainly formworks, which
did not involve packing of any finished goods,
and therefore the business operation did not
consume any packaging materials. The type of
materials used for formwork services were mainly
timber and plywood, aluminium, as well as some
other parts or components used with relevant
equipment, e.g. scaffolding equipment.
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A3

Environmental and Natural Resources

The Group has a clear understanding of
the environmental impacts incurred by our
operations on the environment. In response
to the public’s concern over environmental
protection topics, we are monitoring closely on
the operation processes and where applicable
pursuing innovative technology for continuous
improvement of environmental performance, in
addition to the aforesaid energy saving measures
and green office management practices.

Increasing Use of Aluminium in Formwork

With advance technology and development
of industrial techniques, it is expected that the
construction market in Hong Kong will also
embrace the adoption of automation technology
to improve its competitiveness in the long run.
For instance, the mechanised prefabrication
construction system is expected to be applied
for the purpose to improve construction safety
and cost effectiveness and to strengthen
environmental protection.

It tends to become a trend in the market
of formwork services that more contractors
would use aluminium formworks to gradually
replace formworks made of other materials,
such as timber and plywood, for the sake of
environmental protection.

Being one of the market leaders, we will also drive
this trend by persuading the contractors to use
more prefabricated system whenever possible.
Through adoption of aluminium material, we
could substitute the use of timber and plywood
in the formworks and hence reduce the
consumption of such natural wooden resources.
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Effective Utilisation of Paper Resources

Paper was mainly consumed for general office
operations and the Group has adopted electronic
office systems for the applicable processes
with the aim of reducing paper consumption.
Electronic information and records were
classified by department and centralized stored
in electronic folders to minimize the wastage of
papers from duplicated printing by employees in
the same department.

With the advocacy of environmental conservation
over the past few years, staff awareness on
paper saving has been highly enhanced and
staff members have developed good habits for
adoption of the following green practices:

use of recycled paper in office operations;

ii. printing and photocopying on both sides of
paper;

ii. reuse of single-sided used paper for
drafting, printing and receiving fax;

iv.  reuse of envelopes and loose minute jackets
for internal transmission of documents and
correspondence;

V. communication and dissemination of
information by electronic means; and

vi. avoidance in printing or photocopying
documents unless hardcopy is absolutely
necessary.

Moreover, for raising awareness of our employees,
the Group has established relevant policies and
handouts regarding the appropriate ways for
supporting the subsequent recycling of waste
papers.
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A4

Climate change

The Group is fully aware of extreme weather
being the main risk incurred by climate change,
which ultimately leads to danger and damage
caused by typhoons and rainstorms. Management
assesses these weather risks to construction
projects, hence has defined and adopted relevant
measures for responding to the impacts caused
by typhoons and rainstorm weather:

Response to operational impacts incurred from
climate change

The Group has developed guidelines for work
arrangement in adverse weather, which guide
employees to respond to possible emergencies,
such as being unable to work at the time of
warnings hoisted for typhoon and rainstorm
weather.

Appropriate measures have been defined for
implementation by employees in different
workplaces:

For construction sites, prior to typhoon, use
rope or other tools to secure the outdoor
devices or machinery for prevention of
blowing down by strong wind.

For office, prior to typhoon, ensure all
windows to keep closed, as well as regular
window inspection and timely repairs.

Moreover, in order to raise employees’ awareness
of disaster preparedness and to familiarize them
with emergency response measures, the Group
provides appropriate training to ensure that
employees possess relevant knowledge and skills
to tackle with the impacts of extreme weather on
the operations.
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Mitigation against operational impacts incurred
from climate change

Apart from formulating the abovementioned to
preparedness plans in response climate change,
the Group is convinced of greenhouse gas (GHG)
as the key contributor of climate change, and
has adopted various GHG emission reduction
measures, including the use of energy-saving
lighting in the office areas for reduction of energy
indirect GHG emission, as well as the priority
in local procurement for avoiding direct GHG
emission incurred from overseas transportation,
thereby mitigating the trend of climate change.

Social

The Group believes that sustainable business success
relies on the contribution and support of its talented
employees. The Group treated its employees as the
most valuable assets to the Group. The contributions of
the employees promote the Group to achieve corporate
goals and maintain sustainable development. This is the
reason why the Group continues improving its friendly
employment policies. The human resources policy
and procedures, including recruitment, probation,
termination, promotion, retirement, transfer, appraisal,
working hours, salary, bonus, entitled leave and medical
benefits, comply with the relevant legislation.
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B1

Employment and Labour Practices
Employment

The Group recruits directly employed labour
and subcontracts works to provide adequate
and stable workforce for provision of formwork
services and other construction services.
We consider that the combined uses and
arrangements of subcontracting and direct
labour force could uphold the quality control
of our formwork services and ensure sufficient
manpower to complete our formwork projects
in a timely manner, with regard to the required
skills and manpower for a wide variety of projects
undertaken by the Group.

Depending on the level of complexity and scale
of the formwork projects, our project team is
generally comprised of project manager, safety
supervisor, quantity surveyor and formwork
workers. We generally engage subcontractors,
such as carpenters and metal formwork erectors,
to carry out the labour-intensive formwork and
other construction services in our projects.

The Group strictly abides by the local laws and
regulations of the regions where the Group
is operating for deployment of employment
policies, which cover but not limited to The
Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong for
protection of the wages of employees and
defining the general conditions of employment.

During the Year, the Group did not identify any
legal non-compliance or complaints regarding
employment issues.
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Recruitment and Promotion

Whenever there are recruitment needs, the Group
will determine the job requirements specific to
the relevant functions and projects. Recruitment
is simply based on job requirements and shall not
be affected by attributes such as race, ethnicity,
social class, nationality, religion, disability, gender,
sexual orientation, marital status, age, trade union
membership or political party, in order to avoid
any occurrence of discrimination.

Moreover, the Group has established clear
promotion policy to give adequate promotion
opportunities to eligible personnel. The Group
generally performs performance evaluation of
each employee in the Hong Kong headquarters
office on annual basis and evaluation is simply
based on work performance for fair and impartial
determination of promotion decision.

Remuneration and Benefits

The Group provides employees’ remuneration
in strict accordance with relevant laws and
regulations, including the prescribed hourly wage
rate under the Minimum Wage Ordinance of
Hong Kong, as well as enrolment of employees
within the first 60 days of employment in the
Mandatory Provident Fund (MPF) scheme for
general staff or the construction-specific “Industry
Schemes” under the MPF system for “casual
employees or workers” whose employment is on
a day-to-day basis or for a fixed period of less than
60 days.

For determination of regular salary adjustment,
the Group will review the rationality and
competitiveness of the current salary structure,
based on employee’s current salary, salary
trends in the market and reference of the
industry average and the results of employee’s
performance evaluation.
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In addition, the Group will abide by the relevant
laws and regulations in strict for provision of other
legal benefits, such as statutory holidays, paid
annual leave and paid maternity leave, etc., as well
as for undertaking separation of employment with
relevant staff.

Compensation for Work-related Incidents

The Group has maintained insurance policies
for employees’ compensation of our office staff
and third-party liabilities. The main contractors
of the Group’s projects are generally responsible
for effecting suitable insurance policies for
employees’ compensation, contractors’ all risks
and third party liabilities in respect of the persons
working at the construction sites (including
the Group's direct labour and workers from our
subcontractors) on a project-by-project basis.

The Group, or the main contractors and/or
ultimate employers (i.e. property developers)
which the Group is engaging for their projects,
are accountable for adherence to undertaking the
required measures whenever necessary pursuant
to the Employees’ Compensation Ordinance of
Hong Kong or equivalent regulations in the other
regions where there are project implementation.

Employee compensation system is established
for detailing the respective rights and obligations
of employer and employees in both full-time and
part-time mode and for handling incidents in
respect of injuries or death caused by accidents,
and incapacity or death incurred by prescribed
occupational diseases.

Mechanism is in place for handling claims in
respect of personal injuries and aforesaid labour
compensation.
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Staff Composition

As at 31 March 2023, the Group employed a total
of 879 (FY2022: 1,076) staff. The Group believes
that maintaining a diverse but inclusive workforce
among its working environment is the key to
maintain a sustainable and successful business in
the future.

a) Employee’ s Age and Gender Distribution

1EB K

20233310 » REBEAE L
B 7879 (2022 F M EEZ -
1076)BET - REFHEEE
TERERE —BHZTRER
AE SRS E) ) = (F X B
BEAANFEER KN B RIS
RN < BAgE -

a) EEFHRRMER M

FY2023 FY2022
2023 IREFEE 2022F I EE
Age Group Male Female Male Female
FHAl Bl B z 5 z
0-15 0E155% 0% 0% 0% 0%
16-18 162 185% 0% 0% 0% 0%
19-30 192 303% 14% 4% 17% 2%
31-45 31E455% 29% 3% 28% 2%
46-60 46 605%, 33% 4% 31% 5%
=61/>61 61B% 3 A £ 12% 1% 14% 1%
Total st 88% 12% 90% 10%
b)  Employee type Distribution b) {EEERISM
FY2023 FY2022
2023 BIREFE 2022F I EFEE
By employment type Male Female Male Female
RESERE S B z 3 z
Full-time employment 28{E & 4% 4% 4% 3%
Part-time employment 3E:{E& 84% 8% 86% 7%
Total it 88% 12% 90% 10%
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Employee’ s Geographical Distribution o EEHEDMH
FY2023 FY2022
2023FBTREE 2022FBIREE
By location Male Female Male Female
Rt EE D £ z 3 z
Hong Kong BB 87% 9% 88% 7%
Mainland China AR B A, 1% 3% 2% 3%
Total st 88% 12% 90% 10%
Turnover Rate by Gender Distribution d  ERMRIEIS ZREE
FY2023 FY2022
2023F B E 2022 B E
By Gender Male Female Male Female
BRI & 5 = z £ z
Full-time staffs’ ERIEB 2T 4% 11% 3% 5%
turnover rate e
Total it 4% 11% 3% 5%

The Group is not aware of any material
non-compliance with the Employment
Ordinance of Hong Kong, Employees’
Compensation Ordinance of Hong
Kong, Labour Law of the PRC and other
applicable laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the Group
relating to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours,
rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
anti-discrimination and other benefits and
welfare during the Year.
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Employee Health and Safety

Pursuant to the relevant regulations such as “The
Factories and Industrial Undertakings Ordinance”,
“Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance”’,
the Group is committed to providing a healthy
and safe working environment for employees
in the projects undertaken by our scope of
responsibility.

The Group has implemented workplace safety
documentation which includes detailed guidance
on general site conditions, potential hazards
and site requirements, construction staff’s
safety responsibilities, safety precautions and
emergency response measures and reporting of
safety incidents.

Over the past years, the Group has been awarded
by various construction stakeholders for the
safety performance during the implementation of
relevant projects.

Supervision by Safety Management Personnel

Through internal establishment or coordination
with main contractor of the responsible projects,
the Group is accountable for the arrangement of
safety management personnel responsible for site
safety inspection, day-to-day communication and
monitoring of workplace safety at construction
sites.

The designated safety management personnel
are in place to supervise the safety of the
construction site and to provide safety training to
employees. The Group will proceed in accordance
with the opinion of safety management personnel
and establish the relevant measures in response
to various safety risks in the workplace.
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Whenever an accident has occurred at the
construction site (e.g. an employee sustaining
an injury at work), the designated safety
management personnel will immediately report
the safety incident to the Group’s management as
well as main contractor of the project engaged by
the Group.

Workplace Safety Management

On the construction sites, the Group collaborates
with main contractor to identify jobs at high risk.
In accordance with the opinions of designated
safety management personnel, control measures
are established in response to different
occupational safety risks. Unless otherwise
specified in the project implementation, main
contractors are obliged to provide all necessary
safety equipment to those employees being
appointed by the Group.

Emergency drill are regularly scheduled in the
construction sites to ensure employee awareness
in response to emergency.

For office safety, the Group also undertakes the
appropriate safety management measures, which
include placing of first aid kits stocked with
emergency medicines, assurance of fire-fighting
supplies in place, posting of fire evacuation route
plans, as well as participation in any fire drill
organized by responsible party.

Chi Kan Holdings Limited 23 #)#2 iR G R A 7] Annual Report 2023 3

EREwRELEIINPINEE
RIXZB) HEXEEEAR
R ASEEREERAER
XEMNEBEAEZRERZLE
E T

THETEHE

Ry

AN B BB GER S (E AR SR
R SRR IE - RIBEER
2EBABNER NEBETY
TRBEZ2RERG EEZERE
Mo BRIFIEE BHEAER SEHR
E o BRBEAEREEARAE
BEZEEBSREMENENE
2ERAE o

AREETE LT HE RN ARETT
%um 'Mﬁ%ﬁéﬁfﬁ%

ﬁﬁém*%m H ﬁ%&
BHEB A - RENANZER AR R
B - ARSEEABE RS R
FNEEE o



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
R g kERwE

Management Measures against COVID-19 Pandemic

Unless there is a confirmed infection case of
COVID-19 among the construction workers in the
project sites or the Hong Kong government has
imposed suspension of construction work against
the impacts from COVID-19, the main contractors
of the Group'’s project generally will not consider
suspending or postponing the works in project
sites due to the potential liquidated damages
for late completion, and therefore the Group has
undertaken the following precautions against
COVID-19 at the project sites:

circulate the guidelines on health
precautions against COVID-19 (including
wearing of mask, measuring body
temperature before entry to the project site,
etc.) issued by the relevant main contractors
and the Construction Industry Council
to our workers and the workers of our
subcontractors;

require our workers and the workers of our
subcontractors to wear masks in project
sites;

report travel history of our staff and their
family members residing with them to
project manager;

require the relevant staff and/or their family
members who have travelled to the PRC
to work from home for 14 days upon their
arrival;

suggest our workers and the workers of
our subcontractors to consult a doctor
promptly and undergo quarantine for 14
days if they have a fever or other symptoms;

keep close communication with main
contractors of the Group’s projects when
any workers in project site confirmed
positive for COVID-19
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Safety Performance

There was no employee record of work related
fatality in this Year. During the Year, the Group did
not identify any legal non-compliance related to
occupational health and safety regulations of the
local operating region.

The Group adopts non-discriminatory
employment practices and provides a healthy
and safe workplace. All employees are required to
keep the construction site and the offices in safety
and cleaning condition. The Group is subject to
and complies with regulations in Hong Kong and
PRC that govern occupational health and safety
issues.

The Group complies with the “Law of the PRC on
the Prevention and Treatment of Occupational
Diseases” by execution of health and safety
polices to prevent of occupational diseases. As
a result, the Group can effectively protect the
health and safety of its workers during their work
and achieve the Group’s goal and promote the
economic development of the Group.

Smoking is prohibited in office’s areas. Fire
extinguishers, fire alarms and evacuation route are
available for the employees located at the offices.

Chi Kan Holdings Limited 23 #)#2 iR G R A 7] Annual Report 2023 3

LZE2RH

AFEEHMEEFREERATIIRTH
ek o MAFE » AEE W&
REMEREES B ERE
EZ2RBIHER -

AEERARBEREREER 2
HERERLTERNTIERE -
2REEHARGEE m&&m
RELEREZR - XEBEEE
ﬁ%%%@%&yiﬁ%z%@
KA BRG] o

AEBETC(RBEBERB A

) BieRREEZE2BER

DB SENs - U A BUHRIEE T

THRzZBERZ 2  EBAE

BZzBER  SAKEZEEER
—EtE -

MRERTEER - NEBRENR
RETIENEERBEBMNE - A
T MR ERRAR o



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
moisr S| AT S OAE
RIF - g MEVRME

Occupational Health and Safety Data

The information of work accidence is set out

BREFR 2 HIE

THEERERIMAT

below:
FY2023 FY2022 FY2021
2023FMBEFE  2022FHRFE 2021FHBEFEE
Health and Safety Male Female Male Female Male Female
REREZE ES z b X Es z
Rate of work-related A TITHY - - - - = =
fatalities i
Lost days due to work AT Emigk 880 85 7,156 244 5,058 226
injury B TAERER

The Group is not aware of any material non-
compliance with the Occupational Safety and
Health Ordinance of Hong Kong, Prevention and
Control of Disease Ordinance of Hong Kong,
Law on Occupational Safety and Health of PRC
and other applicable laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the Group relating
to providing a safe working environment and
protecting employees from occupational hazards
during the Year.
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Development and Training

The Group has maintained experienced project
management team and each of our project
managers has near 20 years of experience in the
construction industry. They play an important
role in leading the team and guide the workers
towards successful completion of projects. We
will establish training plan for arranging different
types of training to employees. For on-job
training, we will arrange experienced employees
to lead the junior staff for development of their
job skills and completion of jobs properly.

Training arrangement will vary in accordance with
different functions and projects. The scope of on
job trainings will generally include the following
topics:

Special construction requirements in the
Group's responsible project;

ii. Safety measures in the construction sites;
and

ii.  Environmental protection measures of
the Group/main contractor/property
developer.

Whenever appropriate, resources will be allocated
to support employees’ training to raise their
technical competence, and the Group will
support employees to participate in the relevant
development programmes from the Hong Kong
Institute of Construction which are accredited by
the Qualifications Framework.

In the construction sites, main contractors of
the Group's responsible projects generally will
provide safety training for participation by the
Group's employees. In event of the Group being
the main contractor, safety training will be
provided to the site workers in accordance with
the requirements stipulated by the developer.
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All employees are encouraged to enhance their
skills and knowledge in order to perform their
duties more efficiently and effectively. During the
Year, the Group provided approximately 79 hours
of training to its employees.

The Group encourages employees to strike a
balance between work and life. All employees
are encouraged to participate in the recreational
activities in order to enhance the team spirit,
employee’s sense of belonging and morale.

Labour Standard

The Group fully understands that exploitation of
child and forced labour is universally condemned,
and therefore takes the responsibilities against
child and forced labour very seriously. The Group
strictly complies with all laws and regulations
against child and forced labour. Internal policies
are also in place to ensure that no person who is
underage or under coercion is hired and, if any
such case is identified during the recruitment
process, it will report to the relevant authorities.

The Group places a significant emphasis
on developing human capital and provides
competitive remuneration and welfare packages.
Promotion opportunities and salary adjustments
are benchmarked against individual performance.
Employees are entitled to various fringe
benefits, such as annual leave, marriage leave,
compassionate leave and medical coverage, in
accordance with local regulations. With the well-
established benefit systems and support made to
its employees, the Group strives to retain talents
and envision the development of its employees.

The Group is not aware of any material non-
compliance with the Employment Ordinance of
Hong Kong, Employment of Children Regulations
of Hong Kong, Labour Law of the PRC, and
other applicable laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the Group relating to
preventing child or forced labour during the Year.
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B5  Supply Chain Management B5 {HEHRERE

The supply chain of the Group is mainly comprised AEEEEFEEEAM L ER

of material suppliers and subcontractors. Our oA - st Es ko

suppliers and subcontractors mainly include: BEEERE:

(i)  suppliers of timber, plywood, aluminium () R - iR - 88 REHRE
and steel mould, scaffolding equipment H . WRIZEREMEE
and other equipment; and mHRER - &

(i)  subcontractors such as carpenters and (i) ERBEMOERKEAZE
metal formwork erectors, who carry out the ERBODERE - AR
implementation of our formwork and other FREEERKGRT

construction services.

We have maintained a list of approved suppliers BMERERUBER D EHE
and subcontractors who are evaluated and HE - ZEHERRSEHER
approved by us, for assuring that the quality BEPIFE R - ARRRESE
of their supplies and services is of acceptable M EL MRS RERERAIES
standard. IR o

Selection of Material Suppliers BEM R

The Group will conduct initial assessment before AEBARRAEEE LD BEZ
adding any news supplier to our approved list of BT R A - ST
suppliers and subcontractors. We will proceed PG - BRPeSFFHRAR
annual performance evaluation of the suppliers ZEBEANREEHNRIE - AERE
on the approved list to ensure the quality of A B RN A EIKE o

goods are maintaining at acceptable level.
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Unless specific appointment by the main
contractors and/or property developers, the
Group will conduct assessment of material
suppliers in accordance with the following
selection criteria:

Quality and conditions of goods received

ii. On-time delivery

ii.  Adherence to pre-defined procedures and
instructions

iv.  Quality and timeliness of service

V. Reputation ad past reliability record

vi.  Technical capability

vii.  Environmental-friendly characteristics

It is common for our staff to visit the factory or
workshop of our suppliers for inspecting the
design and specifications of the ordered materials
or products, before arranging transportation of
materials to the construction sites.

Selection of Service Subcontractors

The Group will generally only engage
subcontractors on our approved list of
subcontractors, considering the nature and
complexity of each project and the availability of
our resources at the time.

The Group does not limit the engagement to
only the existing subcontractors on our approved
list. We will also consider cooperation with new
subcontractors so as to expand our base of
subcontractors and maintain a stable source of
labour for project implementation.
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We select our subcontractors based on a series of BB IE— R EREED B

criteria, including but not limited to: i BEETERR
Reputation i BE

ii.  Job arrangement, e.g. timely completion, i IELHE - miRFE
material utilization AR A

iii. Competence of management personnel, ii. BIEABRAESN KGR
e.g. complaint rate, adherence to site rules K B AR IR A

iv.  Working performance in the past, e.g. iv. BETIERIR WFE.
workmanship, technology used, quality of FRAEN RFEER - %
services, safety performance FRIB

v.  Site cleanliness v. HBREZIEE

vi. Environmentally product and service vii REFEBRRE®D@REHIRRKE
preferable AR %%

From time to time, the Group will review AREBBEBESBEHKRIET

and update our internal approved list of ?f? : T\E%ﬁﬂji%%ﬁﬁ{?ﬁﬂ’]ﬁ\]ﬁﬁ

subcontractors according to their performance RADEEat o RIBEB BB

evaluation. During project implementation, our B RPMEREEETHER

project managers will regularly meet with the BZEND B  WEYERHE

engaged subcontractors and closely monitor their TEEEMRKRIR -

work progress and performance.

During the Year, there was a total of 183 suppliers RAFE  AEBEHEERT
and subcontractors, amongst which 93 of them IBHREEFEDEE - EF 3
were based in Hong Kong and the remaining in KBEWLBNEE - ERREAF
PRC. °
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Management of Risks from Business Partners in the
Supply Chain

We are liable to our customers for the
performance of our subcontractors as well as any
potential employee’s compensation claims and
personal injuries claims made by the employees
of our subcontractors arising from work injuries
which may happen from time to time.

Therefore, the Group will carry out regular
assessments of our subcontractors during a
project to ensure quality and safety of their works.
Our project managers and foremen will conduct
regular site visits to ensure general compliance
by our subcontractors in all respects, particularly
safety and environmental requirements.
Any details of incident will be recorded and
investigated for subsequent proceedings.

If the supplier or subcontractor is not qualified in
the periodic evaluation, the Group shall review
the impact from those projects still delivered
during the valid period of partnership. If the
impact is significant, the partnership with
that specific supplier or subcontractor shall
be terminated in principle. If it is necessary
to continue the partnership under special
circumstances, the special reasons shall be
recorded in the evaluation files for future
reference and tracking.

Whenever appropriate, suppliers and
subcontractors in the supply chain will also be
evaluated on their operational compliance and
the other associated risks, such as compliance
in employment of labour, anti-corruption and
integrity practices, as well as business continuity,
etc., these aspects are evaluated for mitigation of
social risks along the Group's value chain.
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Mitigation of Environmental Risks in Supply Chain
Priority in Green Procurement

The Group prioritizes the use of materials
and services that do not impose significant
environmental impacts, therefore, as mentioned
in the previous section, environmental friendly
characteristics is one of the selection criteria for
assessment of material suppliers, with the aim
to mitigate the environmental risks in the supply
chain.

Also, as part of complying with the environmental
measures of our customers, we are required to
source timber and plywood from companies
complying with the requirements of an
international recognised certification system,
such as Programme for the Endorsement of
Forest Certification (PEFC) and Forest Stewardship
Council (FSC). PEFC and FSC provide assurance
that the timber and plywood materials used in our
construction projects originate from sustainably
managed sources.
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For mitigation of environmental risks, we may also
prioritize the purchase of timber and plywood
with some examples of the following green
specifications:

The content of free formaldehyde in
adhesives used in the product shall not
exceed 0.5 % by weight of the adhesive.

Formaldehyde Emission: All wood panels
shall be of Class E1 under EN13986 in
respect of formaldehyde emission.

The product shall not contain any heavy
metals or their compounds related to:
Arsenic, Cadmium, Copper, Lead, Mercury.

The following substances shall not be
added during manufacturing: elemental
chlorine, fluorine, PCP and tar oils
containing benzo[alpyrene.

The product shall have no flame retardant
of polybrominated biphenyl (PBB),
polybrominated diphenyl ether (PBDE) or
short-chain chlorinated paraffin added as
formulated components.
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B6

B7

Product Responsibility

When undertaking a formwork project, the
Group is generally responsible for project
planning and implementation, procurement
of materials, quality control and overall
management of our direct labour and workers
of our engaged subcontractors in carrying
out the implementation of formwork services
in accordance with the main contractors’
requirements and specifications.

The Group is committed to maintaining the
stability in project quality and timely completion,
as well as other faults which may exert negative
influence or delay the entire structure work of the
building construction projects.

Our Group has maintained insurance policies
which cover employees’ compensation for our
direct labour, personal accident, third party
liability, and public liability.

For the projects of formwork services undertaken
by the Group, the main contractors of the projects
are generally responsible for maintaining all
risks associated with their contractors, including
employees’ compensation and third party
insurance policies which generally cover liabilities
or claims in respect of (i) personal injury or death;
and (ii) damage to third party’s properties, as a
result of the performance of work undertaken by
the workers of the Group or our subcontractors.

Anti-corruption

The Group takes anti-corruption responsibilities
very seriously. The Group’s anti-corruption
policies set out the standards of conduct to
which all employees are required to adhere to.
The Group has designated hotlines and emails for
relevant stakeholders to report, in confidence, any
illegal or fraudulent behaviours to the Board.
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Employees making such reports are assured of
protection. The designated hotlines and emails
are available on the Company’s website at
http://www.chikanck.com. The Group has also
established a regularly review on its business
practices and anti-corruption measures and
guidelines, as well as reported improprieties
investigation.

The Group establishes an effective whistle-
blowing policy for reporting suspected
irregularities, fraud and corruption via specified
channels. The Group also continues to improve
its internal control and monitoring system. If
any irregularies are identified, the Group takes
immediate action and adopts a zero tolerance
approach to corruption.

During the Year, the Group has provided 12
training hours in relation to anti-corruption to its
staff.

The Group is not aware of any material non-
compliance with the Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance of Hong Kong, Law on Competition
of PRC and other applicable laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the Group
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering during the Year.

There is no legal case concerning corruption
brought against the Group or its employees
during the Year.

Community Involvement

The Group deems corporate social responsibility
being one of the key elements in fulfilment of
our values to the society, and therefore we are
seeking opportunities for collaboration with
different stakeholders to support activities
beneficial to the community and people in need.
With the goal to bring hope and support to the
needy people in community, our target scope
of community contribution may cover a wide
range of aspects like poverty alleviation, caring
visit, education sponsoring and other support to
charity activities.
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Shareholders of
Chi Kan Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Chi Kan
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”)
set out on pages 109 to 223, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2023, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the AUDITOR’S
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
VR EiE S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended 31
March 2023. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in

BRENEER

FRETZEARBERMNBENE  RERK
HZE2023F3 431 B L FE A HMEHRERNET =
BEZMEE ZEFTERNEMBTERESHH
BHRERTEAEERRERE  MEMATSHZSE
BiREBINESR

forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate

opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters

BREETER

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

EMnMEERERESNSER

Revenue recognition for provision of construction works
and recognition of contract assets (Refer to Notes 3(m),
5,7 and 17) to the consolidated financial statements)

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group's revenue as
recognised from provision of construction works amounted
to approximately HKS$1,373,748,000 and the Group's contract
assets as arisen from the provision of construction works
amounted to approximately HK$178,258,000 as at 31 March
2023.

Revenue from provision of construction works is recognised
over time by measuring the progress towards completion of
the Group’s performance obligations as set out in respective
contracts.

RUEZETERNKERARAGNEENRIZ (ZBS 68
BHRERHEE3mM) ~ 5 7%17)

HZE2023F3A831BLEFE - BEEEEREEETIED
U S RERR LD 31,373,748,00058 7T » T SEEBIRHEESE
TRRFESE 7 A KEER2023F3 H31 8 #/4178,258,000
BT °
HIREZETEORSRRE SEEESAOTPREDN
B4 E BER R RERR o

We performed the following procedures in assessing
management's estimates of revenue and contract assets
recognised for provision of construction works:

Obtained an understanding and evaluated the
key controls over the revenue and contract asset
recognition and determination of the completion
status of construction works including review and
approval procedures on project certificates and
progress reports;

Assessed the inherent risk of material misstatement
by considering the degree of estimation uncertainty
and the judgement involved in determining
assumptions to be applied and level of other
inherent risk factors such as complexity, subjectivity,
changes and susceptibility to management bias or
fraud;

BAVETT T A TR 7 AR BB W KR iR 5
TEMNBNEERR

TEREFERERGHNEERABAREERET
RRTHRENBRERER  BREERIIER
BEENREERE RS

FBREEMFTHREENEE  HERBBRRY
Ko o) ) e EoA B8 LR R =K (InE AR 1E ~ =
BiE  #RHXERERETZEREINGE)
RREIEEENE RN A Sl
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Independent Auditor’s Report
AN % BN R

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matters

BRETEE

BRETEE )

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

EMnMEERERESNSE

The Group has used the output method to estimate the
progress of each performance obligation satisfied over time
by reference to the value of construction works completed
to date (as certified by surveyors or other representatives
as appointed by customers (collectively the “external
independent parties”) or evaluated by the Group's internal
technicians or surveyor if such certifications from external
independent parties are not available) as a proportion of the
total contract value of the relevant construction contracts.
Contract assets arise when the Group has completed
certain construction works which are yet to be certified by
the external independent parties and the Group'’s right to
payment is still conditional on factors other than passage of
time.

The determination of the estimated value of the
construction works completed to date for different projects
involved significant management’s judgement and
estimates which may have significant impact on the amount
and timing of revenue recognised, especially in relation
to change in estimate of revenue and costs arising from
variation orders, litigation and claims with the customers
and sub-contractors, if any.

We focused on this area because the magnitude of revenue
as recognised from provision of construction works and the
contract assets as at the end of reporting period are significant
and determining the value of the construction works
completed to date for the purpose of recognising revenue
from provision of construction works over time involved
significant management’s judgement and estimates.

BEEECRARE A G ERETX S BEOTEAE
B ER2RESETHNEETREEEENSMRE
PRENEMAR (G [INEB 77 ) RE - I EE
BRINBEII ML EER - Al SEREREEMA
BRI EARHE) HHEEEZRS ONBENEELY - &

HEER BEBDTHANETERIEZHEINGBEL
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ELBAPE  BHEERREZE TEESKERK
K BEEDBANFBRBERNMETES(WE) -

BFEELTENRRENEERE PRER BRI EZ
ETERANEENRESHEA  MAETLS BRI
EEMNERTRENEENERRERBRHEZETRE
HyMas 8 K B TR B B BB K Il R A AT -

Obtained an understanding from the project
managers, internal quantity surveying managers
and the management of the Group of the status
of completion of the construction projects during
the year, on a sample basis, and checked to the
supporting documents such as contracts, variation
orders and correspondences with the customers
to evaluate progress, whether the project progress
was consistent with the stage of completion
of construction projects estimated by the
management;

Checked the revenue to underlying construction
contracts entered into with the customers and
other relevant correspondences and supporting
documents in respect of variations in construction
works or price adjustments;

WERAIERLRE  ABTHBAELER B
ERETHELBEARFANKRITER - I
AR EBEITRESKARPHRNTEFEN
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Independent Auditor’s Report
VR EiE S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matters

BEETER

BRETEE )

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

BN EERREETSR

Evaluated the accuracy of the construction costs
incurred during the year by agreeing to supplier
invoices or payment applications from sub-
contractors or other supporting documents, on a
sample basis;

Conducted site visits, on a sample basis, to discuss
with site personnel on the status of the project
and evaluate whether the project progress was
consistent with the agreed timetable;

Assessed management’s estimates on the value of
uncertified construction works completed to date
for different projects by inspecting the relevant
underlying supporting documents (e.g. evaluation
reports as prepared by the Group’s internal
technicians and surveyors, payment applications to
customers etc.), on a sample basis; and comparing
these to the latest certificates issued by the external
independent parties to evaluate the reasonableness
of the revenue recognised;

MERHERRERA D RN REFREM
BN - FHEFRE LA RER AR B

MERETEHRS - WRRIGA S5 & EREE
AR AE Ko m P4 TR B R 7 B 1 RE HO B PRI R AR AT
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Independent Auditor’s Report
SAVE PR S CIE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matters

BRETEER

BRETEE )

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

EPNMEEERESNSR

Evaluated the outcome of the prior period
assessment on the estimated value of the
construction works completed to date for different
projects (primarily focus on those construction
works as completed but not yet certified by external
independent parties) to assess the effectiveness of
management’s estimation process by comparing
with the actual value as subsequently certified by
external independent parties or the actual amounts
as subsequently settled by customers;

Assessed the reliability of the management'’s
estimation by comparing the actual costs of
completed construction contracts against their
budgets, on a sample basis;

Reviewed and assessed the reasonableness of
financial budget prepared by the management for
on-going construction contracts, on a sample basis,
and assessed whether expected loss on contracts
was properly recognised as an expense immediately;
and

Assessed the adequacy of the disclosures related to
the revenue recognition of construction contracts in
the context of HKFRS 15 disclosure requirements.

FHEHTRIER 250 TR EETENMEEE
BN EHFEER(EERTRZEFCTRER KR
RNERE S T REMRETIR) » BB BEINED
B EEREANEREEXEFPERAEENE
BRER  MILRHEERE 2 R 2 &
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Independent Auditor’s Report
VR EiE S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matters

BRETEE

BRETEE )

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

EMnmEEERETEE

Impairment assessment of trade receivables and
contract assets (Refer to Notes 3(f), 4(iii), 5 and 17) to the
consolidated financial statements)

As at 31 March 2023, the Group's net trade receivables and
contract assets amounted to approximately HK$174,562,000
and HKS$176,664,000 respectively, representing
approximately 25% and 25% of the total assets of the Group
respectively. The Group's aggregate lifetime expected
credit loss ("ECL") on contract assets as at 31 March 2023
amounting to approximately HK$1,594,000. And there was
no ECL provided on trade receivables.

The management of the Company performed periodic
assessment on the recoverability of the trade receivables
and contract assets and the sufficiency of the allowance for
ECL.

EZREWRERGHNEENRETG(SHEEHTHHRE
FEEE3(F) - 4iii) ~ 5/%17)

R2023F38318H EBEEBEMNESEKRFEFENLE
29 E& E D B # 5174,562,000 7 7T & 176,664,000 78 TT
DRIME BEBEMREEL25%K%25% ° 72023F 3 A 31
B EBS£BAYNEENZHEHEESE([EHREE
E518 ) AAKE 49 51,594,0008 ¢ © Bt ERLE 5 E W IE
ELTE R E 1B A -

BERAEEEEHHMEEZREFARENEENA O
WiERARFEREEBRREGHENTRM -

We performed the following procedures in assessing
management’s impairment assessment of trade receivables
and contract assets:

Obtained an understanding and evaluated the key
control and procedures for managing, monitoring
the billing and collection process and assessing
the recoverability of trade receivables and contract
assets;

Assessed the inherent risk of material misstatement
by considering the degree of estimation uncertainty
and the judgement involved in determining
assumptions to be applied and level of other
inherent risk factors such as complexity, subjectivity,
changes and susceptibility to management bias or
fraud;

Obtained the ageing analysis of trade receivables
and contract assets and discussed with the
management about their evaluation of the
background, financial capability of the debtors
and their credit assessment that the amounts were
recoverable;

BAEETTATRFAMEEEEYE FEUKEAR
BHRBEERRERNE
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Independent Auditor’s Report
AN % BN R

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matters

BRETEER

BRREITEEE)

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

EPNMEERERESNSR

Management'’s estimate of the amount of loss allowance
for trade receivables and contract assets was based on the
credit risk of respective trade receivables and contract assets
after considering the credit profile of respective customers,
ageing analysis, historical settlement records, and on-
going trading relationship with the relevant customers.
The management also considered the forward-looking
information that may impact the customers’ ability to repay
the outstanding balances.

We focused on this area due to the significant judgement
and estimates involved in the management’s assessment of
the recoverability of the customers.

EREHESIRUFBERANEESERBBSENMG
DBEREREGREFERANEENEERRMIE
b BEREREBTEOERMRRI Rk BLE
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EEFEEREEBRENNAELEER -

I IR FE AT A B P A B UG AR R B O e B K I K
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Tested the integrity of information used to develop
the provision method, including ageing analysis of
trade receivables and contract assets, on a sample
basis, to the underlying financial records and post
year end settlements;

Assessed the appropriateness of the provisioning
methodology and challenged the management’s
basis and judgement in determining loss allowance
on trade receivables and contract assets at the
reporting date, including the reasonableness of
grouping in the provision matrix, the basis of
estimation of loss rates for debtors and forward-
looking information;

Tested the accuracy and completeness of key data
used by the management to determine the ECL, on a
sample basis; and

Evaluated the adequacy and appropriateness of
disclosures regarding the impairment assessment
of trade receivables and contract assets in the
consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
VR EiE S

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the all the information
included in the annual report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of the other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the audit committee
in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
AN % BN R

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms
of engagement and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's
internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors of the Company.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
VR EiE S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
AR EiE S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

Moore Stephens CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hung, Wan Fong Joanne
Practising Certificate Number: P05419

Hong Kong, 26 June 2023
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
EXaeal e

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HZE2023F3A31HIEFE

Year ended 31 March
BZE3A3HLLEE

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
hE=2 THExT FATT
Revenue i 23 7 1,623,573 1,574,341
Cost of sales and services $HE N ARFEE AN (1,402,403) (1,251,901)
Gross profit EX 221,170 322,440
Other income E A YA 7 22,139 1,869
Impairment loss on contract assets AHEERERE 17 (1,594) -
Selling and administrative expenses HE MITHEFEX (167,180) (245,467)
Fair value loss on financial asset at BAFEGAEE( &
fair value through profit or loss (‘FVPL")  AF{EFFAEZE ] Z
TREEZATE
&8 15 (545) (338)
Operating profit R T 73,990 78,504
Finance income, net RMEWA - FEE 10 442 900
Profit before income tax BRFT 88 A& F 8 74,432 79,404
Income tax expense e 11 (12,567) (19,952)
Profit for the year FRERF 61,865 59,452
Profit for the year attributable to: AR % 7 A F REF -
Owners of the Company ViN/NETEZZ =N 53,501 38,751
Non-controlling interest AR = 8,364 20,701
61,865 59,452
Earnings per share attributable to ARARHEEAEBESR
owners of the Company Z7 12
Basic and diluted ERREE HK cents 5.357% 1l  HK cents 3.88/& 1l
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

N CES e
=2 N m

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BZE2023F3A31HIEFE

Year ended 31 March
BZE3A31HILLEE

2023 2022
2023%F 2022%F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
(ks FTExT FHET
Profit for the year F R F 61,865 59,452
Other comprehensive (loss)/income  FREM2E (&E)
for the year, net of tax Wz (HIRRBIE)
Item that may be reclassified subsequently ~ B 1# [t EF S =18
to profit or loss A IE B
Exchange difference on translation of HEGINETSIE H =5
foreign operations (4,500) 1,403
Total comprehensive income FRE2AEKWZEE
for the year 57,365 60,855
Total comprehensive income AT &FEEZEKE
attributable to: wE
Owners of the Company ZIN/NETEZ SN 49,512 40,063
Non-controlling interest FEPE R S 27 7,853 20,792
57,365 60,855

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income

should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

B SBANR
31 March 2023
2023F3H31H

As at 31 March

M3A31H
2023 2022
20234 20224F
Notes HKS$'000 HKS'000
B 5T FET F&TT
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property and equipment s EINE 14 2,957 2,227
Financial asset at FVPL BRATEEABEZ
TREE 15 1,686 2,417
Deposits b 18 136 =
4,779 4,644
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 16 8,242 8,950
Trade receivables Z 5 WA 17 174,562 96,952
Contract assets BHEE 17 176,664 223,788
Prepayments, deposits and other ENRIE - Ze &k
receivables H it e U R IE 18 968 3,382
Tax recoverable EEN & = 2,335
Restricted cash ZRFIR e 19 27,500 17,500
Cash at banks and on hand RITRESRFHERS 19 318,830 217,901
706,766 570,808
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade payables B S ENTIR 20 181,406 110,204
Accruals and other payables JEETE R N E b e
RIF 21 39,132 42,938
Bank borrowings RITEN 22 27,000 15,000
Lease liabilities HERE 23 1,135 566
Tax payable FETFRIE 6,293 1,974
254,966 170,682
Net current assets REEERE 451,800 400,126
Total assets less current liabilities BEHABRARBERS 456,579 404,770
Non-current liability FRBEE
Lease liabilities HEaE 23 1,339 1,218
Net assets BEEFE 455,240 403,552

Annual Report 2023 3R
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

B HF BRI R

31 March 2023
20233 H31H
As at 31 March
M3H31H
2023 2022
20234 2022%F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Lik: FET FHET
Capital and reserves B #E
Share capital &4 24 10,000 10,000
Share premium B =B 120,421 120,421
Reserves HiE 315,130 265,618
Capital and reserves attributable to RRTEE ANELRA
owners of the Company N 445,551 396,039
Non-controlling interest IR R = 27 9,689 7,513
455,240 403,552

The consolidated financial statements on pages 116 to 223 were SN E 11622238 2 A H IS HRERE 1K 2023F6 A
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 26 26 R EEE S RRENZ - THUATEER

June 2023 and were signed on its behalf. RRE o
Lo Hon Kwong Chan May Kiu
Director Director
EF EE

o

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be  F7l| 2 & GFEATEAR L R FE BB 7 — GBI a8
read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
SR EDE

For the year ended 31 March 2023

HE2023F3A31AILEFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

KAREE AR
Non-
Share Share Statutory Exchange Retained controlling Total
capital premium reserve’ reserve’ eamings* Total interest equity
i RERE  iERE  EXRE  REEW @i FhRES RAEE
HKS'000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HK9000 HKS'000 HKY000 HKS'000 HKY000
Thn AL Tt AT T Thn S Thn
(Note 24) (Note () (Note (i) (Note (i) (Note 27)
(Bizk2) (Fizk0) (k) (ko) (i)
Asat 1 April 2021 HonE4f1A 10000 120421 - 1114 D441 35597 30 359010
Proficforthe year EREH - - - - 3751 %751 0701 59452
Other comprehensive income forthe year ERif2ag - - - 1312 - 1312 9l 1403
Total comprehensive income for the year ERrElREE - - - 1312 3751 40063 279 60855
Transactions with owners n their capacity EEEANEREASD
3 onners VEGE
Dividend paid to non-controling Interests RATEERERZRE
(Note 27) (Het27) - - - - - - (16313) (16313
Transerto statutary eserve BETETRRE - - 369 - (3699 - - .
- . 36 - 3659 S (e
As at 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 202238318 R2022F 415 10,000 120421 3,699 2426 259493 396,039 1513 403,552
Proftfor the year Eigh - - - - 53,501 53,501 8,364 61,865
Other comprehensivelos for the year FREhRERE - - - (3,989) - (3,989) (511) (4,500)
Total comprehensive income for the year A ] - - - (3989) 53,501 49512 7853 57,365
Transactions with owners in ther capacity SEEANEEEASH
35 oWners: PR
Dividend paid to non-controling nterests XNTHARER RS
(Note 27) (W) - - - - - - (5,677) (5617)
Transfer to statutory reserve ERniThE - - 3840 - (3840) - - -
- - 3840 - (3840) - G (67
Asat 31 March 203 M RA 10,000 120421 1,539 (1,563) 309,154 445,551 9,689 455,240
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
HEREPE

For the

year ended 31 March 2023

HE2023F3A31HLEFE

Notes:

(iii)

Share premium account of the Group represents the excess of the
proceeds received over the nominal value of the Company’s shares
issued.

In accordance with the Company Law of the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC"), the Company's subsidiaries registered in the PRC
are required to appropriate 10% of the annual statutory profit after tax
(after offsetting any prior years' losses), as determined under the China
Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises and other relevant
regulations issued by the Ministry of Finance of the PRC (“MOF"), to
the statutory reserve until the balance of the reserve fund reaches
50% of the entity’s registered capital. Subject to the approval of equity
shareholders of the Company, statutory reserve may be used to net off
against accumulated losses, if any, and may be converted into capital,
provided the remaining balance of the statutory reserve is not less
than 25% of registered capital.

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences
arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations.

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of
approximately HK$315,130,000 (2022: HK$265,618,000) in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be

read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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(iii)
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mR B A 0 BB 1 B 2B S R A TR B 18 v A1 (A€
BB EFE 2 E518)10% (B B R TYiREF
BB B b ([ BA R ED ) M 2 PRI &R R
Hi AR AER ) BB EEEHE  EERES
R EBERBCFMERMNS0% - AR AIMRE
BOERERT AT A& AR R5HEE (4
A) MAEBEEAAN  HARETRENRET
HER M E AR K9 25% o

EXREREREBINEBNEBHRRMELZ
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M EFEREREE FY MR RERAL315130,000
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
A\ [ ANy gl —1

EHBEERER

For the year ended 31 March 2023

HE2023F3A31AILEFE

Year ended 31 March

HE3ANALEE
2023 2022
20235 20226
Notes HK$'000 HKS$'000
(o3 TERT FAT
Cash flows from operating activities RETHESRE
Cash generated from operations SEMSHES 28(a) 118,259 50,034
Income tax paid B TSR (5,765) (16,605)
Net cash generated from operating RETEHFEESTFE
activities 112,494 33429
Cash flows from investing activities REZHERLSHRE
Payments for property and equipment R EYVE T INEN (1,922) (273)
Proceeds for disposal of property and HEDMEREREY
equipment FT1S5%3E 1,636 =
Placement of restricted cash FAZRHIRE (10,000) -
Interest received EAESS 1,832 1,448
Purchase of financial asset at FVPL BERATEFABRN
CREE - (2,705)
Net cash used in investing activities REZHFMARSFHE (8,454) (1,530)
Cash flows from financing activities BMETBHRESRE
Principal portion of lease payments element T ER D Z A& 25 28(b) (1,208) (839)
Proceeds from bank borrowings, net RITIENZFEFIE - F8  280b) 12,000 5,000
Interest paid ERFIE 28(b) (1,390) (548)
Dividend paid to non-controlling interest Sz FIEIEMRERS 2 A% B 27 (5,677) (16,313)
Net cash generated from/(used in) BMETHHE
financing activities (TR BR&3E 3,725 (12,700)
Increase in cash and cash equivalents R kRS EEMEM 107,765 19,199
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FUREFIREEEY
of the year 217,901 196,797
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash IR & RIRE&EHBYH
and cash equivalents RS g (6,836) 1,905
Cash and cash equivalents at end of FRESRESEEY
the year 19 318,830 217,901

o

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in  _E3I| 2 & 33 € i = 3k FE LM 7 — G308
conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BB RERMIFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Chi Kan Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
in the Cayman Islands on 16 April 2018 as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law (Cap.
22, Law 3 of 1961 as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands. The address of the Company's registered office is P.O.
Box 1350, Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, Grand Cayman
KY1-1108, Cayman Islands. The principal place of business is
located at Room 1008 and 1009, 10/F., China Shipbuilding
Tower, 650 Cheung Sha Wan Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong. The
shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on
14 August 2020.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) are
principally engaged in the provision of formwork services and
other construction services in Hong Kong and e-commerce
business in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC").

The ultimate holding company of the Company is Magnificent
Faith Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands (the “BVI"), and the controlling shareholder is Mr. Lo
Hon Kwong (“Mr. Lo"), who is also the chairman and executive
director of the Company.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs"), which includes all individual applicable HKFRSs,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and the disclosure requirements of Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”).

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for certain
financial instruments which are measured at fair value.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars ("HKS"), unless otherwise stated, which is the
same as the functional currency of the Company. All values
are rounded to the nearest thousands (HK$'000) except when
otherwise indicated.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AT ERER MR

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to
exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group'’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements, are disclosed in Note 5 below.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

The principal accounting policies and methods of
computation used by the Group in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2023 are consistent with those applied in the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2022, except
for the application of the amendments to HKFRSs as explained
in below.

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for
the current year

In the preparation of the consolidated financial statements

for the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group has applied the

following amendments to HKFRSs, for the first time, which are

mandatorily effective for the annual periods beginning on or

after 1 April 2022:

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

Property, Plant and Equipment —
Proceeds before Intended Use

Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018-2020

Amendments to HKAS 16
Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRSs

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current
year has had no material impact on the Group’s financial
positions and performance for the current and prior years
and/or on the disclosures set out in the consolidated financial
statements.

RBEE )

RET & BEMBREE 2 A GUBERE
FEEMETHARGH G - ERENAHE
FERREBEERE LA - PRES
REHE SRR - KRR R Y
AGMBERR AT EATENRLN T M
SR ©

EXRSTTHEREBE

B ERRRBREZ28

A E R BAE = 2023F3 A31 EiiFZA
HUERREMERAZ EE TR &
TR RSB E 20223 A31H iiEZé
RIS RR AT A S — B - MEERA T ATt
BB IR E LR (IBETA) BRI ©

FEE BB LR E BB IHREER (15T F)

REREE2023F3A31HILFEA IR
wRE - AEBEHNERTNIBBHERE
ER(BE]A) - BEIEFI AR 2022F4 A1
H sk 2 & Fis a0 FE HRR Sl ARk

E;ﬁfﬁﬁ%iﬁ AR BERIEZR 2R
FEIRUBETA)

BB SERE16 WE - BELEE—
ACCHES) E BB AIFT S RIE

BB G ERFE BRAY-EITA ,%UEI’J

FUSETA) R AR

EBGHIREER BB BHREER

CCHEY) 2018F F 20205 2
FEEE

AERRAETBYBRE L (EFIR)HA
SERAFEMBEFEZH BN KR

R/ A BRERMB RELBEAF
@,
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BT RN

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.
POLICIES (continued)

Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)
New or amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
The Group has not applied the following new or amendments

to HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in
the consolidated financial statements.

BEREFTHEBRE )

B BRERREZ2E(F

E AR {8 [ R £ R 2 Fa] AR IS 5T & B A1 7
HEER

AEBEYWEES M BHRERPEATIICR
frfB R R AR FT R AR IER] BB RS

g -

Effective for annual

periods beginning

on or after

AT RS2

&R FEHREN
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 1 January 2023
BRMBREERZ TR FBRAH W3EIRIA
Amendments to HKFRS 4 Extension of the Temporary Exemption from Applying HKFRS 9 1 January 203
BEMBRE LR () LRERBANFRSENBRNERAL W351A18

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

BRUBREENE 0% RE AL ERE 8% (BT K)
Amendments to HKFRS 16
BRUBREENZ 1658 (B3TA)

Amendments to HKAS 1

BEEHEAR % (BAAR)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Bhes R IR REAN BRSEUERHRE S
(iB1%)

Amendments to HKAS 8

BEE RN (A1)

Amendments to HKAS 12

BREF BN R (BTE)

Amendments to HKAS 1

BRI EAR 1% (B

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

REEEEREN ISR e X ANERLERTE

Lease Liability in a Sale and L easeback

ERREnRESRE

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

REBARBRDIERDURBERRE S (2020F) 2 BBET

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

SHHRNEE

Definition of Accounting Estimates

St EENTES

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction
REE-RHMEERRE L ABETHE

Non-current liability with covenants

GRS P I
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No effective date yet to be
determined

HEENEE &

1 January 2024

WUEIATE

1 January 2024
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1 January 2023
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1 January 2023
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1 January 2023
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EASHBEME %)

POLICIES (continued)

Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (continued)

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
what the impact of these developments is expected to be
in the period of initial application. So far the directors of the
Company have concluded that the application of them is
unlikely to have a significant impact on the consolidated
financial statements.

(a) Basis of consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company.
Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the investee and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the investee. The Group has
power over an entity when the Group has existing
rights that give it the current ability to direct the
relevant activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect
the entity’s returns. When assessing control, the Group
considers its potential voting rights as well as potential
voting rights held by other parties. A potential voting
right is considered only if the holder has the practical
ability to exercise that right.

B BERRE2RE(E)

B AB 8 [ R £ R 2 Fa] RABME 5] & B R 7
HEER(E)

AREBEAENEN B RERRARNRNZEN
RIEAIRERIAZEE - 25 AARES
TE BN e A2 SRR A RAERT AN KA BE &
EHMBERBRERTE

(a) #HEEE

MBAREARARHEERKEESR
ZHIENER(BREBEER)
EAKBEREBES2EAERFTAR
BHRAI RO RRBERN - WhE
HRAKREHSEREENZELD RS
B RREEGEHE - EXAKEN
RAEENETHEE A5 A B =55 (A
RIBFEBEROIHRNER) ZRENE
AIAREEZERITERE S - E-HE
THIER  AEEEEERBERE
BAREMALRB BT -
EERBEABERENTEEELRR
BZBERT - TEEREEER -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BB RERMIFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(a)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than
a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee,
the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances
in assessing whether it has power over an investee,
including:

(@)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c)  the Group's voting rights and potential voting
rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company,
using consistent accounting policies. The results
of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on
which the Group obtains control and continue to be
consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners
of the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling
interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets
and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation. Unrealised losses
resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in
the same way as unrealised gains but only to the extent
that there is no evidence of impairment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(a)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to
the Company, and in respect of which the Group has
not agreed any additional terms with the holders of
those interests which would result in the Group as a
whole having a contractual obligation in respect of
those interests that meets the definition of a financial
liability. Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position within
equity, separately from equity attributable to the equity
shareholders of the Company. Non-controlling interests
in the results of the Group are presented on the face of
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
as an allocation of the total profit or loss and total
comprehensive income for the year between non-
controlling interests and the equity shareholders of the
Company.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements
of control described above. Changes in the Group’s
interests in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss
of control are accounted for as equity transactions
(i.e. transactions with owners in their capacity as
owners’ The carrying amounts of the controlling and
non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the
changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any
difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of
the consideration paid or received is recognised directly
in equity and attributed to the equity shareholders of
the Company.

3.

BEREFTHERE )

(a)

REEE(E

FFEBERIELIFA AR R EELHE
BERMBARRIENER  RAKE
WAREZFEROTAAZREME
SMER - IEMSAEEER LHZE
REELANMER RENAZR
BEMER - JFERERIING Y
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BB RERMIFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(a)

(b)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill) and
liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of
any non-controlling interest and (iii) the cumulative
translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration
received, (ii) the fair value of any investment retained
and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss.
The Group's share of components previously recognised
in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit
or loss or retained earnings, as appropriate, on the same
basis as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries is stated at cost less
impairment losses (see Note 3(b)),
investment is classified as held for sale.

unless the

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required (other
than inventories, contract assets, deferred tax assets,
financial assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher
of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and
its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for
an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate
cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case
the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(b)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in
the period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may no longer
exist or may have decreased. If such an indication exists,
the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously
recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change
in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than
the carrying amount that would have been determined
(net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited
to profit or loss in the period in which it arises.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BB RERMIFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(c)

Property and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses. The cost of an item of property and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property and
equipment have been put into operation, such as
repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to
profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In
situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied,
the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised
in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement.
Where significant parts of property and equipment
are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific
useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis
to write off the cost of each item of property and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful
life. The principal useful lives for this purpose are as
follows:
Leasehold improvement  20% or over the lease term,
whichever is shorter
Motor vehicles under 30% or over the lease term,
hire purchase
arrangement
Motor vehicles

whichever is shorter

30% or over the lease term,
whichever is shorter
Furniture, fixtures and 20% to 33%

equipment

The assets residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(c)

(d)

Property and equipment (continued)

Where parts of an item of property and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on
disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in the
year the asset is derecognised is the difference between
the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
relevant asset.

Leases
A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys

the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BB RERMIFE

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (continued)

(d)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one
or more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to
each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-
alone price of the lease component and the aggregate
stand-alone price of the non-lease components. Non-
lease components are separated from lease component
on the basis of their relative stand-alone prices.

The Group applies a single recognition and
measurement approach for all leases, except for short-
term leases and leases of low-value assets. The Group
recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and
right-of-use assets representing the right to use the
underlying assets.

(a) Right-of-use assets

the amount of the initial measurement of
the lease liability;

any lease payments made at or before
the commencement date, less any lease
incentives received;

any initial direct costs incurred by the
Group; and

an estimate of costs to be incurred by
the Group in dismantling and removing
the underlying assets, restoring the site
on which it is located or restoring the
underlying asset to the condition required
by the terms and conditions of the lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(d) Leases (continued)

(a)

(b)

Right-of-use assets (continued)

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the
date the underlying asset is available for use).
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of
lease liabilities other than adjustments to lease
liabilities resulting from Covid-19-related rent
concessions in which the Group applied the
practical expedient.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-
line basis over the shorter of the lease terms
and the estimated useful lives of the assets.
If ownership of the leased asset transfers to
the Group by the end of the lease term or the
cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated
useful life of the asset.

The Group includes right-of-use assets in property
and equipment on the consolidated statement of
financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted
under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”)
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments
to fair value at initial recognition are considered
as additional lease payments and included in the
cost of right-of-use assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BT RN

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(d) Leases (continued)

(c)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognized at the
commencement date of the lease at the present
value of lease payments to be made over the lease
term. The lease payments include fixed payments
(including in-substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable, variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a rate, and
amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the
exercise price of a purchase option reasonably
certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease,
if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the
option to terminate the lease. The variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate are recognised as an expense in the period
in which the event or condition that triggers the
payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses its incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement date
because the interest rate implicit in the lease is
not readily determinable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities
are adjusted by interest accretion and lease
payments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.
POLICIES (continued)

EASTHERE 5

(d) Leases (continued) (dy HEE)

HEEE(E)

(c) Lease liabilities (continued) (c)

HRETMER  AEBEEH

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes

a corresponding adjustment to the related right- =HEAE - WAAREFAZRED
of-use assets) whenever: REEE :

the lease term has changed or there is a
change in the assessment of exercise of a
purchase option, in which case the related
lease liability is remeasured by discounting
the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

the lease payments change due to changes
in market rental rates following a market
rent review/expected payment under a
guaranteed residual value in which cases
the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments
using the initial discount rate.
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The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of
financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BB RERMIFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(d) Leases (continued)

(d)

Lease modifications

Except for Covid-19-related rent concessions in
which the Group applied the practical expedient,
the Group accounts for a lease modification as a
separate lease if:

the modification increases the scope of the
lease by adding the right to use one or more
underlying assets; and

the consideration for the leases increases by
an amount commensurate with the stand-
alone price for the increase in scope and
any appropriate adjustments to that stand-
alone price to reflect the circumstances of
the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted
for as a separate lease, the Group remeasures
the lease liability based on the lease term of the
modified lease by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the
effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement
of lease liabilities by making corresponding
adjustments to the relevant right-of-use asset.
When the modified contract contains a lease
component and one or more additional lease or
non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the modified contract to each
lease component on the basis of the relative
stand-alone price of the lease component and
the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(d) Leases (continued)

(e)

Covid-19-related rent concessions

In relation to rent concessions that occurred as
a direct consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic,
the Group has elected to apply the practical
expedient not to assess whether the change
is a lease modification if all of the following
conditions are met:

the change in lease payments results in
revised consideration for the lease that is
substantially the same as, or less than, the
consideration for the lease immediately
preceding the change;

any reduction in lease payments affects
only payments originally due on or before
30 June 2022; and

there is no substantive change to other
terms and conditions of the lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient
accounts for changes in lease payments resulting
from rent concessions the same way as if the
changes are not lease modifications. Forgiveness
or waiver of lease payments are accounted for
as variable lease payments. The related lease
liabilities are adjusted to reflect the amounts
forgiven or waived with a corresponding
adjustment recognised in the profit or loss in the
period in which the event occurs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PRI ERAR PT E

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(e)

(f)

Inventories

The amount of any write-down of inventories to
net realisable value and all losses of inventories are
recognised as an expense in the period the write-down
or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-
down of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the
amount of inventories recognised as an income in the
period in which the reversal occurs.

Financial instruments
Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of
financial assets are recognised and derecognised on
a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales
are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place.

Classification and subsequent measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) and
FVPL.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI

3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (continued)

(f)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement (continued)

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash
flows characteristics and the Group's business model
for managing them. With the exception of trade
receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group initially
measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the
case of a financial asset not at FVPL, transaction costs.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of financial assets at FVPL are recognised immediately
in profit or loss. Trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient are measured
at the transaction price determined under HKFRS 15
in accordance with the policies set out for Revenue
recognition below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost, it needs to give rise to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
("SPPI") on the principal amount outstanding. Financial
assets with cash flows that are not SPPI and not
designated to be measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income are classified and measured at
FVPL, irrespective of the business model.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BB RERMIFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (continued)

(f)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement (continued)

The Group’s business model for managing financial
assets refers to how it manages its financial assets
in order to generate cash flows. The business model
determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial
assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured
at amortised cost are held within a business model with
the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified
and measured at FVOCI are held within a business
model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured
at FVPL, except that at the date of initial application/
initial recognition of a financial asset the Group may
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in
fair value of an equity investment in OCI if that equity
investment is neither held for trading nor contingent
consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations
applies.

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVOCI or designated as
FVOCI are measured at FVPL. Financial assets at FVPL
are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting
period, with any fair value gains or losses recognised in
profit or loss. The net gain or loss excludes any dividend
or interest earned on the financial asset is separately
recognised and disclosed in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (continued)

(f)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial
liability and of allocating interest income and interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest
rate (the "EIR") is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts and payments (including
all fees and points paid or received that form an integral
part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected
life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

The Group’s financial assets at amortised cost include
trade receivables, deposits and other receivables and
cash and cash equivalents.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the
Group's consolidated statements of financial position)
when:

the rights to receive cash flows from the asset
have expired; or
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PRI ERAR PT E

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (continued)

(f)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation
to pay the received cash flows in full without
material delay to a third party under a pass-
through arrangement; and either (a) the Group
has transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred
control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-
through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent,
it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership of
the asset. When it has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the Group continues
to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the
Group's continuing involvement. In that case, the Group
also recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a
basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the
lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and
the maximum amount of consideration that the Group
could be required to repay.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AT ERER MR

3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (continued)

(f)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the
expected credit losses associated with its assets
carried at amortised cost. Expected credit losses are a
probability-weighted estimate of credit losses (i.e. the
present value of all cash shortfalls) over the expected
life of the financial assets. The impairment methodology
applied depends on whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of
the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
(“12-m ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessment are done based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at
the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables and contract assets. For all other financial
assets, the Group measures the loss allowance equal to
12m ECL, unless there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition, in which case
the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of
whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PRI ERAR PT E

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (continued)

(f)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Significant increase in credit risk

The Group considers the probability of default upon
initial recognition of, a financial asset and whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk on
an ongoing basis throughout each reporting period. To
assess whether there is a significant increase in credit
risk, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring
on the asset as at the reporting date with the risk of
default as at the date of initial recognition. It considers
available reasonable and supportive forward-looking
information. Especially the following indicators are
incorporated:

actual or expected significant adverse changes in
external credit rating of the debtors;

actual or expected significant adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant change to the
debtors’ ability to meet their obligations;

actual or expected significant changes in the
operating results of the debtors;

significant increases in credit risk on other
financial instruments of the same debtor; and

significant changes in the expected performance
and behaviour of the debtors, including changes
in the payment status of debtors and changes in
the operating results of the debtors.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AT ERER MR

3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (continued)

(f)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

[rrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Note 4(iii) details how the Group determines whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk.
The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account
any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

The Group rebutted the presumption of default under
ECL model for trade receivables over 90 days past
due based on the good repayment records for those
customers with continuous partial settlement.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BB RERMIFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (continued)

(f)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would
not otherwise consider; or

it is becoming probable that the borrower will
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

Werite-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, for example, when the counterparty has
been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off
may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI

3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (continued)

(f)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that
is determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for
cases where evidence at the individual instrument level
may not yet be available, the financial instruments are
grouped on the basis:

Past-due status; and
Nature, size and industry of debtors.
The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to

ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BT RN

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (continued)

(f)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group
applies the simplified approach permitted by HKFRS
9, which requires expected lifetime losses to be
recognised from initial recognition of the assets.
The ECL on trade receivables and contract assets
are assessed individually for debtors with significant
balances and collectively for other debtors based on
the Group's internal credit rating, historical credit loss
experience and expected settlement dates, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the
current as well as the forecast direction of conditions
at the reporting date, including time value of money
where appropriate.

At every reporting date, the estimated default rates
are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking
estimates are considered.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECL
is the maximum contractual period over which the
Group is exposed to credit risk.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a
financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime
ECL in the previous reporting period, but determines
at the current reporting date that the conditions for
lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Group measures the
loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-m ECL at the
current reporting date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AT ERER MR

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (continued)

(f)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

ECL is measured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk since
initial recognition. Any change in the ECL amount
is recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss. The Group recognises an impairment gain or
loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss
allowance account.

Financial liabilities

Classification and subsequent measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition,
as financial liabilities at FVPL, loans and borrowings,
payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables,
net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities at amortised cost include
trade payables, other payables and accruals, lease
liabilities and bank borrowings.

After initial recognition, the financial liabilities are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation
is included as finance costs in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PRI ERAR PT E

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (continued)

(f)

(9)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities (continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when, and only
when, the obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is renegotiated in
such a way that the liability is extinguished fully or
partially by issuing equity instruments, it is accounted
for as an extinguishment of the original financial liability
and a recognition of equity instrument at the fair value
upon issue with the difference between the carrying
amount of the financial liability (or part of the financial
liability) extinguished and the consideration paid
(being the fair value of the equity instruments issued),
recognised to profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and
the net amount is reported in the statement of financial
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to
offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention
to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle
the liabilities simultaneously.

Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash
on hand and demand deposits, and short term highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity of
generally within three months when acquired, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management.

Cash that is restricted from withdrawal, from use or from
being pledged as security is reported separately in the
consolidated statement of financial position, and is not
included in the total cash and cash equivalents in the
consolidated statement of cash flows.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(h)

(i)

1)

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of
new shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of
tax, from the proceeds.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past
events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will
be required to settle the obligation and the amount can
be reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for
future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement
is determined by considering the class of obligations as
a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood
of an outflow with respect to any one item included in
the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of
management’s best estimate of the expenditure
required to settle the present obligation at the end
of the reporting period. The discount rate used to
determine the present value is a pre-tax rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the liability. The increase
in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised
as interest expense.

Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises
from past events and whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one
or more uncertain future events not wholly within the
control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation
arising from past events that is not recognised because
it is not probable that outflow of economic resources
will be required or the amount of obligation cannot be
measured reliably.

3.

BEREFTHERE )

(h)

(i)

1)

BOTHBRNDERXBENEERANE
=5 B PT S SIRHBIR (R TIR)

BE

EAKERNBESHARERB LR
SMEEME  METEESRAES
ZERAG  BABMSEEFELTSE
RS  SREREE - MAEAR
AR & B IR TR L B o

WERZBEUEE  BREFEER
MEABTEEDKEBREBEMER
RRETE - AMERRERERER—
HHERERREOAEETK - D8
PR -

BREREEBHNBEMRETRE
BEEMMEX L &EGORER
E-AREERENURREISRRE
BHEHERKEERABEFERR
Y PG B BE A I R o 5 B [ AT 4 T 38
MR EER RN SR -

FREE

IARBERENBESHMAIEESE
MEME BFEEZRKETEAIIE
RN —IAKRZ AW IR EEA] T2 E
BT ESHRETELE S i
T XRBBENAREEASBENSE
sl BMREEE - EHRAIET
FERLKBEER  HETSFARRE
Al SEdbET E M ORA MR o

Annual Report 2023 %% Chi Kan Holdings Limited 5 £13% i B[R A &) 1 45



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BB RERMIFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(k)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries
in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on
all temporary differences at the end of the reporting
period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

when the deferred tax liability arises from the
initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss; and

in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
when the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable
that the temporary differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(k)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused
tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward
of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;
and

in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future
and taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting
period and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be recovered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BB RERMIFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(k)

U

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right
to set off current tax asset and current tax liabilities
and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities
relating to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the same taxable entity or different
taxable entities which intend either to settle current
tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the
assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each
future period in which significant amounts of deferred
tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.

Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the
grant will be received and the Group will comply with
all attached conditions. Government grants relating to
costs are deferred and recognised in the profit or loss
over the period necessary to match them with the costs
that they are intended to compensate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(m)

Revenue recognition

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service
(or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a
series of distinct goods or services that are substantially
the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group's
performance as the Group performs;

The Group's performance creates and enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

The Group’s performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the distinct good
or service.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PRI ERAR PT E

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(m)

Revenue recognition (continued)
Variable consideration

For contracts that contain variable consideration
(variation order of construction work), the Group
estimates the amount of consideration to which it will
be entitled using the most likely amount.

The estimated amount of variable consideration is
included in the transaction price only to the extent that
is highly probable that such an inclusion will not result
in a significant revenue reversal in the future when the
uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.

When there is change in circumstances, the Group
updates the estimated transaction price (including
updating its assessment of whether an estimate of
variable consideration is constrained) to better predict
the circumstances present at the end of the reporting
period and the changes in circumstances during the
reporting period.

Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts
the promised amount of consideration for the effects
of the time value of money if the timing of payments
agreed (either explicitly or implicitly) provides the
customers or the Group with a significant benefit of
financing the transfer of services to customer. In those
circumstances, the contract contains a significant
financing component. A significant financing
component may exist regardless of whether the
promise of financing is explicitly stated in the contract
or implied by the payment terms agreed by the parties
of the contracts.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (continued)

(m)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Existence of significant financing component
(continued)

Notwithstanding the above, a contract does not have
a significant financing component in circumstances
where payments are in accordance with the typical
payment terms of the relevant industry, which has a
primary purpose other than financing.

Warranty

For warranty embedded to the construction contracts,
the Group accounts for the warranty, if any, in
accordance with HKAS 37, Provision, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets as the warranty
provides the customer with assurance that the
contracting work complies with the agreed-upon
specifications.

Costs to fulfil a contract

The Group incurs costs to fulfil a contract in its
construction contracts. The Group first assesses whether
these costs qualify for recognition as an asset in terms of
other relevant standards, failing which it recognises an
asset for these costs only if they meet all of the following
criteria:

(@) the costs relate directly to a contract or to
an anticipated contract that the Group can
specifically identify;

(b) the costs generate or enhance resources of
the Group that will be used in satisfying (or in
continuing to satisfy) performance obligations in
the future; and

(c) the costs are expected to be recovered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PRI ERAR PT E

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(m)

Revenue recognition (continued)
Costs to fulfil a contract (continued)

The asset recognised is subsequently amortised on a
systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer to
the customer of the goods or services to which the
assets relate. The asset is subject to impairment review.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is the right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services transferred to the
customer that is not yet unconditional. If the Group
performs by transferring goods or services to a
customer before the customer pays consideration or
before payment is due, a contract asset is recognised
for the earned consideration that is conditional.
Contract assets are subject to impairment assessment
in accordance with HKFRS 9, details of which are
included in the accounting policies for impairment of
financial assets. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier)
from a customer before the Group transfers the related
goods or services. Contract liabilities are recognised as
revenue when the Group performs under the contract
(i.e, transfers control of the related goods or services to
the customer).

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to a
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(m)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or
services to a customer, the Group determines whether
the nature of its promise is a performance obligation
to provide the specified goods or services itself (i.e. the
Group is a principal) or to arrange for those goods or
services to be provided by the other party (i.e. the Group
is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good
or service before that good or service is transferred to a
customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is
to arrange for the provision of the specified good or
service by another party. In this case, the Group does
not control the specified good or service provided
by another party before that good or service is
transferred to the customer. When the Group acts as
an agent, it recognises revenue in the amount of any
fee or commission to which it expects to be entitled
in exchange for arranging for the specified goods or
services to be provided by the other party.

Depending on the terms of the contracts and the laws
that apply to the contract, services may be recognised
over time or at a point in time.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BB RERMIFE

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (continued)

(m)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from formwork services and other
construction services

The Group provides formwork services to both private
and public sectors in Hong Kong.

The type of formwork services to be provided
is generally dependent on customers’ project
requirements and specifications. The Group is generally
engaged by the customers for two types of formwork
services, namely, (i) conventional formwork which was
built on-site by mainly using timber and plywood;
and (ii) prefabricated formwork which was built out of
prefabricated modules by mainly using aluminum and
steel.

During the course of providing the formwork services,
the Group may also be requested to provide other
construction services, including plastering, installing
curtain wall and other miscellaneous works on an
ancillary basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AT ERER MR

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(m)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from formwork services and other
construction services (continued)

The Group provides formwork services and other
construction services under contracts with customers.
Such contracts are entered into before the services
begin. Under the terms of the contracts, the Group's
performance creates or enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced.
Revenue from provision of formwork services and
other construction services is therefore recognised
over time for each individual contract by using output
method, i.e. on the basis of measurement of the
value of services transferred to the customer to date.
The measurement is based on surveys of formwork
services and other construction services completed
by the Group to date as certified by surveyors or other
representatives appointed by the customers and
adjusted by the estimated value of work performed
but which is yet to be certified at each of the reporting
date. The management of the Group considers that
output method would faithfully depict the Group’s
performance towards satisfaction of performance
obligation under HKFRS 15.

A contract asset represents the Group's right to
consideration from customers in exchange for the
provision of formwork services and other construction
services that the Group has transferred to the customers
that is not yet unconditional. Contract assets arise when
the Group has provided the formwork services and
other construction services under the relevant contracts
but the works have yet to be certified by surveyors
or other representatives appointed by the customers
and/or the Group's right to payment is still conditional
on factors other than passage of time. Any amount
previously recognised as a contract asset is reclassified
to trade receivables at the point when the Group's right
to payment becomes unconditional other than passage
of time.

3.

BEREFTHERE )

(m)

W s TR (4F)

K E B RAR R E 2 R
(%)

$EI$ETFA:.)5.:T_LE’]:|“’]?E¢7§
BER RS R EMELERT - %F
SRR REFRBAIFI L - REBEE D
B NEBNBENBES AR —
BERFEIES R R E P 2§ #
BE - At - RERRARG R E 2

ERBEEN KR ZEREQE
R ABERRERER - iRRESE
EREPHRGEENGEELE - F
At EXBEARERIEMKE L E
ENEMRRRBE RILSE TR
TR AR 75 M E At 32 SE PR TS BV RI & - A 3
REREAPHDETERERELR
M EEFEAR - AKEERER
R B AR SRR BB E
BBV BHmEEREISHRIEBE TR T
RO ERAEIEL

BREEEASERBRIREEARAEH
BHEETEPRRARE R EMEE
AR m R R P WK ERES - mA
BN M ARK R EGSE - BEREEED
$E'<TJ€7|‘E@§:|“’HET R AR 75 Ko B h 72

SR HHBEIE WAL ZRMK
BEEFZAMNHEMRERBZR HAE
V28] L5z B 3 ) 8T 28 A s e P 07 24
WO E R RGEY - BI@EEAESHNE
EoEMERNERRENEEN TR
T 7 55 (5] i B AT 35 ) 42 1) B B s P O
HINK B ERGNEERENSBEE
B 5 EWIE ©

Annual Report 2023 %% Chi Kan Holdings Limited 5 £13% i B[R A &) 1 55



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BB RERMIFE

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (continued)

(m)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from formwork services and other
construction services (continued)

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to
transfer the aforesaid services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

The Group does not receive any prepayment from
customers. The revenue recognised from a construction
project is commensurate with the value of the works
performed by the Group.

In accordance with the terms of the contracts entered
into with customers, the Group is required to submit
to customers monthly payment applications for the
value of work done under the contracts along with
any variation orders performed. Customers will settle
normally in 30 days after certifying our monthly
payment applications based on their assessment of
work done by the Group. Customers usually retain an
amount up to 10% of the value of work done, subject
to a maximum limit of 5% of the total contract sum
as retention money for the contract. The terms and
conditions in relation to the release of retention vary
from contract to contract, which is subject to practical
completion, the expiry of the defect liability period or a
pre-agreed time period which normally ranges from six
to twenty- four months after the completion date.

Revenue from e-commerce business

Revenue is recognised when the control of the goods
has transferred according to respective agreed terms
of delivery. Revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the distinct good.
The management’s judgements regarding principal
and agent consideration in revenue recognition was
disclosed in Note 5 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(m)

(n)

Revenue recognition (continued)
Revenue from other sources

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts
over the expected life of the financial instrument or a
shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders
right to receive payment has been established, it is
probable that the economic benefits associated with
the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of
the dividend can be measured reliably.

Commission income represents sourcing service
income which is calculated by certain percentage or
amount based of the total sales amount. Such income
are recognised at a point in time when the services are
rendered which is generally the time when the ultimate
customers had received the goods.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e.,
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of
time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The
capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when
the assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs
are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.
Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that
an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of
funds.

3.

BEREFTHERE )

(m)

(n)

W i FERR ()
K E At IR HY Y 7

FMEBRARERF FOXIR BT R
R IERKRABERIAZENSE
His g R (B A ) Z Eat RRE
SURERUBRECHEEZREF
B2 = -

P 2 M T 17 S BR MR IR A R 2 e N
Mg - BERRE ARRE 2 A A 2R R AT BE
ERANEE - ARESFEMA 5
it ERFHER o

REBAERHEEERETEI LXK
HEhETRAENRBEREKA -
ZW AR IR OB P B FERR - —
RABRREFPWINE MmN KR -

WiE - ERILEREREE(AFZE
BARERRAOAIZEEHEHTE RGN
HENEE) BRI HE AR TI#
FER  (ERZFEENBAKA
ZEERRAEEEANA AIEE#
ERRILERTBEREER - 5
EFRBREER M EEKIEY R
REMMONBRERA B BIEEARK
fE AR HIER o 2 8B E b & FRA A
REELHIRXHE - EXRABREE
BEBABRSELENN S REAMA

Annual Report 2023 %% Chi Kan Holdings Limited 5 £13% i B[R A &) 1 57



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BT RN

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(o) Employee benefits

(i)

(ii)

Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-
monetary benefits and accumulating annual leave
that are expected to be settled wholly within
12 months after the end of the period in which
the employees render the related service are
recognised in respect of employees services up to
the end of the reporting period and are measured
at the amounts expected to be paid when the
liabilities are settled. The liabilities are presented
as current employee benefit obligations in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Pension obligations

The Group participates in a pension scheme
under the rules and regulations of the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance (MPF Scheme)
for all employees in Hong Kong. The contributions
to the MPF Scheme are based on minimum
statutory contribution requirement of 5% of
eligible employees relevant aggregate income
up to a maximum of HKS$1,500 per employee
per month. The assets of this pension scheme
are held separately from those of the Group in
independently administered funds. Other than
the contributions, the Group has no further
obligation for the payment of retirement and
other post-retirement benefits of its employees in
Hong Kong.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(o) Employee benefits (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Pension obligations (continued)

In addition, pursuant to the government
regulations in the Peoples Republic of China (the
"PRC"), the Group is required to contribute an
amount to certain retirement benefit schemes
based on approximately 20% to 23% of the
wages for the year of those employees in the
PRC. The local municipal government undertakes
to assume the retirement benefits obligations of
those employees of the Group. Contributions to
these retirement benefits schemes are charged
to the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income as incurred.

The Group’s contributions to the defined
contribution retirement schemes are expensed as
incurred.

Bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an expense
for bonuses taking into consideration the profit
of the Group. The Group recognises a provision
where contractually obliged or where there is
a past practice that has created a constructive
obligation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BB RERMIFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(p)

(q)

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they
are approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.
Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the notes to
the financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company’'s memorandum and
articles of association grant the directors the authority
to declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim
dividends are recognised immediately as a liability
when they are proposed and declared.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to
the Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group's various lines of business
and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are
similar in respect of the nature of products and services,
the nature of production processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the products
or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(r) Foreign currency translation

(i)

(ii)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the consolidated financial
statements of each of the Group’s entities are
measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented
in HKS, which is the Company's functional
currency and the Group's presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement
of such transactions and from the translation of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies at year end exchange rates
are generally recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the date when the fair value
was determined. Translation differences on assets
and liabilities carried at fair value are reported as
part of the fair value gain or loss. For example,
translation differences on non-monetary assets
and liabilities such as equities held at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised in profit
or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss and
translation differences on non-monetary assets
such as equities classified as fair value through
other comprehensive income are recognised in
other comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BT RN

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EASHHEME %)
POLICIES (continued)

(r)  Foreign currency translation (continued) () IEBREE)
(iii)  Group companies (iii) FEAA

The results and financial position of foreign e EHEEE 2 51| § B R [R HY /8 F)

operations (none of which has the currency of a XK (ER T ERBUEBERIR

hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional KB EEE) M ESE RIS ARR

currency different from the presentation currency ETAAABEKEY T

are translated into the presentation currency as

follows:
assets and liabilities are presented at the . BERAERAE HFIBEMN
closing rate at the date of that consolidated A% B BRI T B R 2 5]

statement of financial position

income and expenses are translated at . WA R AZ IR FHE XK
average exchange rates (unless this is H(BRIFLLWIER 5 A EE
not a reasonable approximation of the REXRZFTENAEY
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on g ERBRT WAK
the transaction dates, in which case income Y AR S HHNEXK
and expenses are translated at the dates of g): &k

the transactions), and

all resulting exchange differences are . FTEEZIHELZ/NE

recognised in other comprehensive 2 E W S N HERR o

income.
On consolidation, exchange differences arising REHIRER  BRETMEINE
from the translation of any net investment BREFHEANERZHIRN
in foreign entities are recognised in other Hip 2 mER e ER - 6t &JFIN
comprehensive income. When a foreign 7% HENESEZEBET D
operation is sold, the associated exchange A teEbER  EALE
differences are reclassified to consolidated WSk EEm —2 D o

statement of comprehensive income, as part of
the gain or loss on sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AT ERER MR

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(s) Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)

or

(b)

the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

has control or joint control over the Group;
has significant influence over the Group; or
is a member of the key management

personnel of the Group or of a parent of the
Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following

conditions applies:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

the entity and the Group are members of
the same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or
fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures
of the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity;

3.
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PRI ERAR PT E

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(s) Related parties (continued)

(b)

the party is an entity where any of the following

conditions applies: (continued)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Group or an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are

those family members who may be expected to

influence, or be influenced by, that person in their

dealings with the entity and include:

(i)

(i)

(i)

that person’s children and spouse or
domestic partner;

children of that person’s spouse or
domestic partner; and

dependents of that person or that person'’s
spouse or domestic partner.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(t)

Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that will be received from
selling an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at
the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another
valuation technique.

The fair value measurement is based on the
presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or
transfer the liability takes place either in the principal
market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of
a principal market, in the most advantageous market
for the asset or liability. The principal or the most
advantageous market must be accessible by the Group.
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using
the assumptions that market participants would use
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market
participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant
that will use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are
appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value,
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

3.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BB RERMIFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EASHHEME %)

POLICIES (continued)

(t)  Fair value measurement (continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the consolidated financial statements are
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described
in Note 4(viii), based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole.

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
consolidated financial statements on a recurring
basis, the Group determines whether transfers have
occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing
categorization (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at
the end of each reporting period.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group has various financial assets and liabilities such
as trade receivables, financial assets included in deposits
and other receivables, trade payables, lease liabilities, bank
borrowings and financial liabilities included in accruals and
other payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk and
cash flow interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The Group's overall risk management procedures focus
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seek to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial
performance.

Financial risk management is carried out by the finance
department under the supervision of the directors of the
Company. The directors of the Company provide principles for
overall risk management.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AT ERER MR

4.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Foreign exchange risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and the PRC
and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from
various currency exposures, primarily with respect
to the HKS and Renminbi (RMB). Foreign exchange
risk arises from future commercial transactions and
recognised financial assets and liabilities denominated
in a currency that is not the respective functional
currency of the subsidiaries.

Sensitivity analysis

As at 31 March 2023, if RMB had strengthened/
weakened by 5% against HKS with all other variables
held constant, the post-tax profit for the year would
have been approximately HK$2,453,000 (2022:
HK$1,914,000) higher/lower, mainly as a result of foreign
exchange gains/losses on translation of cash and cash
equivalents.

Currently, the Group has not used derivative financial
instruments to hedge against its foreign currency risk.
The Group manages foreign currency risk by closely
monitoring the proportion of its non-Hong Kong dollars
assets and liabilities.

Cash flow interest rate risk

The Group's income and operating cash flows are
substantially independent of changes in market interest
rates.

The Group’s interest rate risk arises from cash at banks,
restricted cash and bank borrowings which bore
floating interest rates.

The Group has not used any derivative contracts to
hedge its exposure to interest rate risk. However, the
management monitors interest rate exposure and
will consider other necessary actions when significant
interest rate exposure is anticipated.
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PRI ERAR PT E

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Cash flow interest rate risk (continued)
Sensitivity analysis

As at 31 March 2023, if interest rate on bank balances,
restricted cash and bank borrowings had been 50
basis point higher/lower with all other variables held
constant, the post-tax profit for the year would have
been HK$1,302,000 (2022: HK$882,000) higher/lower,
mainly as a result of higher/lower of net finance income.
The 50 basis point decrease/increase represents
management’s assessment of a reasonably possible
change in interest rates over the period until the next
annual reporting date..

Credit risk

The credit risk of the Group mainly arises from cash at
banks, restricted cash, trade receivables, contract assets,
deposits and other receivables. The Group does not
hold any collateral or other credit enhancements to
cover its credit risks associated with its financial assets.

The Group's maximum exposure to credit risk in the
event of the counterparties failure to perform their
obligations at the end of each reporting period in
relation to each class of recognised financial assets
is the carrying amount of those assets stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position.
The management has a credit policy in place and
the exposures to these credit risks are monitored
and controlled on an ongoing basis. It considers
available reasonable and supportive forward-looking
information.

The Group has three types of assets that are subject to
the expected credit loss model:

- Trade receivables;
- Contract assets; and

- Other financial assets at amortised cost
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI

4.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(iii) Credit risk (continued)

(a) Trade receivables and contract assets

In order to minimise the credit risk, management
has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals
and other monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. As a result, the Group's exposure to bad

debts is not significant.

As part of the Group's credit risk management,
the Group applies internal credit rating for its
customers by reference to background, credit
quality and reputation of the customers, historical
settlement records, past default experience and
current past due exposure of the debtor, and an
analysis of the debtor’s current financial position.
The Group applies simplified approach to
measure the ECL which uses a lifetime expected
loss allowance for all trade receivables and
contract assets. The Group performs impairment
assessment under ECL model on trade receivables
and contract assets individually or based on

provision matrix.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BB RERMIFE

4.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(iii)

Credit risk (continued)

(a)

Trade receivables and contract assets (continued)

Except for the customers with significant
balances or credit-impaired, which are assessed
for impairment individually, the remaining trade
receivables and contract assets, representing
larger number of small customers are grouped
under a provision matrix based on shared credit
risk characteristics by reference to the repayment
history over past twelve months and the
corresponding historical credit losses experienced
within the period. The grouping is regularly
reviewed by the management of the Group
to ensure relevant information about specific
debtors is updated. The historical loss rates
were adjusted to reflect current and forward-
looking information on macroeconomic factors
affecting the ability of the customers to settle the
receivables. The Group had considered that the
Hong Kong's gross domestic growth is to be the
most relevant factor, and accordingly, adjusted
the historical loss rates based on expected
changes of this factor.

The customers with significant balances
are assessed individually for the credit risk
and risk of default. The Group has used the
financial information or past due information
of counterparties to assess whether credit risk
has been increased significantly since initial
recognition. The ECLs are estimated based on
assumptions about risk of defaults and expected
loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making
these assumptions and selecting the inputs
to the impairment assessment, based on the
Group's past history, existing market conditions
as well as forward looking information at the end
of each reporting period. In assessing forward-
looking information, the Group consider factors
macroeconomic factors, industry risks and
changes in debtor’s conditions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI

4.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(iii)

Credit risk (continued)

(a)

Trade receivables and contract assets (continued)

The Group rebutted the presumption of default
under ECL model for trade receivables over 90
days past due based on the good repayment
records for those customers with continuous
partial settlement.

The contract assets relate to uncertified work
in progress and retention sum for contract
works, which have substantially the same risk
characteristics as the trade receivables. The Group
has therefore concluded that the expected loss
rates and forward looking information for trade
receivables are a reasonable approximation of the
loss rates for the contract assets, and the forward-
looking information determined in above was also
incorporated to estimate the loss allowance of
contract assets.

As at 31 March 2023, the loss allowance for the
contract assets amounted to approximately
HKS$ 1,594,000 (2022: Nil).

Trade receivables and contract assets are written
off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery include, amongst others,
the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment
plan with the Group, and a failure to make
contractual payments for a long period.
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4.

PRI ERAR PT E

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(iii)

Credit risk (continued)

(a)

(b)

Trade receivables and contract assets (continued)

The Group was exposed to certain concentration
of credit risk as at 31 March 2023 on trade
receivables and contract assets from the Group's
top five customers amounting to approximately
HK$237,352,000 (2022: HK$284,792,000),
and accounted for 67% (2022: 89%) of trade
receivables and contract assets of the Group.
As at 31 March 2023, the trade receivables and
contract assets from the Group’s largest customer
amounting to approximately HK$99,040,000
(2022: HK$127,654,000) and accounted for 28%
(2022: 40%) of trade receivables and contract
assets of the Group. These customers have no
significant financial difficulty and/or historical
default experience. Management considers that
the credit risk is limited in this regard.

Other financial assets at amortised costs

For the deposits and other receivables, they
are closely monitored for recoverability and
collectability and the Group maintains close
communications with the counterparties.
The Group uses the past-due information of
counterparties to assess whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition. As
at the reporting date, the balances are not past
due, and based on historical experience, majority
of these balances were settled shortly upon
maturity and these counterparties are with sound
financial position, hence the associated credit risk
is minimal. The management considered that the
identified impairment loss under expected credit
loss model was immaterial (2022: Same).
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AT ERER MR

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 4, BIKREREEEERBE2)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
(iii)  Credit risk (continued) (iiiy EERBRE)
(b) Other financial assets at amortised costs (b) BEBIHEREGITEZEMEHEE
(continued) (#&)

RERRBITNIRE KX R HIE

In respect of cash deposited at banks and

restricted cash, the credit risk is considered to be &ME ARRZEFARZ AN
low as the counterparties are mostly reputable HIRTT - WEERRESRARE -
banks. The existing counterparties do not RERSGHFRATALBENS
have defaults in the past. Therefore, expected Soo EIE - 20233 A31H

RITIR & MIBHA(Z B 18 BT
EATEAN(20224F : 48F) ©

credit loss rate of cash at bank is assessed to be
insignificant as at 31 March 2023 (2022: Same).

AEBAREE R R RTG

comprises the following categories: ~fE R

BRI

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment

Internal credit

Trade receivables/

Other financial

rating Description contract assets assets
B EyRE
R EERR i BUL BREE HitemEE
Performing The counterparty has a low to moderate risk Lifetime ECL — 12m ECL
of default and does not have any past-due not-credit impaired
amounts
B17 HBFHIFEREZHZENRR - BVE THEREEEE - REARBEESE
AR B FIR REEEERE
Underperforming  There have been significant increases in Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —

)z

Non-performing

TR

Write-off

credit risk since initial recognition through
information developed internally or external
resources

WIS B E R PTEE BB NMEERMR
B IR TER AR ZE

There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-
impaired

AREBTEAECELAEERE

There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in
severe financial difficulty and the Group has
no realistic prospect of recovery

FRBBRNMEBARABREM KRS
AEEWEIFIBHNFEYTE
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not-credit impaired

EHEMEERE-
ARBEEERE

—~

(=] 45

Lifetime ECL —
credit impaired

FHRHEERE -
BELEERE

Amount is written off

MEEHETER

not-credit impaired
FHIEMEEEE -
AEEEERE
Lifetime ECL —
credit impaired
FHRBEEEE -
BELEERE

Amount is written off

MEBHETER
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FE RS R I ot

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(iii)

Credit risk (continued)

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the
Group's financial assets and contract assets which are

4, BIKREREEEERBE2)

(iii)

FERRE)

TRAMINL THEETHREMEES
Eﬁﬁ%K%liﬂﬁF&mﬂﬁg

subject to ECL assessment: M= EE
Gross Gross
Internal 12-month or carrying carrying
Notes credit rating lifetime ECL amount amount
\ 128 A2
Mz REEENE FEHEERSE HBAREE AEREE
2023 2022
2023%F 20224F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Financial assets at amortised cost:
REH AT EZ S RIEBE
Trade receivables 17 Performing Lifetime ECL 174,562 96,952
(not credit—{mpaired)
2 5 W FRIE FBAT FHRHEEER
(REEEERE)
Deposits and other 18  Performing 12m ECL 624 1,214
receivables, excluding
prepayments and
other tax recoverable
B MH MK IE fB17 1218 AFEHE E &R
DEFETER FRIE K E A
JEM A% TR
Cash at banks and on hand 19  N/A 12m ECL 318,830 217,901
BITRERFHEES NiE A 1218 A B R
Restricted cash 19  N/A 12m ECL 27,500 17,500
ZRFIR e NiE 1218 AFEEAE &R
Other item:
HfbIgg :
Contract assets 17 Performing Lifetime ECL 178,258 223,788
) (not credit—{mpaired)
BREE fE1T HTEEEEEE
(REEFEERE)
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BRI

4.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(iv)

Liquidity risk

The Group's liquidity position and its compliance
with lending covenants is monitored closely by the
management of the Company, to ensure that the Group
maintains sufficient reserve of cash and adequate
committed line of funding from major financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirement in the
short and long term. The Group finances its working
capital requirements through a combination of funds
generated from operations and bank borrowings.

The following tables analyses the non-derivative
financial liabilities and lease liabilities of the Group into
relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining
contractual maturities at the end of the reporting period
to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed
in the table were the contractual undiscounted cash
flows and the earliest date the Group can be required
to pay. Balances due within 12 months other than bank
borrowings, equal their carrying balances (including
both interest and principal) as the impact of discounting
is not significant.

4, BIKREREEEERBE2)

(iv)

RBESRR

ARAREEETINERAKENES
MBRARERENAEERAE
REASE#FRONBSFHEERAKX
DeMuBISAHRERRNES
AmeHERAkERHRBHESHRK
AEBEREEELZES RIRITHE
RBENAFEEES -

TREJNRBENRREHARES NI
BB T AN PHMRIZAREBIE
REDWARETESRABRA
ERENN - ZRAIBENSERE
MATTRBACRERARBE AR
EREAH - ARFAENTETA R
1218 A A 2 ER &Y 48 ok (BRER 1T 8 3051
HHREAASR(BRENE RAE)RE -

On demand
or within  Between 1 Between 2 Carrying
1year and2years and5 years Total amount
MER 1226 2FFE5F @t BREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
TER TET TER TET THET
As at 31 March 2023 K202353H31H

- Trade payables —BSRNRIE 181,406 - - 181,406 181,406

- Financial liabilities — T AESERK

included in accruals E b fE50R
and other payables HEmeRs 5,868 - - 5,868 5,868
- Bank borrowings —RITER 27,125 - - 27,125 27,000
~ Lease liabilities -HEAE 1,135 1,135 204 2,474 2,474
215,534 1,135 204 216,873 216,748
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BT RN

4.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(iv)

4, BIKREREEEERBE2)

Liquidity risk (continued) (ivy REESEK(E
On demand
or within Between 1 Between 2 Carrying
Tyear and2years  and5 years Total amount
BRERH
RIERA 1EEF 2EESF et RHEE
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FET FET TET FET
As at 31 March 2022 1202253H31H
- Trade payables — B o ENEZIE 110,204 = - 110,204 110,204
~ Financial liabilities —FTAERTER R
included in accruals HAfERF0E
and other payables HEfEE 26,803 = = 26,803 26,803
- Bank borrowings —RITEK 15,034 = = 15,034 15,000
- Lease liabilities -HEAR 570 536 683 1,789 1784
152,611 536 683 153,830 153,791

The table below summarises the maturity analysis of
the loans with a repayment on demand clause based
on agreed scheduled repayments set out in the loan
agreements. The amounts included interest payments
computed using contractual rates. As a result, these
amounts were greater than the amounts disclosed
in the on demand or within 1 year time band in the
maturity analysis contained above. Further details on
the bank borrowings is set out in Note 22.

Taking into account the Group's financial position,
the directors of the Company do not consider that it
is probable that the bank will exercise its discretion
to demand immediate repayment. The directors of
the Company believe that such loans will be repaid in
accordance with the scheduled repayment date set out
in the loan agreements.
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BRI

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(iv)

(v)

Liquidity risk (continued)

Maturity Analysis — Bank borrowings subject to a
repayment on demand clause based on scheduled
repayments

BEEREEEERBE®)

(iv)

RBESRRE)

AT —REREBABEMAR
BEREFFA R RAIRITE A

Within Between Between
1year 1and2years 2and5 years Total
1£R 15228 2EZ5E &t
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAL FAEL FAL
As at 31 March 2023 72023%3H31H
- Bank borrowings —RITER 27,000 - - 27,000
— Interest — 5 B 125 - = 125
27,125 - - 27,125
As at 31 March 2022 MR2022F3A31H
~ Bank borrowings —IRITIER 15,000 -] = 15,000
- Interest — ¥ 2, 34 1 = 34
15,034 - - 15,034
Interest rate benchmark reform (v) RIREEHE

The Group's HIBOR bank loans will be subject to
the interest rate benchmark reform. The Group is
closely monitoring the market and managing the
transition to new benchmark interest rates, including
announcements made by the relevant IBOR regulators,
if any.

While the Hong Kong Dollar Overnight Index Average
("HONIA”") has been identified as an alternative to HIBOR,
there is no plan to discontinue HIBOR. The multi-rate
approach has been adopted in Hong Kong, whereby
HIBOR and HONIA will co-exist. The Group’s bank loan
linked to HIBOR will continue till maturity.

AEE2BBRITRAERBIRITER
BXRNMEREENE - REBIERE
BY TS E B ELER RN B
B BREBRTREFEEERE
B ANEINE) °

EETRERFEEH(ETRR T
EH#RDEWHBERBBRITRAENR
BOERNR  BYELIEFERT
RIEFENTE - BAERAZANET
A BARTAFKENETRERF
BEERALF - NEBEEFERITR
ERBEENRITEFEFEZER
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Notes to the Consolidated
B BRI T

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMEN
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (con

(vi) Financial instruments by categories

Financial Statements

T 4. BIEEMEEEERBE )

tinued)

(vi) BREREINWEMTA

As at 31 March

M3A31H
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
HK$’000 HKS'000
F#&xT FHET
Financial assets ERMEE
Financial assets at FVPL HERFEEFTA B2/
Unlisted equity investment FE MR E 1,686 2417
Financial assets at amortised cost F B B ARG B A
Trade receivables B 5 W GRIA 174,562 96,952
Deposits and other receivables e N E bW FIA 624 1,214
Restricted cash X PR &I & 27,500 17,500
Cash at banks and on hand RITBEERFRER 318,830 217,901
523,202 335,984
Financial liabilities =R
Financial liabilities at amortised cost — J&#E#5k K1 B 49
TEHEE
Trade payables B 5 ENHIA 181,406 110,204
Financial liabilities included in BPNCEHE- e R
accruals and other payables REMSRARE 5,868 26,803
Bank borrowings HRITEK 27,000 15,000
Lease liabilities HEAE 2,474 1,784
216,748 153,791
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI

4.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 4.
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(vii) Capital management

(vii)

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to

safeguard their ability to continue as a going
concern, so that they can continue to provide
returns for shareholders and benefits for other

stakeholders, and

maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce

the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new

shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group
monitors capital on the basis of the following gearing

ratio:

BEEREEEERBE®)

ErEE
AEEEEEANBRIS

REAEERFELZ N U
BRBRAIER RN AR
ERERENE R

HBEREESRBUREERK
K o

RTHERFRIABRESER  AKEHA
EEAERXNTERRZEESE @
BRBEEES  BOIHRILEEE
PORE &R

HITAEMAR B - AEERAT
BARBELRZEREREN

As at 31 March

M3A31H

2023 2022

20234 20224F

HKS$’000 HKS'000

FET FET

Bank borrowings (Note 22) RITIE R (MHFE22) 27,000 15,000

Lease liabilities (Note 23) HeEaEFIEE23) 2,474 1,784
Less: cash at banks and on hand B SRITIEE R FEES

(Note 19) (FzE19) (318,830) (217,901)

Net cash REFHE (289,356) (201,117)

Total equity R ARER 455,240 403,552

Net debt to equity ratio BEIEFRR L AR AL 2 N/ATiE A N/ATN 3
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BB RERMIFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(vii) Capital management (continued)

(viii)

The Group is not subject to any externally imposed
capital requirements. No changes were made in

the objectives, policies or processes for capital
management during the year ended 31 March 2023.

Fair value estimation

The table below analyses the Group's financial
instruments carried at fair value by level of inputs to

valuation techniques used to measure fair value. Such
inputs are categorised into three levels within a fair
value hierarchy as follows:

- Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets

for identical assets or liabilities.

- Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included

within Level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices)
or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

- Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are

(a)

not based on observable market data
(unobservable inputs).

Financial instruments not measured at fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial
assets, including trade receivables, deposits and
other receivables, cash at banks and on hand and
restricted cash, and financial liabilities, including
trade payables, accruals and other payables, bank
borrowings and lease liabilities approximate their
fair values as at the reporting date due to their
short maturities or the interest rates are close to
the market interest rates. The nominal value less
estimated credit adjustments for financial assets
and liabilities with maturities of less than one year
are assumed to approximate their fair values.
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4.

BEEREEEERBE®)

(vii)

(viii)

EXEE(E)

REBFHEBTIMIIMNREMZER
Tk o HE2023F3A3HIEEFEE - &
EETEHEAEENEIE - BRERK
BIEVEH B -

ATEMEH

TREANFAERFEZGERMA
RBABEBNEL  DWAKERA
FEIFZERMIA - AR ARE
DR TXAADBERRFEEREAN
= ERAR -

E—E ERAERAEEERD
Be0RECRERD) -

-FE: BRTF - EMERNRE
S REEXBENAIE
& (AERER) Sz (A
REER) BENE AR
R

-FEE: BERABYIREAER
=5 BUR A I A RUE (A
FRBRBABE)

(a) HHBEAFETSEBHEZHIA

rEEeREE(BRESRK
PR - e REMEGIR - iR
TRERFERSURZRSIR
) NEREBE(BRE SRR
H - EFHER R EMEMNR
RITERLEERE)RNKRER
HIMEREEEEAFERS - T
P A B RR A2 g Al R SR 5 ) R
B ERHIN—FNERE
EXAENHERMGFHEERER
TRREE RN FERE °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 4. HBEBEEEERBE @)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
(viii) Fair value estimation (continued) (viii) D EMTH(E)
(b)  Financial instruments measured at fair value (b)) BAFEFITENLHETA
Level 3
E=R
As at 31 March
M3A31H
2023 2022
2023%F 2022%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FAT
Recurring fair value BREMEAFLETE
measurement:
Financial asset at FVPL: BAFEFABRZ
TREE
Unlisted equity investment JEETERKRE 1,686 2,417
During the year, there were no transfers between RER » E—4FHEFE — R E
Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level R JREE AEHE = o
3. The Group's policy is to recognise transfers REBHREENATLERBEE
between levels of fair value hierarchy as at the end Mo R A ER RS H R ER
of the reporting period in which they occur. i o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BB RERMIFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenue,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to
the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the
future.

Revenue recognition of construction works and
recognition of contract assets

Revenue from provision of construction works is recognised
over time by measuring the progress towards completion
of the Group’s performance obligations as set out in
respective contracts. The Group has used the output method
to estimate the progress of each performance obligation
satisfied over time by reference to the value of construction
works completed to date (as certified by surveyors or other
representatives as appointed by customers (collectively the
external independent parties) or evaluated by the Group's
internal technicians if such certifications from external
independent parties are not available) as a proportion of the
total contract value of the relevant construction contracts.

The Group regularly reviews and revises the estimation of
construction contract progresses whenever there is any
change in circumstances. As at 31 March 2023, the value of
work which is completed but yet to be certified was disclosed
in Note 17(b).
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5
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BETRUARARGNEER

R TIEM RGBT 8RS ENA
BA & #0 P 3 JB 10 B T /Y 52 Ak [ BE B ) 7
R AEERBB L ARG SROEEN —
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MEETREEEEIEMIELZENH
AR (R [ HMERBIL 7 )RR - S
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AEBTHERNRETMBEREBEHST S
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Principal and agent consideration in revenue recognition

The Group engaged in e-commerce business through either
of its own online platform or other retail platform operated by
independent third parties, which involves the principal versus
agent assessment.

The Group is required to determine whether the nature of its
promise is a performance obligation to provide the specified
goods or services itself (i.e., the Group is a principal) or to
arrange for those goods or services to be provided by the
other party (i.e., the Group is an agent). In determining the
nature of its promise, the Group identify the specified goods
to be provided to the customer (which, for example, could be
a right to a good to be provided by another party, and assess
whether it controls each specified good before that good or
service is transferred to the customer).

With respect to the e-commerce business, the Group follows
the applicable accounting guidance and makes judgement
that it is acting as a principal as the Group obtains control of
the goods from respective suppliers before transferring to the
customer.

Allowance for ECLs of trade receivables and contract
assets

ECLs are unbiased probability-weighted estimates of credit
losses which are determined by evaluating a range of possible
outcomes and taking into account past events, current
conditions and assessment of future economic conditions.

5.

BEAREFHEFTRAE 2

WaERPERTARREBEAZE

AEEBRBEASHE LA EMABELS
HEENTEYAREETAKES &2
KRR FEABRIEAZFHE ©

AEBEAREEARNEEREAENE
£ RATRHETEEmE RS (BIAEE
REBN)BLRFZFEMIREES 7
RE(AIAEESRIEAN) - FEHEE H AT
HER  AREBBISRATFERNBER
an (B2 - ATRE R M 5= — T RHENE MK
B WEBMARBEBRETR 2T

HEGEFSEBEE®R)

IETFREBEBME  AREEREERE:
R HE - EARBRSHERRE
EmiTtRRBEEERGEERE - RERZ
FEATTE -

REZEUREARGNEERMGFEERR
]

T B I AR IB A — R AT R R
A B EE - BRI RATAEA
AT 1 R 9 13 BOS 8 49 A TR AR 5
B
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BB RERMIFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Allowance for ECLs of trade receivables and contract
assets (continued)

The Group performs impairment assessment under ECL
model on trade receivables and contract assets individually
or based on provision matrix. Except for customers with
significant balances or credit-impaired, which are assessed
for impairment individually, the Group used provision matrix
to calculate the ECL for its trade receivables and contract
assets. The provision rates are based on repayment history
as groupings of various debtors that have similar credit risk
characteristics. The provision matrix is based on relevant
historical loss rates taking into consideration forward looking
information that is reasonable and supportable available
without undue costs or effort. At every reporting date, the
estimated loss rates are reassessed and changes in forward
looking information are considered.

The assessment requires management judgement and
estimates. Where the actual outcome or expectation in future
is different from original estimate, such differences will impact
the carrying amount of trade receivables and contract assets
and credit loss allowance in the period in which the estimate
has been changed. As at 31 March 2023, the information
about ECLs of trade receivables and contract assets was
disclosed in Notes 4(iii) and 17.

Income tax

The Group is subject to income tax in Hong Kong and the
PRC. Significant judgement is required in determining the
provision for income taxes. There are many transactions
and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain. The Group carefully evaluates tax implications of
transactions and recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit
issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be
due. The tax treatment of such transactions is reconsidered
periodically to take into account all changes in tax legislations.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from
the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences
would impact the current income tax in the period in which
such determination is made.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AT ERER MR

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker (the “CODM"). The CODM, who is responsible
for allocating resources and assessing performance of the
operating segments, has been identified as the executive
directors who make strategic decisions. The CODM assesses
the performance based on a measure of profit after income
tax.

The Group is principally engaged in the business of providing
formwork services and other construction services in Hong
Kong. During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group
start to commence its e-commerce business in the PRC. The
Group’s reportable and operating segments are as follows:

- Construction business: provision of formwork services
and other construction services to customers in Hong
Kong

- E-commerce business: online trading of products in the
PRC

Segment results, segment assets and liabilities

Segment results represent the profit before income tax from
each segment except for the unallocated corporate expenses
and income, being central administrative costs and certain
other income. Segment assets include all current and non-
current assets with the exception of other corporate assets
and other unallocated corporate assets. Segment liabilities
include all current and non-current liabilities with the
exception of other corporate liabilities and other unallocated
corporate liabilities.

REDHMEDERATBLERKE(E
EREARE DIERBRENTE B - T
EREAREQESRERIEEEDH
= HEERER AL RIORENNITE
F o TBERERAREDENFTERMGBRRE
A7 FHE R -

REEREBE BN B REERRSE R E A
BERK - MEE202F3831HIEEE -
AEERTBEAREREETEBER - X
SEZAE2EHRZEEDIWT

- BREXR nEATPREEERRS
K E iR SRS

- ETFRBES: ETEETHRLEM
X5
DHEE - o HWEERAE

DERBIEE D WIRAAEHATGN - RS
e 2 R RIF S R A (BN AR RATERBC AR B

TEMBARI - D HEEREMBERD
FIERBEE  HMAREEREMARD

B2 RARIBEERS - DHAEBEMERD
MIERBEE  EEMARAEREMARD
L2 RBEIBERIN
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BT RN

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Segment results, segment assets and liabilities (continued)

Information regarding the Group's reportable segments as
provided to the Group's CODM for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance for the

year is set out below:

6. DEHER &)

BT

Construction E-commerce

DEEE - DHEERAERE)

FAR/NEERRMEDEBERR - AXEHE

TERERREBREZAEEHAIZHNEE

business business Unallocated Total
BEEK STHBER KOE oy
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET THET THET
Year ended 31 March 2023 B £2023F3A31H
LFE
Reportable segment revenue A 23 H Bk 1,373,748 249,825 - 1,623,573
Reportable segment profit/(loss) KR PSR AT A] 2 %
before income tax DEEF,(EE) 60,753 22,938 (9,259) 74,432
Amounts included in the measure  sT AFTE D HERE
of segment profit or loss: A
Interest expenses FERAX (1,390) - - (1,390)
Interest income HEIA 946 719 167 1,832
Depreciation e (863) (456) (142) (1,461)
Impairment loss on contract S HEEREEE
assets (1,594) - - (1,594)
Year ended 31 March 2022 B £2022F3A831H
LHFEE
Reportable segment revenue A 23D BUkes 1,133,180 441,161 = 1,574,341
Reportable segment profit/(loss) KR PSRRI A] 2 %
before income tax DEHER, (EE) 29417 57,346 (7,359) 79,404
Amounts included in the measure  aT AFTE D P18
of segment profit or loss: T
Interest expenses FERAX (548) - - (548)
Interest income B A 1 993 454 1,448
Depreciation nE (812) (359) (5) (1,176)
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. DHER (&)

Segment results, segment assets and liabilities (continued) DEHEE  SHEEREE(E)

As at 31 March

M3A31H
2023 2022
20234 20224F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET T
Segment assets DHWEE
Construction business EIEETE 601,724 469,093
E-commerce business BB ER 33,066 73,197
Other corporate assets Hih A ABEE 76,755 33,162
711,545 575,452
Segment liabilities PWMEE
Construction business RIE T 221,538 126,794
E-commerce business BFEBES 32,204 43,908
Other corporate liabilities HEmRaaE 2,563 1,198
256,305 171,900
Geographic information it EE R
Information about the Group’s non-current assets (other than FEAEEIEGREEE(SRITARINER
financial instruments) is presented based on the geographical TR BEMWRER 25 o

location of the assets.

As at 31 March

MA3A31H
2023 2022
20235 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHETT
Hong Kong E8 1,159 398
The PRC =8 1,798 1,829
2,957 2,227
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Geographic information (continued)

The Group’s revenue are all derived from external customers
in Hong Kong and PRC for the year end 31 March 2023 (2022:
Same). During the year ended 31 March 2023, revenue from
3 (2022: 1) customers individually contributed over 10% of
the Group's total revenue. The revenue from each of these
customers came from construction segment, are summarised

DEER (&)
HEEE ()

HZE2023F3A31BLEFE - AEEHKE
E2WRERESRFBERINFERF (2022F -
HE) - REIE2023F3A831 B IEFEE - D5
RE3%(20224F 1 18) BEPHREERNE A
EEBNEERIBI0% - FEZZET PR
TiREEEDES - BT -

below:
Year ended 31 March
HZE3A31ALLEE
2023 2022
20234 20224F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FET
Customer A ZEA 413,632 N/AT i F @
Customer B =B 368,556 N/AT g A e
Customer C BFEC 175,947 N/AZR i F @
Customer D =FED N/ARER@ 656,539
Note: M5
(@)  The corresponding customers did not contribute over 10% of @ HEZPREEETEGAERRGSHALE

the total revenue of the Group for the respective year.
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7. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME 7. WEKEMEBA
Revenue and other income recognised are as follows: B R R EMRAAT

Year ended 31 March
HE3A31ALEE

2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$’000 HKS$'000
F#ET FET
Over time BiE iR
Contract revenue from construction FEEEREA LW
business:
Formwork services AR AR TS 1,284,825 1,093,563
Other construction services H M AR 88,923 39,617
1,373,748 1,133,180
Point in time EX—REE
E-commerce business revenue BB 249,825 441,161
1,623,573 1,574,341

Other income: EMA -

Government grant (Note (a)) BT BG (M 3E Q) 21,670 -
Commission income (Note (b)) A WA (FTE®D)) 13 1,850
Gain on modification of lease (Note 14)  FAE{&ET Uz (Fizk14) 21 -
Sundry income IR A 435 19

22,139 1,869

Notes: MIsE -

(@)  Government grant for the year ended 31 March 2023 represent (@) EZE2023F3A31HILFENBT/ENE
the subsidies received from the Employment Support Scheme B RIITIR @ BT H#E L 2 (RBLZEETEITE T
launched by the government of the Hong Kong Special BT 2R - ZEeBIUNRASIZIH AR
Administration Region. These incentives are granted in the RE - B EERTZESHEEB 2GRN
form of cash payout and there were no unfulfilled conditions or RN AFIHAREEMN (20226 : ) ©
contingencies relating to these grants (2022: Nil).

(b)  Commission income for the year ended 31 March 2022 (b) EZE2022F3A31HILFEBLWAIRRE
represent the sourcing service income which is calculated by RGN - EDERBHEREETAE L
certain percentage or amount based of the total sales amount. REERE -
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8. PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX 8. FRFT{SH AR F
Profit before income tax has been arrived at after charging/ KBRS R AT a A 5 &k (G ) NI 18
(crediting) the following items: BER

Year ended 31 March
HZE3A3BHILEE

2023 2022
2023%F 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ExT THET

Subcontracting charges SBEMR 797,613 681,386

Material costs MR 259,848 185,713

Cost of inventories sold HEFERA 77,822 154,166

Commission expense to e-commerce  BEFEMEFEX (MEeE))

platforms (Note (e)) 136,394 216,200
Gain on modification of lease (Note 14) FAE &I s (FisE14) (21) -
Employee benefits expenses, including EE@FIFY » BfEESE

directors’ emoluments (Notes (b), (¢)  BM<& (B &E(b),(c) %29)

and 9)

Salaries, wages and other benefits e IEREMET 213,758 212,304

Contribution to defined contribution  EZEHFER KT E MR

retirement plans 8,881 8,870

222,639 221,174

Depreciation of property and Y REEITE

equipment (Notes (d) and 14) (BEEd) X 14)

Self-owned assets BEEE 457 251

Assets under leases HE&E 1,004 925

1,461 1,176

Consultancy fee (Note (a)) BB A (ME@E) 1,500 1,125

Legal and professional fees ERREXER 2,836 2,333

Auditor’s remuneration Z B A BN

— Audit services — Bt AR 1,315 1,142

— Non-audit services — B ARTE = 150

Notes: MIzE -

(@)  Consultancy fee was paid to an independent third party for the @) HHERADNALBRERNKE  EXix
business development and acquisition, industry research and LAERREFEEEEERNN B EEE
feasibility study of target businesses including the e-commerce ZATHRR SN FBILE =7 (20224F :
business in the PRC (2022: Same). HE) °

190 chikan Holdings Limited B E AR A Annual Report 2023 44



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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8. PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX (continued) 8.

Notes: (continued)

(b) Employee benefits expenses, including directors’ emoluments

MRETBHANRER (2)
Mizk : (&)

(b

BERIRY  2FEEHe

Year ended 31 March
BZE3ABLEE

2023 2022

2023%F 20224F

HK$’000 HKS$'000

THExT FHIT

Amount included in cost of sales and services &t A$HE M AR FSH AN B9 2 IE 209,534 210,922
Amount included in administrative expenses  &F AfTI B 5z 895018 13,105 10,252
222,639 221,174

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had forfeited contribution
available to reduce the contributions payable in future years
(2022: Nil).

(c) Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose remunerations were the highest in
the Group included 2 (2022: 2) directors for the year, whose
remuneration is reflected in the analysis presented in Note 9(a)
below. The aggregate remunerations paid to the remaining
3 (2022: 3) highest paid individuals, whose remuneration falls
within the salary band of Nil to HK$1,000,000, for the year are as
follows:

M2023F3A31H » AEEAERRETE
%\Asmamirz&ﬁw (20224 :

HmmE AL

FRNAEEREARSTFMALTEIE 2R
<zozz¢ 2%)%%3 HEFME N T XM E

AFMEFMDIMP R - FA - MH 3
%(2022& 3% )& .%%?Atsiﬁ,ﬁ@ o BN 4n
T - BEATHFHH AN FZZE1,000000
78 T H) 7 B 5

Year ended 31 March
BZE3ABLEE

2023 2022

2023%F 20224

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHAT

Wages, salaries, bonuses and other benefits T& - TE4L R H A R 2,155 1,919
Contribution to defined contribution %ﬂmﬁ\ﬁ\ W fzwj R

retirement plans 18 54

2,173 1,973

No incentive payment for joining the Group or compensation
for loss of office was paid or payable to any of the directors
or the five highest paid individuals during the year ended 31
March 2023 (2022: Nil).

(d) Depreciation expense of approximately HK$1,461,000 for the
year (2022: HKS$1,176,000) has been recorded in administrative
expenses.

(e) Included in the commission expense is an amount

approximately HK$3,393,000 (2022: HKS$11,022,000) paid to
Baiyin Yunchuang defined in Note 15 which is classified as
the financial assets at FVPL of the Group, for the service of
providing online sales platform for the Group's e-commerce
business.

HZE2023F3A31 B L FEBERTRNES
AR @M/\ii‘iﬁiﬁﬁ&ﬂbu)\

ﬁf@mﬁﬁbﬁ oK B B B8 e 1B (20224 ¢
F N #I1,461,0007 7T (20224 © 1,176,0007%8

TR ERSXBEHATERAX °

AR ARARZA(TERR T
15)RASEEEFEBEF MR LIHET
& AR 7 m) & 32 A9 493,393,000 7T (2022
F 111,022,000 ) A& - HESER
REERANTFEFABEZESHEE °
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9. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 9. EENEAN R RED

(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EEM2
The remuneration of the directors of the Company paid AREEBENMENRNARESAHME
and payable by the Group are set out below: N

Contribution
to defined
contribution
retirement Discretionary

Name Fees Salary plans bonus Total
REMK
RIS

#E ik e (S BiBTEA By

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TR

Year ended 31 March 2023 & Z2023F3H31H

LEE
Executive directors: HITES:
Mr. Lo Hon Kwong EENLAE - 1,820 18 - 1,838
Ms. Chan May Kiu BREBZT - 1,625 18 - 1,643
Non-executive director: FRTES :
Mr. Chen Zhongzhou (Note i) B UM 46 4 (i 51) 150 - - - 150

Independent Non-executive B JEHITES

directors
Sr. Dr. Leung Tony Ka Tong 2R s 1A 260 150 _ _ - 150
Ms. Chan Sze Man FRE It 150 - _ _ 150
Mr. Jiang Jungan ZReRE 150 - - - 150

600 3,445 36 = 4,081
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9. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 9. EBEEMWEANRER &)

(continued)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued) (a) EEML(E)

Contribution
to defined
contribution
retirement  Discretionary

Name Fees Salary plans bonus Total
REHR
RIKEE
ek ik ¥ HER BB B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

THET THET TR TET TR

Year ended 31 March 2022 #Z202263 8310

LEE
Executive directors: HITES
Mr. Lo Hon Kwong BENTE = 1,320 18 = 1338
Ms. Chan May Kiu BREBZ T - 1,125 18 - 1,143

Non-executive directors: EHMTES

Mr. Chen Zhongzhou (Note i) [ M 55 4 (Pt 5i) 50 = - = 50
Dr. Yang Tao (Note i) BEEL (M) 100 - - = 100

Independent Non-executive BV JEHTES

directors:
Sr.Dr.Leung Tony KaTong ~ RZKIRIE LA EAD 150 - 1 > 150
Ms. Chan Sze Man fREFg i+ 150 - 1 _ 150
Mr.Jiang Jungan L 150 - I : 150
600 2,445 36 - 3,081
Note: Wi
) Dr. Yang Tao resigned as non-executive director with 0) HEE T R2021%F11 B30 B EE
effect from 30 November 2021, Mr. Chen Zhongzhou HTEE BRENEERERES
was appointed as non-executive director on the same EAIERITES -
day.
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9. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Directors’ emoluments (continued)

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were mainly for their services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company and the
Group. The non-executive director's emoluments
shown above were mainly for their services as directors
of the Company or its subsidiaries. The independent
non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were mainly for their services as directors of the
Company.

None of the directors has waived any of their
emoluments in respect of the year 31 March 2023 (2022:
Nil).

Directors’ retirement benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any
retirement benefits during the year (2022: Nil).

Directors’ termination benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any
termination benefits during the year (2022: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for making
available directors’ services

During the year, the Group did not pay consideration to
any third parties for making available directors services
(2022: Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, controlled body
corporates by and connected entities with such
directors

During the year, there were no loans, quasi-loans and
other dealing arrangements in favour of directors, or
controlled bodies corporate by and connected entities
with such directors (2022: Nil).
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(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

BEEME(E)

EIATEEME I EEREEAM
ERARARAEEEBZRBEM
E e LIERATEEME T ERK
FERARAREMBRARAEST 2R
BME - LIBILIFATESME Y
FTE/WFERARRRERTZRHEM

e e

FEE2023F3A3BAILEE > fiEE
EE R HEEEENE (20220 : ) °

EERNEF

F - BEEE EUCE S IS W EE (AR
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ESRIEEAER
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&
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BRI

9. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 9. EBEEMWEANRER &)

(continued)

(f)  Directors material interests in transactions, (f EEENRS  ZHIEGHHNERERS
arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts AEBEBMETIARAESRNERH
in relation to the Group’s business to which the Group FEREzR(THwEZEXIEE) R
was a party and in which a director of the Company 202343 A 31 B 2k 7% F E A {7 B [
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, TMFEREREFEEERNEAR
subsisted as at 31 March 2023 or at any time during the 5« THERAA(20224F : ) -

year (2022: Nil).
10. FINANCE INCOME, NET 10. MEUWAZFE

Year ended 31 March
BZE3A3HILEE

2023 2022
20234 20224
HKS$’000 HKS$'000
F#Bx T
Finance income BME WA
Bank interest income IRITHBUA 1,832 1,448
Finance costs on: THEENRERZ
— lease liabilities (Note 23) —HEaEME23) (4) 9)
— bank borrowings —IRITER (1,386) (539)
Total interest expense on financial WIEAFEARZ
liabilities not at fair value ERaENEMZ AR (1,390) (548)
Finance income, net BB WA FEE 442 900
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11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

1. FTEHMAX

Year ended 31 March
BZE3A31HILLEE

2023 2022
20234 20224F
HK$'000 HKS$'000
THET FH&T
Current income tax BNEAFR 15 H4
- Hong Kong Profits Tax —BBFER 6,699 4,854
— PRC Corporate Income Tax — B ETER 5,868 15,098
Income tax expense Frig®if = 12,567 19,952

No overseas profits tax has been calculated for entities of the
Group that are incorporated in the BVI or the Cayman Islands
as they are exempted from tax in these jurisdictions.

All PRC subsidiaries are subject to income tax at 25% (2022:
25%) for the year under the PRC Corporate Income Tax law
(“CIT Law").

Pursuant to the enactment of two-tiered profit tax rates by
the Inland Revenue Department of Hong Kong (“IRD”"), the
qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25% on the first
HK$2 million of estimated assessable profits and at 16.5% on
the remaining estimated assessable profits for the year (2022:
Same). The profits of corporations not qualifying for the two-
tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a
flat rate of 16.5%. The two-tiered profits tax rates regime was
applicable to the Group for the year (2022: Same).
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AT ERER MR

1. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

Pursuant to the CIT law, 10% withholding tax is levied on
the foreign investor, (foreign investors which are registered
in Hong Kong and meet certain requirements specified in
the relevant tax regulations in the PRC may be entitled to
a preferential 5% rate), in respect of dividend distributions
arising from profit earned by a foreign investment enterprise
in the PRC after 1 January 2008. As at 31 March 2023,
no deferred tax liability has been recorded in respect
of temporary differences relating to the undistributed
profits amounting to approximately HK$23,851,000 (2022:
HK$21,884,000) as the Company controls the dividend policy
of these subsidiaries and it has been determined that it is
probably that these earnings will not be distributed in the
foreseeable future.

The Group has no other material deferred tax not provided in
the consolidated financial statements, as there were no other
material temporary differences at the end of the reporting
period.

The tax on the Group's profit before income tax differs from
the theoretical amount that would arise using the enacted tax
rate of the group entities as follows:

. FRBHBRAX (%)

BIEREZEAEHE - 3ER2008F1 A1HES
E?\\iéfﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁxa’aiﬁiﬂjﬁﬁi%iﬂx B oK
5 BIMREEBHMI0%TEIT (RER
it B & BEE AN R B P igRR e E T
HERIRIMEEE L ZEBS%TRER) o

202338318 - BESKSEERD KR
F114923,851,0007%8 7T (2022 4F : 21,884,000 7
T)ZERMER 2 EERIEEE - @A
RN EEHZEME AR SEE - I
EATEBAEANIJETSEN LAFRDIK

HRERERRMELMENEFEEE -
BN ER 18 3 8 H At B KR AE R IR I AR A B
RIS RAR AR -

REERMAEHAGMNANIEEKA R ER
BN EMAH R EN R ERNEEN
T~

Year ended 31 March
BZE3A31BLEE

2023 2022
2023%F 20224F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHExT T4
Profit before income tax BRET1S T &= A 74,432 79,404
Tax calculated at domestic tax rates BAEBETRKBA R
applicable to different subsidiaries of ~ H)E i K& E’J%RIE
the Group 14,748 18,479
Tax effect under two-tiered profits tax ~ PARRAR I A5 5 R & E T HY
rates regime g (165) (165)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 1~ a] F05 f 5% 1,569 1,648
Income not subject to tax AR (3,575) -
Tax concession WisE=R (10) (10)
Income tax expense FrS B 12,567 19,952
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12.

13.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

The basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the
profit attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year as
follows:

12.

BRER

BRERRF AR REES ARG FIBR
NERNBETEBRMETEEGE - 0
S ¢

Year ended 31 March
HZE3A31BLLEE

2023 2022
2023%F 2022
Profit attributable to owners of IN/NETEZ ¥ = DN X b
the Company (in HK$'000) (F#&T) 53,501 38,751
Weighted average number of ordinary B 217 @M N4 F £
shares in issue (in Thousand) (Fh%) 1,000,000 1,000,000
Earnings per share (HK cents per share) &A% & (FR&AL) 5.35 3.88

There were no differences between the basic and diluted
earnings per share as there were no potential dilutive ordinary
shares outstanding during the year (2022: Same).

DIVIDENDS

Neither dividend was paid, declared or proposed during the
year, nor has any dividend has been proposed since the end of
reporting period (2022: Nil).
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BRI

14. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 14. YPERZE

Motor
Right of use vehicles
assets- Furniture, under hire
office under Leasehold fixture and Motor purchase
lease improvement  equipment vehicles  arrangement Total
\ 5l i
ERERE- BE  EREER \ ZHET )
HERAE VES RE AE "E #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT THT TAT TAT TAT
As at 31 March 2021 202153 A31H
Cost B 1,349 923 136 - 557 2,965
Accumulated depreciation  Z:HHTE (887) (355) (109) - (431) (1,782)
Net book amount REFE 462 568 27 - 126 1,183
Yearended 31 March 2022 EZ2022%3A318
LR
Opening net book amount  ERVIERMEFE 462 568 27 - 126 1,183
Additions FE 1,947 - e - . 2220
Depreciation (Note 8) FrE(fzs) (799) (213) (38) - (126) (1,176)
Exchange realignment fE 53 A% _* - ¥ _ i %
Closing net book amount HRRmFE 1610 355 262 - - 2,227
As at 31 March 2022 R202%3R31H
Cost A 3,296 923 409 = 557 5,185
Accumulated depreciation  Z:HHTE (1,686) (568) (147) - (557) (2,958)
Net book amount RHHE 1,610 355 262 - - 2207
Yearended 31 March 2023 EZ2023%F3A31H
LR
Opening net bookamount ~ HR¥IEREHE 1,610 355 262 - - 2,227
Additions NE 2,101 - 72 1,850 - 4,023
Disposal HeE - - - (1,636) - (1,636)
Lease modification (Note) ~ TAE{ET(FfiaE) (59) S = = = (59)
Depreciation (Note 8) HE (s (1,004) (165) (78) (214) - (1,461)
Exchange realignment 0 73R (121) = (16) = = (137)
Closing netbookamount ~ HIREREH(E 2,527 190 240 - - 2,957
As at 31 March 2023 R202363A318
Cost B 5,217 923 465 - 557 7,162
Accumulated depreciation  REHTE (2,690) (733) (225) - (557) (4,205)
Net book amount REFE 2,527 190 240 - - 2,957

*  Less than HKS$1,000

* 11,0005 7T
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14. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Note: During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group re-negotiated
certain lease with the landlords to extend the lease term and
lease payment and entered into renewed lease agreement. As
a result, gain on such modification of approximately HK$21,000
was recognised as other income (2022: Nil).

The Group leases various properties for the use of office and
motor vehicles. Leases are typically made for fixed periods
of one to five years (2022: Same). Lease terms are negotiated
on an individual basis and contain various different terms
and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any
covenants, but leased assets may not be used as security for
borrowing purposes. The corresponding lease liabilities is
disclosed in Note 23.

The hire purchase of the motor vehicle has been fully paid as at
31 March 2023 (2022: Same).

15. FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BT RN

14. MERZE#)

BisE REZE2023F3831BLLEE  AEEH
ETEFEEL THENCRASERAE
MR EITVEERERZ - At - BREE
2] 2 W25 4921,00078 T RE R A E MR A
(20228 &) »

AEEREZRRBERAZTNMEARA
BEo—fRis HEMEAER—ERF
(20225 : #R) - HEGRTIZERIBER
BE - BEBEZBRIRGRREGS - %5
HERFLTIENERRY - HEEHESR
ENSRERMRAIGER - HEEE
B ERHTFE23AIREE -

HZE2023F3A318 - AEEBEREEIN
(20224 : FBR])

15. RAVEFABRENEHEE

At 31 March
M3A31H
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FH&T
Unlisted equity investment EETERKE 1,686 2,417

The unlisted equity investment represented the Group's
investment of 10% equity interest in Baiyin Yunchuang Space
Information Technology Co., Ltd. (“Baiyin Yunchuang”) a
company incorporated in PRC, which is primarily engaged in
provision of technical support and other facilitation services in
connection with e-commerce business.

As at 31 March 2023, the fair value of the equity investment
is determined by an independent professional valuer. Loss
from changes in fair value of financial asset measured at
FVPL of approximately HK$545,000 (2022: HK$338,000) was
recognised in profit or loss during the year ended 31 March
2023.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI

15. FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE 15. B AR EFT A EZNEREE

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

The fair values of unlisted equity investments have been
estimated using a discounted cash flow valuation model
based on assumptions that are not supported by observable
market prices or rates. The valuation requires the directors to
make estimates about the expected operating performance.
The directors believe that the estimated fair values resulting
from the valuation technique, which are recorded in the
consolidated statement of financial position, and the related
changes in fair values, which are recorded in profit or loss, are
reasonable.

As at 31 March 2023, the fair value of unlisted equity
investments is measured using valuation technique with
significant unobservable inputs and hence was classified as
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy and significant unobservable
inputs are as follows:

Valuation Significant unobservable

technique input

HETA EANAIERBARE

(%)

FEMERKREDNERAMAREREGRER
HEHEBEQNHE - RANBRRKRLIFHATEET
BM R - EEAGEYEFZER
BT - EFMHE - BBEEDASH
MEFF A FEGIAGHIBIONK) R AF
ENEREHGTABRR) IBAE -

202353 H31H « IELEMERRETFERA
BEBESE AT E R A BB EERITE
2 AMESEAF=A AVTEER EE
ATATER ASBNT -

Sensitivity of fair value
Range the input
[ NP EHREARE BURE

Unlisted equity Discounted
investments cash flow

Sales growth rate

FLEMESRE MRRERE HEERE

Discount rate

B

2023:17% 1%
increase/(decrease) in
growth rate would result
in increase/(decrease) in
fair value by approximately
HK$100,000/(HK$95,000)
2023%F : 17% 1%
EIE RN, CRA)
